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A

TABAKAT-1 AKBARI
OF
NIZAMU-D DIN AHMAD, BAKHSHI

PART ONL .



PUBLISHERS' NO'TE

This volume comprises the first part of the history of
Akbar's reign which appeared as the cighth article in
Vol. V ol the original cdition of this work. ¢ was
written in Persian under the title of Tabakat-i Akbari
by Nizamu-d din Ahmad, Bakhshi, and oanslated into
English by the Lditor who writes in the Prelace as
follows:

“Sir Henry Elliot had made no provision for the
important reign of Akbar, nor did he lcave any notes
indicating the MSS. he intended o employ. SO it has
lallen to the Editor to sclect and translate some history in
illustration of this period. The rule of this work has been
to prefer original contemporary writers, or, in the absence:
of actual contemporaries, those nearest in point of time.
This rule reduced the choice 10 two works—the Tabakal-i
Akbari of Nizam Ahmad, and the Akbar-nama of Abu-l
Fazl: for the Muntakhabu-l Tawariklh of Badauni is
avowedly founded on the Tabakat, and the Akbar-nama
of Shaikh YHahdad Faizi Sirhindi contains very little that
has not been borrowed either [rom the Tabakat or the
greater Akbar-nama ol Abu-l Tazl. The ladter work is of
considerable length. and is written in a very ornate style;
so the Tabakal scemed best suited to the requirements of
this work. It has accordingly been translated. in [ull, and
only such passages as-arce trivial and irrelevant have been
passed over. "l’h.c reputation of the Tabakat-i Akbari
stands very high in India, and European writers also have:
joined in its praises. As a contemporary history, it s
certainly ol very high authority, though it does not exhi-
bit much literary ability, The narrative is often dis-
jointed and [ragmentary, hut the language is manly and’
simple, and in striking contrast to the polished. phrases ol
Abu-l Fazl. The Tabakat extends only to the thirey-
cighth year of Akbar’s reign: the history of the latter end
ol the reign will be drawn [rom the works of Abu-l Fazl.
Shaikh INahdad, and other writers, and will appear in a
subscquent volume.”™

The concluding portion of Tabakat-i Akbari wil¥
appear in the next volume.
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Tue author of this work styled it Tabakal-i  Akbar-
shali, and it is so called by ’Abu-l Kadir Badauni in
his Muntakhabu-t Tawaril:li; Hbut the name by which it
is best known in literary circles is Tabakat-i Albari. It
is also calied, after the name of the author, Tarikh-i
Nizami, and the author himsclf observes it as a fortu-
nate coincidence that the word Nizami represents the
date of its composition. In the Rauzatu-l Tahivin it
sceins to be called Tariili-i Sulian Nizami.

This is one of the most celebrated histories of
India, and is the frsi thar was composed upon a new
modcl, in which India alonc forms the subject-matter
of the work, to the exclusion of the histories of other
Asiatic countries. The work scems to have been recog-
nized by all contemporary historians as a standard his-
tory; subsequent writers also have held it in the highest
estimation, and. have borrowed from it [reely. Badauni,
the author of the Muniakhabu-t Tawarikh, professes
his work to be simply an abridgment of this, and acknow-
ledges himself to Dbe chiefly indebted to it for the rela-
tifm of all cvents down to AH. 10022 (A.D. 159%).
Firishta states that of all the histories he consulted. it
is the only one he found complete.

The Ma-asiru-l Umara says, “This work cost the
author much care and reflection in ascertaining facts
and collecting materials, and as Mir Mxsum Bhakari
and other persons of note afforded their assistance in
the compilation, it is entitled to much credic. It is the

V[T his article is chiefly the worl, of Sir H. Elliot, an:l
appeared in the old volume, but it has been re-cast by
the Edilor, and scveral addilions have been wade from
Col. Lees' article in Journ. Roy. As. Soc. wvol. iv. (N.S.),
and from other sources.)

® The author of the ‘Tarikh-i Salatin-i Afaghana
copied the reign of Humayun verbatim.
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first history which contains a detailed account of all the
Muhammadan princes of Hindustan....From this work
Muhammad Kasim Firvishta and others have copiously
extracted, and it forms the Dbasis of their histories, de-
ficiencies being supplied by additions of their own; but
the 7Tabakat occasionally seems at variancc with the
accounts given Dby the cclebrated Abu-d Fazl. It s
therelore icft to the reader to decide which of the two
authors is most cntitled to credit.”

European authors also hold the work in high
cstecem.  Mr. Erskine considers Nizamu-d din to be per-
haps the best historian of the period, and Col. Lees is
unable to conceive the reason why his work has not
attracted more attention.

The Ma-asiru-l Umara gives the following account
ol our author.

Kbhwaja Nizamu-d din Abmad was the son of Khwaja
Mu.kim Harawi, who was one ol (he dependents of His
Majesty Babar, and who, at the latter part of the king's
rcign, was _rmscd to the office of diwan of the house-
hold.®  Alter the death of Babar, when Gujarat was
conquered by Humayun, and the province of Ahmada-
bad was cmrus'led to Mirza ’Askari, Khwaja Mukim was
appointed wazir to the Mirza, He accompanied Huma-
yun to ‘Agrn,. when that monarch fled with precipitation
;l_flcr 'lns defcat by Sher Khap Sur at Chaunsa. The
]‘\ll\\';]]fl subscqrt_lcnlly served under Akbar.
nd };'\*'c csl(l):(’l illlzmﬁlil:d dip, was 1:ncon.1parably. pprig'ht,
knowledge, as well ds comemporarics . in . ad_mlmslrzun'c
is stated in the Zakl;[;-m1 the "clczlrnes's of his intellect. It
ing of his career, he alud I\]fawm”".’ that, ac the open-

£ 1S ¢ ) was appointed diwan ol the house-
hold by Akbar, but this statement has not heep found i
any other work. ' rcen found an

In the twenty-ningh year of Akbar's reign, when the

3 ’ 3 -
He 15 spoken of in Babar's Memoirs.
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government of Gujarar was entrusted to ‘Itimad Khan,
Khwaja Nizamu-d din was appointed to the office of bakh-
shi ol that province, and when Sultan Muzaffar of Gujarat
engaged in hostilities, “Itimad  Khan left the Khwaja's
son, together with his own, to protect the city, he him-
self with the Khwaja having quitted it, with the object
of bringing over Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan from Kari,
which is situated at the distance of forty miles from
Ahmadabad; but during their absence the city [ell into
the hands of the insurgents, and the house of the
Khwaja was plundered. After this, in a baule which
was lought with those turbulent people, the Khwaja
used his best exertions to quell the inswrrection with his
small body of troops, in conjunction with Shahabu-d
din Khan and ’Itimad Khan, bui without success; and
he therefore retreated to Pattan.

On ihe occasion of (Mirza Khan) the Khan-
Khanan’s attack upon Muzaflar Gujarati, at Bir Ganj,
about six miles from Ahmadabad, the Khawja was ap-
pointed at the head of a detachment to attack the enemy
from the rear, but in this action he again did not
achieve any great success, though he used his best exer-
trons.  Nizamu-d din continued for a long time bakhshi
of the province of Gujarat, and his services will be found
rccorded in his history of Akbar's reign.

In 998 AH. and the thirty-fourth year of the reign
(A.D. 1589-90) when the government of Gujarat  was
cntrusted to Khan-i "Azam  the Subadar of Malwa, and
Jaunpur was bestowed upon Khan-khanan in lieu of his
jagir of Gujarat, Nizamu-d din Ahmad was summoned
to the King's presence; upon which occasion, with a
number of camel-riders, he accomplished 1,200 miles by
forced marches, and arrived at Lahore! on the {estival

' The ‘Wakial-i Mushlak® (MS. fol. 204 v) says,
thai the party completed this distance of 600 kos in
1welve days, i.e., at the rale of 100 miles a day.
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ol the thirty-fifth anniversary of the coronation. Hi
camel-riders and retinue being an object o great attrac

tion and wonderment, the King cxpresscd a desire o

inspect them; and as he was much .gr:ltiﬁc‘(l at this exhi-
bition of the Khwaja's taste and ingenuity, he confer-
red great honours upon him. ) ,

In the thirty-seventh year of the rcign, when Asal
Khan Mirza Ja'fur Bakhshi-begi was ordered to destroy
alala Raushani, the Khwaja was appointed to .Lhc post
of bakhshi. In the thirty-ninth year of the rcign, cor
rc.\;ponding with 1008 H., when the King was out 'On a
hunting excursion, the Khwaja was attacked with @
scvere fever at Shaham ‘Ali, which reduced him very
much. His sons ¢buined permission [rom the King to
convey: him 1o Lahore, but as soon as they arived at
the banks ol the Ravi, the Khwaja expited, and “UTC
crocodile ¢l death dragged him inio the sca of annihil- .
ation.”

'Abid Khan, one of Nizamu-d din’s sons, was favourcd
with Ircquent marks ol distinciion by His Majesty
Jahangir, and was cmployed by him in various cap:lciLiCS-
The oftice ol bakshi of the suba of Gujarat, which devolv-
(_‘('l on him by hcrcditur)’ right, was resigned, owing to i
disagrcement between  him and ’Abdu-lla Khan Firoz
Jang, governor ol that province, by whom he was most
shamefully weated.  After resigning the appointment, he
took only two sheets, (he one wrapped round his waist,
fl“(l the other round hiy head, as if prepared for burial,
%P::Li:-\'cn;\t,I llillls bc[orc.]:lllallgix‘, :1ccc?mpaniegl.b).' SC\'CI"”‘-A
’ il ughals. Tl_us mark of his humiliation was
:{)[1;::\1 (i((llsoill))zo:::f Ifﬂ}g. and he was pardoned. He W]ZIS'

- King, lhrourrl} thecl(‘ o lmme]mte attendn}]t of .‘LIC‘
and was Su‘b c'cmnmcndnllon of the hcn'-a}?p:nuu.‘

; ’SCqUCljtl} promoted to the office of diwan of
that prince. While holding this employment, he, with
Sharil Khan Baklmhi, and several others of the body-
guard, was killed at Akbarnagar in Bengal, i a battle
fought by the prince on the burial-ground where the body
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of the son of Ibrahim Khan IFath Jang was interred.
'Abid Khan had no son. His son-in-law, Muhammad
Sharil, was for a short time governor ol a strong fortress
i the Dekhin, and was alterwards appointed hajily
(chamiberlain)  of Haidarabad, in  which capacity he
passed the remainder of his days tll his death.?

Abdul Kadir Badauni, who, like many othexs, was
as staunch a [riend as he was a bitter foe, gives a very
favourable account ol Nizamu-d din.  He says that in
carrying into cffect his projects ol cconomy, Nizamu-d
din gave offence o Kalij Kban, but that he received such
unqualified support from the Emperor, who entertained
ihe highest opinion ol his zcal and integrity, that his
oppenent, together with his adherents, were soon provid-
cd for in distant posts, instcad of being kept at Court,
1o frustrate the endeavours of Nizamu-d din 1o
inroduce reform  into the  deparumens  under  his
control.

“Nizamu-d din,” continues ’Abdu-l Kadir, “left a
good name behind him, 1 was especially attached to
him by the ties both ol religion and friendship. When
he died, tears of sorrow fell lrom my cycs, and 1 beat my
breast with the stone of despair.  After a short time, 1
bowed in resignation to the heavenly decree, but was so
much aftlicted by the bereavement, that I vowed I would
never thereafier cultivate a new friendship with any
other man.  He died on the 28rd of Safar, 1003, and was
buried in his own garden at Lahore. There was not a
dry eye at his death, and there was no person who did
not, on the day ol his funcral, cail to mind his excellent
qualitics, and who did not hold bLegween his teeth the
back of the hand of gricf. The [ollowing Chronogram
Tecords the date of his death:  Mivza Nizamu-d din has
departed; in haste, but with honour, has he gone to his
fmal doom. His sublime soul has fled (o the celestial

* Ma-asiru-l Umara, s. o. Kllwuja Ni-amu-d din.
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regions, and Kadiri has found the date of his death In
these words, ‘A jewel without price bas lelt this
world.” ¢

The author of the Tabakali Akbari assigns as his
rcasons for composing his work, that he had, “from his
youth, according to the advice of his father, devoteil
himself to the study of works of history, which are the
means of strengthening the understanding of men of
education, and of affording instruction by cxamples to
men of observation.” He found that in ‘‘the wide plains
of Hindustan, which form an empire of vast extent,” the
“governing c_lasscs had assumed the title and discharged
the dutics ol rulers” in many of its divisions, “such as
Dehli, Gujarat, Malwa, Bengal, and Sindh,” and ‘‘the au-
thors of their times have written histories of their allairs,
1111(1_ have bequeathed them as memorials to posterity...
It 15 most C.‘\'l%'ilOI‘dinle‘)', therefore, that not a single
wor}a contamning  a  complete compendium of the
af[z.urs ol this (emirc) division (of the world) has yet been
written l?"' any historian; neither have the events coll-
nected with the centre of Hindustan, the seat of govern
mient ol this ILm.pirc, the capital Dchli, been coollcctcd
}Il}al(;:/(-:albf)o\}i' 1 he work which is best known is the
mcnciLng ’\\filill.”)S[ul‘::lidll\/lleﬂmju-s. Siraj (Eompilcd, con”
ine with Nasiru-d di 'lllll.u-d din G.hOl‘l, and conclud-
S lime of Sultan If‘lilml-m'l Shamsu-d din: [rom thence to
Barni; but from tl 07 1s written 1n the history of Zia1
) 12t ume to to-day, because [ he great-

er portion of the Y, because tor Lhe 5 54
3 e there was much disturbance 11
India, and the people had the misfortt leprived
of a powerful Imperial goy ' l?e to be (CP“\,
government, I have only mect with

Gx“[ll?l[(l/:/l{l[}ll-l Tawarikh. (Abu-i Fazl also in the
Akbar-nama, atludes 1o gencral momfninrr ilhflf fol-
lowed the deallt of his disiinguished auihors and says
that 1he Emperor was (Icc[)‘lv aflected b’v il and
offered prayers for his souly o
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a [ew detached and incomplete compilations. I have

not heard of a single history that comprises an account
of the whole of India; and now since the whole of the
inlying and outlying provinces of Hindustan have been
conquered by the world-subduing sword of God's vice-
gerent, and all the [ractions of the earth have been unit-
ed in one grand whole, and many kingdoms beyond the
conlines of Hindustan, which none of the great sovere-
igns who preceded His Majesty had cver acquired, have
been included in his Empire, and it is to be hoped that
the seven climes will yet come under the shade of the
standard ol the good fortunc of that illustrious person-
age, and thus be protected and secure peace and pros-
perity. I conccived the idea of compiling, in a simple
style, a history which should embrace an account of all
the kingdoms of Hindustan, from the times of Subukti-
gin, 867 A.H. (which is the date of the introduction of
{slam into Hindustan), up to 1001 A.H., or the thirty-
scventh year of the lahi era, dividing it into chapters,
according to the several dynasties which reigned, closing
cach chapter with an account ol the conquest by His
Imperial  Highness ol the particular province under
nouce.  ‘This abridgment of all ihe victories of His Im-
perial Highness will be given in the proper place; the
account of these victories in full detail being found in
the Akbarnama, which “Allami Abu-l Fazl has compiled
with so much ability.”” He quotes twenty-nine different
works as his standard authorities, and in the instance of
the Tarikh-i Mubarak-Shahi he copie(l his origina[ very
closely. Though he states in his Preface, as above, that
he brings down the history to the thirty-seventh year of
Akbar’s reign (A.H. 1001), in the body of the work he
Tecords the events of another year, and expresses a hope
that he may live to carry on the work to a later period.

p 4.70560[- Lees, Jouwrn. Roy. Ads. Soc. wvol. iii (N.S.)
450,
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Nizamu-d din was a good Musulmay, and uo allu-
sion is made in his pages to Akba's wanderings [rom the
lold. Lut with the inlormation derivable from other
sources « tolerably accurate inference may be drawn fromn
the gradual diminution and eventual cersation of the
records of Akbar's piigrimages to the tembs of the caiits.

Sir H. Elliot adopted the Table of Contcnts given
by Stewark in his Cataloguc of Tipu Sultan’s Library,
althcugh he lound that it contained both more and less
than he had scen in other cepies. The following table
is borrowed from Morley, who had the advantage ol
scveral MSS. to compare. [t agrees, as he says, with the
author's cwn account of the contents in his introduc-
tion, and thez. only difference found is in the order of
scquence of the books.

CONTENTS

Inroduction.—History of the Ghaznivides [rom the
time ol Subuktigin to that of Khusyu Malik Lin Khusru
Shah, King of Lahcre, who was conqucrcd by Shahabu-d
din Muhanunad Ghori in A.H. 583 (A.D. 1187), and was
subscauently put to death by his order.
~ Book L—IHistory of the Kings of Dehli [rom the
tinic of Shahabu-d din Muhammad Ghori; comprising:
f] he. ]‘llSl.Ol:y ol’_ Kutubu-d din Ajbak: Taju-d din valduz;
NZISII'U’-([. (‘l_lll }subuclm; Bahau-d din Tughril; The first
four Khilji Princes of Lakhpauti; Sultan Shamsu-d din
.-‘\ltumsh;‘ Aram $11311 and his successors at Dechli; The
house of Tughlik; The Saiyids; The Alghan Kings of
D‘Ch]l, from Bahlol Lodi to the defeat of Ibrahim, son of
Sikandar Lodi, by Babar, in AH. 932 (A.D. 1525):
Bnbm';- Humayun; Sher Shalh (who expelled Humayun),
and Ius.succcssors to the extinction of the Afghan power
at Dchlj, .;md Akbar's succession to the throne, continu-
ing the hlS'I.OI‘y of Hindustan to the thirty-eighth vear of
Akbar’s reign, 1002 AH, (A D. 1595). v

Book II.—A concise history of the Kings of the
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Dckbin, comprising: The Balunani dynasty, from “Alzu-d
din Hasuan, who founded the monarchy in AH. 743
(A.D. 1347), 1o its exiinction in A.M. 955 (A.D. 1528);
‘The Nizam-shahi Kings ol the Bahri dynasty of Ahad-
nagar, from the foundation ol the monarchy to A.H. 999
(A.D. 1590), when Burban Nizam Shah was siill reign-
ing; The 'Adil-shabi Kings ol Bijapur, [rom the origin
ol the dynasty to AH. 1002 (A.D. 1593), when 1brahim
"Adil Shah II, was on the throne; The Kutbu-l Mulkiya
Kings of Golconda, [rom their origin 1o A.H. 1002 (A.D.
1595), when Muhammad Kuli Kuth Shah was regnant.

Book IIL—Thc history of 1he Kings of Gujarag,
[rom the beginning of AH. 745 (\A.D. 1590), 1o A.I1. 98¢
(A.D. 1572), when that kingdom became a provinee ot
Akbar’s cmpirc.

Book 1V.—The history of Malwa, from A.H. 809
{A.D. 1406), to its incorporation with the kingdom of
Gujarat in AH. 937 (A.D. 1530); and a continuation of
~the history to A. H. 977 (A.D. '1569), when Baz Bahadur
submitted to Akbar alter a reign ol sixteen years.

Book V.—History of Bengal, [rom the ume of
Sultan Fakhru-d din in A.H. 741 (A.D. 1340) 1o AH. 934
(A.D. 1576), when Daud bin Sulaiman Kirani was de-
fcated by Akbar's forces and slain, and Bengal  was
annexed 1o the enpire ol the Mughals.

Book VI.—The history of ihe Shuarki dynasty ot
Juunpur, Irom the commencement of AH. 784 (A.D.
1.5382),. the time of the accession of Khwaja Jabanu-sh
hlhill'l‘il, lhg first independent King of _];umpﬁr, 1o the ex-
tinction ol the monaichy in AH. 831 (A.D. 1476), when

ande g , g of Dehli.
Kuﬂ]l]ﬂ];)i(;krr\élI.—AI-]I_Ist(;xi); ol\ ;I)IC ﬁ[ljh:lllllnll(]ﬂll Kings of
1581), that 1, from the tine of e oy SE 92 (D
o is, from lvrlc u-m(‘? 0 Shamsu-d din Shah Mihr

period when Yusuf Shah agreed to pay tribute to
the Mughal Emperor.
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Book VIIL—History of Sind, from A.H. 86 (A.D.
705), but more especially of the dynastics of the Jams and
Arghuns, to the submission of Mirza Jani Beg to Akbar,
and the final annexation of the whole province to the
Mughal Empire in A.H. 1001 (A.D. 1592).

Book IX.—The history of Multan, [rom the
Muhammdan conquest under Muhammad Kasim, but
more particularly of the independent monarchy estab-
lished by Shaikh Yusuf in A.H. 847 (A.D. 1443), to the
time when the province was anunexed to the Mughal
cmpirc.

Conclusion.—A concisc statement, comprised in a
few lines, of the area of Akbar's empire, the number of
cities and villages thercin, and of jts revenuc.

The compiler of the Sahihu-I Akjibar attributes an-
other work on Iadian History under the name of
Tarikh-i Irich 1o the author of the Tabakal-i Akbari.

The Extracts from this work which follow are of
considerable length. “The reigns of Humayun and Akbar
have been ermsla'ted by the Editor in full, and supply a
complete translation of this the st immportant portion
ol thc work.

The Tabakat-i Akbari is one of the commoncst his-
tories procurabie in India, but (says Sir H. Elliot) I have
met with no remarkably good copy- In the Bodleian
Library it is the only work on Indian History noticed
by Uri, except an imperfect one on the rcigns of Huma-
yun, Akbar, and Jhahangir® There are several complete
or partial copies in the Library of the East India Office.

s Uvi, Bibl. Bodl. Codd., pISS. Orient Catal.—GCodd.
MSS. Pers. xli i e, Tihe MS. called 'I'n“'];h-i Sher
Shahi, No. 1581, E. I. O, Coll., is a porlion of this
Tabakati Akbari. The possage with which it concludes
just precedes that with which the Tabakat- Akbari ter-
minalés. Mr. Morley's mention of the year 1002 as the
dale of ils composilion ied (o this identificalion.  Sec

Dorn’s Hist. of Afghans, Pref. xii.
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The Tabakat-i Akbari ends with a promise, which.
does not appear to have been fulfilled.  As several copics.
procured [rom distant places, concur in this rcading, and
as the author continued almost till the day of his death
the history of Akbar's reign, it seems probable that he
never wrote the Conclusion which he promised in his
Preface, as it is now comprised in ten lines. 1t gives merc-
ly the computed area, populousness, and revenuc of Hin-
dustan, respecting which the author observes: ‘‘Be it not
concealed, that the country of Hindustan is comprised
within four climates, and is now included in the domi-
nions of the Empcror Akbar. Its length from the Hindu
Koh, on the borders of Badakhshan, to the country of
Orissa, which is on the borders of Bengal, from west to
cast, is 1680 legal kos. Its brcadih from Kashmir to the hills
of Barujh (Broach), which is on the borders of Surat and
Gujarat, is 800 kos Ilahi. Another mode is to take the
breadth from the hills of Kamaun to the borders of the
Dckhin, which amounts to 1000 Ilahi kos. The soil is
well adapted for cultivation, and within each kos are
several inhabited villages. At the present time, namcly
AL 1002, Hindustan contains 3200 towns, and upon
cach town there are dependent 200, 500, 1,000 or 1,500
villages.® The whole yiclds a revenue of 640 krors
(640,00:0'0,000) muradi tankas® QF the towns, 120 are
large cities.” Ie then finishes with these words: ‘‘As
the particulars of the towns are not included in this sum-

* One MS. omits the 1500,

Y [Thomas estimates the valye of the tanka muradi,
Lere quoled, at 20 to the siloer 1gnka.  The current
lanka of account at this time wds the Sikandari tanka of
Sz/:(]ndm' oin Bahlol. So that the sum 1otal here speeified
°f 640.00,00,000 + 20 amounis o $2,00,00,000 silver tankas
Or Tipees (or £ 32,000.000). Chionicles of the Pathan
Kings, Pp. 336, 834, 888, and Revenye Resources of the
Mughal Empire, p. 7).
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mary, a detailed list of the towns shall be drawn up in
alphabetical order.”
EXTRACTS
Hazrar KHakaxa Sa'in Munasiiap HuMAYUN SHab, SON
or BasaR StiaH Gazi'!

When the Emperor Babar departed {rom this fleet-
ing world at Agra for his ceverlasung abode in Paradisc,
AMuhanmad Mukim Harawi, father of the author of this
history, was one of the officials of his late Majesty, and
had Dbcen promoted to the position of diwan of the
souschold., Amir Nizamu-d din 'Ali Khalila was chief
adaministrator of the State, and in conscequence of some
things which had occurred in the course of worldly busi-
ness, he had a dread and suspicion of the young Prince
Humayun, and was unfricndly to his succession. And
il he was not content with the accession of the cldest
son, ncither was he lavourable 1o the promotion
of the younger.  Mahdi Khwaja was son-in-law ol the
late Emperor, and was a generous and liberal young inan.
He was very Iriendly with Mir Khalifa, who had promis-
cd o raise him to the throne. This fact became gener-
ally Known, .und sceveral of the nobles took part with
Muhdi Khwaja. He also fell in with the idea, and began
to assume kingly airs,

It h“PP“‘_]Cd that one day Mir Khalila went to sec
Mabdi Khwaja, who was in his pavilion. Mir Khalifa
and Muhammad Mukim, the father of the author, were
111.c only persons present with the Khwaja. When the
Mir .lln(l.s;lt for a moment, his late Majesty, in the pangs
ol his discase, sent for him, After he had gone, Mahdi
Khwaja continued standing in the pavilion, and the au-
thor’s [ather remained standing with due respect behind

11 'e . ENT A ed : ,

His full name was “Nasiru-d din Muhammad
» .

Iumayun,” bul he s commonly called  *““Jannat

.-I.slz)'am'.”
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him. The Mahdi was considered to be a man ol suspici-
ous temperament, and being unaware of my father’s pre-
sence, when Mirg Khalifa had gone, he stroked his beard,
and said 10 himsell, “"Please God, I will flay thee!™ As
scon as lie had said this, he perceived my father, and
being greatly moved he took himn by the ecar, and said,
“'O Tajik, the red tongue uses its sharp point to no pur-
pose.” My [lather took leave and departed. He went
with all haste to Mir Khalifa, and said, *‘Notwithstand-
ing the existence of such intelligent princes as Mubani-
niad Humayun Mirza and his brothers, you have shut
your cyes against loyalty, and desire to transfer the
sovercigniy to another house; the end of all this will be
this.”  He then told him what Mahdi Khwaja had said.
Mir Khalila instantly sent ofl to fetch Prince. Hymayun.
and he sent an officer to Mahdi Khwaja with an order
in His Majesty’s name, directing him to retire to his
house. The oflicers hastened to the Khwaja, who was
just about to sit down to dinner, and without any cere-
mony sent him off to his house. Mir Khalifa then issued
a4 proclamation (hat no one was to visit or hold com-
munication with Mahdi Khwaja, and that he was not Lo
attend the darbar.

On the death of the Emperor Babar. Prince Huma-
yun, who arrived [rom Sambal, ascended the throne at
Agra, with the support of Amir Nizamu-d din ‘Al
Khalifa, on the 9th Jummadal awwal, 957 H.* (20th
January, 1530). The date of his accession is found in
the words Kahairy-l Muluk. The officers expressed their
devotion, and the chiefs and nobles were treated with

great kindness.  The mansabs and offices which were
held under the late sovereign were confirmed, and the
royal [avour made every onc happ‘. and content. On

the same day Mirza Hindal arvived from Badakhshan.
and was received with great kindness. He was gratified

* Fle was born on the 4ih 7; kada, 916 H. (61l
February, 1511).—Akbarnama, vol, iy p. 149.
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with the grant of two of the trcasures (do khazana) of
former kings, and as the gold was divided by collers
(kishti), the date was found in the wquds kishti-zar.'”
The territories were then divided.  Mirza Hindal
received the district ot Mewat'! in  jagir. The
Panjab, Kabul, and Kandahar werc settled as the
jagir of Mirza Kamran. Sambal was given to Mirza
*Askari.'  Every one of the amirs also received an
increase of his jagir.

After arranging the affairs of the State, His Majesty
procceded to Kalinjar, the Raja of which place cxpress-
“ed his Fealty, and ranged himsell among -the supporters
ol the throne.”™ 1In those days Sultan Mahmud, son of
Sultan Sikandar Lodi, with the assistance of Baban Baya-
zid, afl(.l the Alghan nobles, had raised the standard ol
oppositon and had taken possession of Jaunpur and its
dcpcndc{lflcs. Humayun now marched to subdue him,
and llil\'lng' achieved successes, he returned victorious to
-'\‘c"l'ﬂ-]'_ There he held a great festival, and all the nobles
and chicfs were honoured with robes and Arab horses. It
is said that 12,000 persons received robes at that fecast,
1"}(1 2,000 of them were presented with outer garments
of gold brf)cadF with gilt buttons.

At this time Muhammad Zaman Mirza, son of

13 ) . . . '
iy B_(m‘;l,“[”.["o“c"’s this, and says that coffers full of
gold were distribuled as gifis on the day of ascending the
throne. Vol i, p. 344, -
11 . i g1~ .
Abu-l Fazl says ““Alwar,” which amounts to much
the same (hing.
15 ¢4 g, : . .
and Badakhshan to Mirza Sulaiman.”—Akbar-
nama, vol. i, p. 151,
16 r]a
Fhar) ‘;I{chl(z);d(i:—'g VIOI Badauni, he conguered (musakh-
3 ) n . ] g
Lna i ol. i, p. 344. Seec Extract from the
Al bar-nama, infra.
17 ¢ Ul . . .
‘ I;,fﬂ"’”‘g Sultan  Junaid Birlas as governor  of
Jaunpur.”—Akbar-nama, vol. i, p. 152.
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Badi'-z Zaman Mirza, son of Sultan Husain Mirza
Babakra, who had originally come from Balkh to scek a
refuge with his late Majesty, now set himself up in
opposition, but he was taken prisoner, and was sent as
a warning [or rebels to the fort of Bayana, and in the
custody of Yadgar Taghai. An order was given to de-
prive him of sight, but the servants of Yadgar Beg saved
the pupils of his eyes {from the cifccts of the operation.
After a short time he made his escape, and f{led to Sultan
Bahadur of Gujarat. About the same time Muhammad
Sultan Mirza, with his two sons Ulugh Mirza and Shah
Mirza, went off to Kanauj, and there raised a vebellion.
His Majesty sent a person with letters to Sultan Bahadur
of Gujarat, demanding the surrcnder of Muhammad
Zaman Mirza, to which he rcturned a haughty refusal,
and then showed signs of rebellion and. resistance. This
excited the anger of the Emperor, and he resolved to
march against Gujarat and chastise Sultan Bahadur. He
proceeded to Gwalior, and there passed two months in
making excursions and hunting.

At this time Sultan Bahadur had marched with the
forces ol Gujarat and Malwa to beseige the fort of Chitor,
and was carrying on war against Rana Sanka. He had
sent Tatar Khan Lodi, one of his chiel noblcs and a very
brave officer, to elfcct the conquest of the fort of Bayana
and the dependent territory. Having reduced. the fort-
ress, he threatened Agra, whereupon the Emperor sent
Prince Hindal against him. On learning the approach
of the Prince, the greater part of Tacar Khan's forces de-
serted him and dispersed. With 800 men who remained
he advanced against the Prince, and made a licrce ons-
Taught upon the Prince’s own division, in which he and
cvery onc of his followers perishe, Bayana and its de-
pendencies  then  reverted to  the possession of the
Emperor. When Sultan Bahadur heard of this, he was
greatly alarmed and confounded.  The Emperor being
determined to chastise still further hjs enemy, he march-
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cd from Agra,’® and at the same period Sultan Bahadur
laid siege a sccond time to Chitor.  (Victory of Prince
Kamran at Kandahar.)

When Sultan Bahadur was inlormed of the march ol
the Emperor he held a council of war. Many of the offi-
cers advised the raising of the siege, but Sadr Khan, who
was the chicf of his nobles, observed that they were war-
ring zgainst infidels, and that if a sovercign of Musul-
mans were to attack them while so enagaged, he would in
elfect assist the infidels, and. (his would remain a reproach
against him wmongst Musulmans undil the Day of Judg-
ment.  He thercfore advised the continuance ol the siege,
and would not believe that the Emperor would attack
them.  When the Emperor had passed through Malwa,
and. had comce to Sarangpur, he was informed of this; so-
l_1c rested therc. Sultan Bahadur carricd on the sicge of
Chitor at his case, and finally took it by storm, and
sccured an immense booty. In celebration of the victory,
he gave a great feast, and divided the spoil among his
soldiers.  Then he tarned his [ront rowards the Imperial
army.

When the Ex_nperor heard this, he marched forward,
ﬂ'_‘-'J the two armics faced each other at Mandisor,'® one
of the (lcpcnden‘a.c.s: of Malwa. The tents were hardly
pitched, when bl“,yld ‘Ali Khan and Khurasan Khan,.
uh'o commanded Sultan Bahadur's advanced guard, were
dc[_c:ntcd by trhc royal forces, and fell back upon their
main body. The arny of Gujarat was greatly dispirited.
"‘]1(1 lh? _Sultan called a council of war. Sady Khan ad-
vised giving battle on the morrow, as the (roops were
clated by the conquest of Chitor, and their cyes had not

" Al the beginning of Jumadad awwal, 941 H.—
Akbar-nama vol. i., p. [59. ’

19_0"' the banks of q large lank.—Ahbar-nama, vol.
i, p. £60.
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yet been seared by the sight of the Mughals. Rumi
Khan,** who commanded the artillery, was adverse to a
pitched battle, because the guns ((op) and rockets (tuf-
ang) were of little use (in the feld). They were very
strong in artillery, and except the Emperor of Rum, no
other potentate could equal them. He therefore coun-
selied the entrenching®!' of the army and the carrying on
of warfare daily. It the Mughals advanced, they might
be met with a discharge of the guns and rockets and a
large number of them would be killed. Sultan Bahadur
acquicsced in this view, and ordered an cutrenchment to
be formed round his camp.

Tor two months the two armies remained confront-
ing each othcr. Frequently during the day brave men
desirous of fame sallicd out in search of adventures; but
the Mughal soldicrs seldom ventured within range of the
guns and rockets. Then the Emperor posted his troops
around the position of the enemy, to cut off his supplies
of grain and fodder and fuel. These dispositions caused
a famine to ensue in the encmy’s camp. Grain was not
to be procured, the grass all around was consumed, and
the imperfectly armed Gujaratis, through fear of the
arrows, dared not venture far from the camp. The
horses and animals and many men perished from want,
and the army was dismounted. When Sultan Bahadur
perceived that if he remained longer he would be taken
prisoner, he went off by the rear of hig pavilion and fled
towards Mandu with five of his most trusty adherents,
onc of whom was governor of Burhanpur, and
the other was Kadir Shah, governor of Malwa.?

A Turk of Consiantinople:  put the title was

sometimes given to artillerymen who were not European
Turks ’ '

' Abu-l Fazl says, “‘a barricade of carriages (hisar-é
araba) with a dilch outside”—Akparnama, vol. i-
p. 161. ’ -

** See infra Extract from Akbar-nama.

2
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When his men heard of his escape, the took to
flight. The date of this event 1is found in the
words Zil! Bahadur.

On the Emperor being informed of the flight of his
encmy, he mounted and went off in pursuit Having
come up with Sadr Khan, who was retreating with a
body of men towards Mandu, iie made an attack upon
him, thinking that it was Sultan Bahadur himseli. Te
had not with him more than %,000 nien, for the rest were
engaged in plundering. Many of the Gujaratis were
slain. His Majesty hastened on to Mandu, and Sultan
Bahadur was besieged in the {urt. The siege wils carried
on for some days, till one mght a party of the 10val
army scaled the walls and got into the fort.  Sultan
Bahadu_r was asleep when the alarm was raised. A gene-
ral panic followed, and ihe Gujaratis took to flight.
Sultan Bahadur made off with five or six horsemen
towards Gujarat, and Sadr Khan and Sultan ’Alam (Ladi)
tprew themselves into the fort of Sungar, which is the
citadel of Mandu. Next day they came out, and were
conducted to the presence of the Emperor. They were
m[:tﬁ;vzl:(lldz% orcslzf-]r Khan was placed in confine-
of Sultan "Alam. was given [or cutting off the foot

Three days after, the ‘Emperor left the fort and
marched on towards.Gujamt. Sultan Bahadur had much
treasure and many jewels in the fort of Champanir,2*
and these he carried off witly him to Ahmadabad. When

21 Such is the statemeny of one MS, not of the other.
Abu-l Fazl says, on the contrary, he was received with
great Iuth‘zess. Sultan *Alam had rebelled and deserted,
so his fooi was cut off and he was set at liberty. The fort
was not swurrendeved without much negocialion and
.stnygfr; assurances of persongl safety.—Akbar-nama, vol. i.,
*1 He set fire to the town before. leaving Champanir.
—Akbar-nama, vol. i, p. 4, o '
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the Emperor left Champanir and marched towards
Ahmadabad, Sulian Bahadur again took flight, and pro-
ceeded towards Kambayat (Kambay). The city of Ahma-
dabad fell into the hands of the Mughals, and being
plundered yielded enormous spoil. The Emperor again
started oft with all speed in pursuit of Sultan Bahadur.
When the latter reached Kambay, he hastily exchanged his
tired horses for fresh ones, and hurried off to the port of
(Diu).?> The Emperor reached Kambay on the evening of
the day in which the fugitive had quitted it.*® Next cay,
a person®’ came forward in a friendly way and gave in-
formation that the inhabitants of the neighbourhood were
that night going to make a nocturnal attack upon the pur-
suers. The Emperor questioned him as to his motive for
giving this information. He replied, that his son was
prisoner in the hands ol the victors, and he was in hopes,
if the Emperor was successful, that he might obtain {ree-
dom for him.  The Emperor passed the night in the
greatest watchlulness, and when it was near dawn, 5,000
or 6,000 (ootmen*® made an attack upon the royal forces.
The men were on the alert, and came out of their tents
and assembled outside the camp. What was left in the
camp was plundered. When the morning dawned, the
Mughals fell upon the Gujaratis on all sides, and put
many of them to the sword.=®

Jam Firoz, formerly ruler of Tatta, having been de-

2 Having previously bwrnt q hundred war ghrabs.—
I1b. 164.

28 “and encamped on the shoye of the sea.” 1b. 165.

27 An old woman, according to Abu-l Fazl—-1D. 166.

28 “Bhils and Gowars.”’—-I1b. 167.

* This allack was made by Malik Ahmad Lad and
Rukn Daud, two of Shah Bahaduy's nobles, who had
great influence among the Kolis and Gowars of Koliwara.
Enraged at this attack, Humayun ordered Kambay to be

plundered and fired.—Ib. 166.



20 AKBAR
feated by the Arghuns, had fled to Gujarat. He had
given his daughter to Sultan Bahadur. When the latter
was defeated, the Jam [fell a prisoner into the hands of
the Empcror. On the night of this auack, his

ards, fearing hc might escape, put him 1o decath.
Sadr Khan Gujarati, who had surrendered himsclt

at the fort of Sungar, was also put to dcath on

this night.
Nexe day the Emperor marched towards Champanir,

and invested the fort. Ikhtiyar Khan, the commandant
of the fort, made preparations for resistance. One day
the Emperor was going round the fort, when he spicd a
number of people who had come out of the jungle, and
who, being frightened at the sight of him, fell back into
the cover. He sent a party in purSuit, and capture:l
several ol them. It then appeared that, with the help
of the (ncighbouring) zamindars, they had conveyed
grain and butter into the fort. In this place (wherc they
had introduced the provisions) the fort was very high,*°
perpcndicular, and dangerous. But’ His Majesty conceiv-
ed that where provisions had been passed, he also might
find an cntrance. e carcfully examined the place, and
then returned to the camp.

It then occurred to him that the strength of this part
of the fort was such, that the garrison probably felt quite
secure about it, and took little care to guard it. e had
a number of steel spikes prepared. In the day he attack-
ed the fort on all sides. and at night he repaired with 600
men to this place. They drove the spikes right and left
firmly into (the scarp of the rock), and by means of them
climbed up into the fort. The garrison, being quite at
casc about this part of the fort, did not observe their en-
trance. When thirty-nine persons, the last of whom was
Bairam Khan, had gone up, His Majesty 2lso resolutely

30 *‘Sixty or sevenly gaz in height”"—Akbarnama,
vol. i., p. 168.
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ascended.” By daybreak 300 men had got in. There
they found great stores of corn and Dbutter, and other
provisions, for the peoplc of the fort. As soon as it was
light, the besieging army advanced against the fort. The
Emperor and his party then came down, shouting their
battle-cry. On reaching the gate they opened it, and
gave admission to the assailants. 8o this strong fortress
was taken.  Ikhtiyar Khan retreated into the citadel,
which is called Muliya. Great numbers of the gorrison
were slain, and many of their wives and children cast
themselves down from the walls of the [ort and were
killed.

Ikhtiyar Khan then came out of the citadel and sur-
rendered. Hc held a high position among the Gujaratis,
and was kindly received by the Emperor, who made him
one of his personal attendants.®?  The treasures of the
Kings of Gujarat, which had been accumulating for many
years, fell into the hands of the conquerors. The gold
was divided among the soldiers, so mnuch a head. The
goods and stuffs of Rum and Europe and China, and of
every part of the world, which the Kings of Gujarat had
trcasured, all fell a prey to the victors. So vast was the
amount of gold and eflccts that came into the possession
of the soldiers, that no person attempted to collect re-
venue that year in Gujarat.

The agriculturists of the country sent a person with

3 The Akbar-nama (vol. i., b. 168) suys that when
thirty-nine had gone up, Humayun wanted to proceed,
but Bairam Khan persuaded him 10 wpait till (e whole
ascent was clear. Bairam Khan then went up, and
Humayun followed, being the forty-first man. ’

y az 1kh1iyar Khan was a descendant of the hazis of

¢ lown of Naryad, and was a gy of greal knowledge
and experience. He had a high reputation q; a states-
mm.z, and was an accomplished g(.'(nng[r_;cian. a;‘zd aslrono-
mer.  He was of some repule also qs q poe[.——-Akbar-
nama, vol. 4., p. 167. Erskine, vel. ii., . 63.
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a message to Sultan Bahadur, to inform him that as
several of the districts were not occupied by the Mughal
agents, they would themselves make the proper collec-
tions, if he would send an army 1o protect them. Accord-
ingly, Sultan Bahadur sent one of his slaves, 'Imadu-l
Mulk,*® who was distinguished [or courage and justicc.
‘Imadu-l Mulk set about collecting forces, and by the
timc he reached Ahmadabad many scldiers of the army
and of the zamindars had gathered round him, to the
number of about 50,000 horse and foot.** Ide encamped
within sight of Ahmadabad and began to collect the re-
venue. When information of this was brought to the
Emperor after the fall of Champanir, he madc a sccond
large distribution of gold out of the plunder of Gujarat
among the soldiers. He then placed the fort of Cham-
panir in charge of Tardi Beg, and marched towards
Abmadabad. The command of the vanguard was given
to Mirza 'Askari, Mirza Yadgaf Nasir, and Mir Hindu
Beg, and they went on onc day's march in advance. In
the vicinity of Mahmudabad,® which is twelve kos from
Ahmadabad, ‘Imadu-l Mulk atcacked Mirza ’Askari, and
was defeated. Many men fell on both sides.

The authpr of this work heard from his father, who
was then wazir of Mirza ’Askari, that at mid-day when it
was intensely hot, the Gujaratis came hastily out of
Ahmadabad. Mirza Yadgar Nasir had marched about
haif a kos on the right flank of Mirza Askari and Mirza
Hindu Beg ha'd encamped at the same distance on his
left. The Guy}ratis came on with such speed that the
Mirza had no time to array his forces, so he retired with
a party of his men into a thorn brake, where he stood

33 4 Circassian.

3 Mujahid Khan of Junagarh joined him with
12,000 horse.—Akbarnama, vol. i., p. 169.

35 “‘Between  Naryad and Mahmudabad,”—Akbar-
nama, vol. i., p. 171.
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fast. Heedless of this disposition of the Mirza’s the Guj-
ratis dispersed in search of plunder, and gathered a large
booty. Mirza Yadgar Nasir and Mirza Hindu Beg came
up in due order with their forces, and the Gujaratis took
to flight. Mirza ’Askari now came forth from the thorn
brake, and pursued the Gujaratis to Ahmadabad. More
than 2,000 men were killed in the battle.

After this the Emperor bestowed Ahmadabad and its
dependencies upon Mirza ’Askari in  jagir,?® Nahrwala
Patan upon Mirza Yadgar Nasir and Broach upon Mirza
Hindu Beg,"” Tardi Beg received Champanir, and Kasim
Husain obtained Baroda. Khan-jahan Shirazi and other
nobles also received grants.* The Emperor proceeded
after thesc successes to Burhanpur, and f{rom thence to
Mandu.

After a time one of the nobles of Sultan Bahadur
prepared a fortified position in the neighbourhood of
Nausari, which is near to Surat, and proceeded. to collect
forces. He took possession of Nausari, and having associ-
ated Rumi Khan®® of Surat with Khan-jahan Shirazj,
they marched against Broach® Kasim Husain, being un-

% None but Mirza *Askari’s men were allowed to en-
ler the city.—Ib. 172.

. 374 Iarge‘ force' was left under the command of
Hmdz_L Beg, with which he was to render assistance where-
ever it was required. Kasimn Huysaip received Broach—
Ib. 172.

*See infra exiract from Akbarnama, “Return of
Humayun.

3 This was the common tiy], given to Osmanli
Turks, who were in high Tepute as engincers and gun-
ners, .bul it was not confined exclusively to them. This
Rumi Khan is not the same as the Rumi Khan Khuda-
;’Iand Khan who left Sultan Bahqqy, after his defeat at

andu, and directed the siege o

¢ . un.
See infra g¢ of Chunar for Humay

* Seec Extract from Akbar-namg.



24 AKBAR

able to withstand them, fled to Champanir, The Guja-
ratis then rose and carried on offensive movements on
every side.

Onc hight Mirza "Askari in a convivial party took too
much wine, and giving license to his tongue exclaimed,
“I am a king and the shadow of God.” Ghazanfar, who
was one of his companions, and foster-brother of Kasim
Khan, said in an undertone, ‘‘So thou art; but not for
theyself.”  The convives smiled, and the Mirza having
found out what they were laughing about, got angry, and
threw Ghazanfar into prison. In a few days he madc his
escape,*® and went and joined Sultan Bahadur, whom he
incited to attack Ahmadabad, assuring him that he was
acquainted with all the plans of the Mughals, who were
:mxious.to retreat, and only wanted 3 pretext for so doing.
Hc_adwsed him to make the Mirz prisoner, and march
against the Mughals; and he expressed his willingness to
submit to punishment if they made any real resistance.
Sultan Bahadur, with the assistance of the zamindars of
Surath,' got together a force and marched against
Ahmadabad.

' _]u‘st at l.his period Amir Hindu Beg had counselled
erz€l Askarl to have the khuibg yecited and coin struck
1n. lns.name, and to set up his claim to independence,
cxpecting that the  troops in hopes (of reward) would
dcvote th'cmsel\{es to his service. "Mirza 'Askari did not
accept this aFIV}ce. After much debate and deliberation,
:Ia;ri,s A?ﬁ::lg:gfli t};]ellt Mirza ‘'Askari, Mirza Yadgar

g and some other nobles should
leave 1}'1,11nadab.ad, and form a camp in the rear of
Asawal,"* opposite Sarganj. Sultan Bahadur also came

10 With 300 horse—dkbarnama, vol. ; p. 174.

1+ Surath is one of the divisions of Kattiwar, and
must not be confounded with the town of Surat, though
the names are no doubt identical.

12 4 suburb of Ahmadapad.



NIZAMU-D DIN AHMED 25

down to Sarganj and faced his cnemics. By chance a
cannon ball [rom the camp of the Mirza knocked down
the tent of Sultan Bahadur. This greatly disturbed him,
and he summoned Ghazanfar o his presence, intending
to bring Lim to punishment. Ghazanfar asked that his
punishment might be postponed until the Sultan had set
his army in array, for he had heard that Mirza 'Askari
intended to retreat during the night.  'When night came
Mirza ’Askari with the appreval of the amirs, retreated
towards Champanir, leaving cverything superfluous
behind them.'® They halted at ten kos distance, and
Sultan Bahadur pursued. and came up with them. Mirza
‘Askari and the amirs mounted and made a show of
highting, and then retired.

When they rcached Champanir, Tardi Beg!! cxhi-
bited hostility towards thcm, and shutting himself up in
the fort, sent a messenger to Hlumayun, to inform him
that Mirza 'Askari had hostile intentions, and was about
to march upon Agra and proclaim himself King. But
before Mirza 'Askari retreated {rom Ahmadabad, the
newswriters and reporters had communicated to the
Empcror the proposition which Mir Hindu Beg had made
to the Mirza for his assuming the crown, and although he
had not ussented thereto, they reported that he enter-
tained hostile designs. "The Emperor set off with all
speed from Mandu to Agra, and was met upon the road'*
by Mirza Askari, who waited upon him, and told him
the facts of the matter. Sultan Bahadur obtained posses-
sion of the fort of Champanir by the capitulation of
Tardi Beg.

At the beginning of this year, Shah Tahmasp, in
Tevenge of Sain Mirza, marched to Kandahar, and Kalan
Slzctgi cva;u;_n}cd the fort and Procecded to Lahore. It is

1d that Kalan Beg had built for himself a Chinese house

1 See Extracls from the Akbarngma.
1 “Near Chitor”.—Akbar-nama, ol i, p. 176.
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of great clegance, and when he fled it was furnished with
fine carpets and beautiful vases. This grcatly pleased the
Shah. Leaving Kandahar in charge of his nobles, the
Shah procceded o ‘Irak.  After this, Mirza Kamran
marched irom Lahore against Kandahar, and. the Turko-
mans, being unable to resist him, cvacuated the place and
went to 'lrak. Kandahar thus once more [ell into his
hands.

The Emperor Humayun remained for a ycar at Agra
and took his pleasurc. When Sultan Bahadur was
defeated, he sent away Muhammad Zaman Mirza to
Hind, in order that there might be no difliculty about
him, and when Mirza Kamran marched asainst Kanda-
har, Zaman Mirza laid siege to Lahore, butoupOll hcaring
of the Emperor’'s return, he went back again  to
Gujarat.*® ’

Sher Khnn' Alghan, who had got possession of the
provinces of Bihar and Jaunpur and the fort of Chunar,
greatly increased his power and forces while the Emperor
was engaged in Gujarat and Malwa., To curb his pro-
ccedings, the Emperor marched against him on the 14th
Safar, 942 H. (12th August, 1535). When he pitched his
tents before the .[ort of Chunar,"s Rumi Khan, who had
qult.tcd tl_xc scrvice of Sultan Bahadur,'” and had been
received into that of the Emperor, undertook the reduc-
tion of the fortress. He received full authority to do
whatever he deemed necessary for the capture of the

1% According lo Abul Fazl he went to Sind, but
was stopped and turned aside by Shah Husain, son of
Shak Beg Arghun. He then went and inyested Lahore
during Kamvan's absence, byt fled as soon as Kamran
returned, and having no other resource he went back
again to Gujaral.

16 Which was under 1} ‘

¢ command 1tb Khan,
son of Sher Shah. d of Ki

ur After the defeat of Sultan Bahadur at Mandu.
—Akbar-nama, vol. i, . 183,
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place, and cvery assistance was to be given to him. Rumi
Khan rcconnoitred the fortress, and found that every
part of the place which abutted on the land was exceed-
ingly strong and quite impregnable. He therefore turn-
ed his attention to the river, and prepared a large vesscl
on which he began to build a scaffold.'® When the
structure was finished he found that the vessel would not
carry it, so he had two other vessels lashed one on each
side of it. Still they were insufficient to convey the
scaffold. The help of another vessel was obtained and
the scaffold being now movable it was brought close up
to the fort, and the place was captured.’* When the
officers of the garrison saw that the place was no longer
tenable, they made their escape at night in boats. Rumi
Khan received many rewards.”® The gunners of the fort
were maimed by His Majcsty’s orders.® At this time,
Sher Khan Afghan was carrying on war against the ruler
of Bengal®* who {led wounded before him, and sought

18 muqabil sar-kob Abu-l Fazl calls the structure a
sabat.—Akbar-nama, vol. 1., . 183.

1 ba yak bar muqabil kob ra biqal'‘a muttasil sakh-
teh maftuh gashi.

%0 He was appointed governor of the foriress, but
died a few days afterwards, poisoned, as Abu-l Fazl says,
out of envy at his promotion, Beg Mirak succeeded him
as governor of Chunar.—Akbar.nanm) vol. i., . 184.

5t Abu-l Fazl says that 2000 men surrendered and
received quarter from Humayun, byt that Muyid Beg,
one of his atlendants, caused theiy hands to be cut of},
averring that it was by the Emperor's order, although he
had really divecled kind lreatment. Our MSS. have the
words ba-hukm, by order”, but perhaps, as Erskine sug-
gests, it should be be-hukm, withey, the’ order.—Akbar-
nama, vol. i., p. 183. '

*2 Saiyid Mahmud Shah. Apy. nim Nasib
Shah, but he was dead. Fazl calls him
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rcfuge witth the Emperor Humayun. The Emperor then
marched against Bengal. Sher Khan then scnt his sons.”®
Jalal Khan and Khawas Khan to sccurec Garhi, which
was situated on the road to Bengal. This Garhi 1s a
strong place.*'  On one side of it therc is a high moun-
tain and a large jungle quite insurmountable, and the
river Ganges runs near to the other side. The place
stands between Bihar and Bengal. The Emperor sent
Jahangir Beg Mughal against Garhi.

Hindal Mirza accompanied the Emperor to Mungir,
and aflterwards he was sent towards Agra against Muham-
mad Sultan Mirza, Ulugh Mirza, and Shuoh Mirza, who
had fled {rom His Majesty, and were creating disturb-
ances in the country. Muhammad Zaman Mirza, when
he found that he met with no success in Gujarat, scnt
ambassadors to the  LEmperor at Agra  saing for
pardon.*?

When Jahangir Beg arrived at Garhi, Jalal Khan,*¢
son of Sher Khan, and Khawas Khan marched forth and
defeated Jahangir Beg as he was descending (the defiles).
Jahangir Beg was wounded, and returned to join the
¥mperor, who marched in person to the gates of Garhi.
Unable to make further Tesistance, Jalal Khan and
Khafvas Kh:_m fled. The Emperor then lefe Garhi, and
continued his march into Bengal. Sher Khan was unable

r e - .
o So in the original, bui Khawas Khan was not Sher
Khan's son.

M "The gale of Bengal’>—Akbar-nama. It is the
Teria garhi or Izlzagullcy of the maps.

5.0 This outbreak, according to Abu-l Fazl, occurred
‘(')g'fme the march to C{zunar, and Muhammad Zaman
joined the Emperor while on his march thither.—Akbar-
nama, vol. ., 1). 176.

56 All three MSS. had «Jqlal Khan,” put in lwo of
them “Kutb Khan” has been substituted.
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to resist him, so hc went oft by way of Jharkand*" to
Rohtas. T'he Emperor remained three months in
Bengal®® and changed the name of the city of Gaur 1o
Jannatabad.

In the year 943 (1536 A.D.), Mirza Hindal, finding
opportunity at Agra,®® was induced by turbulent advisers
to set himself up in opposition to the Emperor.”® He
killed Shaikh BahloL,®* onc of the great Shaikhs of the
time, and learned in 111cology, to whom the Emperor was
much attached. He was exccuted upon the pretence ol
his being in leaguc with the Afghans, but in reality it
was brought about by the leaders of the revolt in order
to widen the breach between Mirza Hindal and the
Emperor. The khutba was now read in the name of
Hindal. When the Emperor heard of this defection, he
left Jahangir Beg in charge of Bengal, with a reinlorce-
ment of 5000 chosen men, and set off for Agra.

57 The Akbar-nama calls it *‘Chaharkand.” It was
at this time thal Sher Khan got possession of Rohtas.
According to Abu-l Fazl, ““‘Raja Chintaman brahman
was master (hakim) of the fortress.” He accredits the
doli story, and says thal 600 dolis went in with two men
in each.—Akbar-nama, vol. i, p. 186. _

8 The Akbar-nama (vol. i, p. 186) says Humayun
liked the climate of Bengal, and vested there in pleasure
and dissipation, regardiess of his army.

% According to the Akbarnama (vol. i., p. 186) he
had gone there without leave.

“0 His supporlers said, “If you will cause the khutba
1o be read tn your name, we wil] faithfully serve and
support you; if not, we will go to Miyza Kamran, where
we shall have our wishes gratified ” _Akbar-nama, vol. i.
b. 187.

$1 gpu-l Fazl calls him “Shaikn Phul,” and says lc
h‘,’d_b‘-’e" sent by Humayun ¢xpress from Bengal to use
his influence in inducing Hindg) to desist from Ris
rebellious designs.—Akbar-nama, yoy, i, p. 188
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At this time Muhammad Zaman Mirza, son of
Badi’u-z Zaman Mirza, returned [rom Gujarat with great
contrition, and waited upon the Emperor, who forgave
him, and did not utter a word of reproach. Long marches
and the unwholesome climate of Bengal destroyed the
horses of the soldiers, and the Emperor’s army arrived
quite destitute of provisions at Chaunsa. The amirs who
had been left in Jaunpur and Chunar camce to wait upon
the Emperor. Sher Khan, having got intelligence of the
distress of the army. came and placed himsclf in front of
the Emperor, and the armics remained confronting cach
other three months.

When Mirza Kamran rcturned to Lahore from Kan-
dahar, and heard of the rebellion of Mirza Hindal, of
the difficuities of the Emperor, and of the growing
strength of Sher Khan, he formed the design of securing
Agra. Mirza Hindal proceeded to Dehli, and their Fakhr
'Ali and Mirza Yadgar Nasir®® shut themsclves up in the
fortress, and in spite of all his efforts, ¥lindal v:as unuble
to take the city. So when Mirza Kamran came ncar to
Dehli, Mirza Hindal felt himself constrained to join
him.*  Fakhr "Ali came out on the top of the [oriress,
and sccing Mirza Kamran, he told him that Mirza Yadgar
Nasir would not surrender Dechli, so the best thing he
<ould do would be to go on to Agra, and if he obtained
possession of that city, Dehri would be given up to him.
Mirza Kamran conscquently marched on towards Agra,
and when he approached that city, Mirza Hindal s¢pa-
rated from him, and went away in the direction of Alwar.

2 On hearing of Hindal’s procecdings, Mirza Yadgar
Nasir had left Kalpi and hasiened by way of Gwalior fo
Dehli, and prepared the city for a siege.—-Akbar-nama,
vol. i., p. 189.

3 The Ahbar-nama (vol. 1., p. 190) stales, what s
more likely, that on Kamran’s reaching Sonpat, Hindal
hastened back to Agra, from whence, on Kemran’s ap-
proach, he retired to Alwar.
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The news of Mirza Hindal's rebellion, and of the
arrival of Mirza Kamran at Dehli, was brought to the
Emperor at Chaunsa, and greatly increased his distress.
Sher Khan now sent to the Emperor a darwesh named
Shaikh Jalil, whom he called his :aurshid, to propose
terms of peace. He offered to give up all the territory
cxcept Bengal, to swear upon the kloly Book that he
would live in peace, and that the coin should be siruck
and the kAutba read in the name of the Eiperor. These
proposals were received with the greatest sazisfaction,
But next morning Sher Khan fell upon the royal army
unawares, and put it to the rout before it could be drawn
up in arvay.®* Prior to the atiack, the Alghans had taken
possession of the bridge and had broken i:. They also
came out on the river in boats, and despatched with
their spears cvery man of the roval army whom they
found endeavouring to escape by water. Muhammad
Zaman Mirza was drowned. His Majesty rode his horse
into the water, and nearly perished; but he was helped
over the river by a water-carrier, and went off towards
Agra. .
Mirza Kamran had ere this arrived at Agra. Mirza
Hindal was at Alwar in security. After the Tmperor had
crossed the river, he hastened on, accompanied by only
a few horsemen® of whom the author's father was one,
and arrived at Agra. Mirza Kamran had received no
intelligence before the Emperor arrived. The latter re-
paired at once to the pavilion of his brother, and on

® As Humayun was mounting, he ordered Baba.
Jalair and Tardi Beg Kuch Beg to look to the safety of.
the Empress Haji Begam. They died fighting at the door
of her tent. Mir Pahlawan Badakhshi and a number of
others fell in the vain aitempl to sqve her, and she fell a
prisoner into the hands of the Afghans.—Akbar-nama,
vol. i, p. 193, S

°-Mirza ’Ashari also was with him.—Akbar-nama,
vol. i, p. 194, S
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secing each other, the c¢yces of the Dbrothers filled with
tears. Hindal Mirza received forgivencss [or his olfences,
and then came and waited upon the Emperor. Muham-
mad Sultan Mirza and his sons, who had for a long time
been engaged in rebellion, alto came in and joined them.
Consultations were held.  Mirza Kamran was desirous ol
returning to Lahore, and showed unbounded expecta-
tions. ‘Yhe Emperor assented to all his ecxtraordinary
propositions. Khwaja Kalan DBeg exerted himself to
bring about the rcturn of Mirza Kamran. The negotia-
tions went on for six months. Meanwhile Mirza Kamran
had been attacked with severe sickness, and some design-
ing persons had instilled into his mind the bclicf that his
illness was the result of poison administered to him by
the Emperor’s directions. So, ill as he was, he started for
Lahore, having sent on Khwaja Kalan Beg in advance.
He had promiscd to lcave a considerable portion of his
army to assist his brother at Agra; but in spite of this
promise he carried all off with him, excepting only 2000
mcn whom he left at Agra under the command of Sikan-
der. Mirza Haidar Doghlat Kashmiri®® who had accom-
panied Kamran, remained with His Majesty, and was
reccived into favour. Kamran also took away with him
many of the soldiers of Agra.

Sher Khan, emboldened by the dissensions between
the brothers, advanced along the banks of the Ganges,
and sent a detachment over the river against Kalpi and
Etawah. Kasim Hussain Sultan Uzbek, along with Yad-
gar Nasir Mirza and Sikandar Sultan, fought against the
Afghans in the neighbourhood of Kalpi. They killed a
son of Sher Khan who was {5, command, and a great many
men of his army, and they sent his head as on offcring to
Agra. The Emperor then marched against Sher Khan to
the banks of the Ganges, and passed over the river at

o6 Mirza Haidar was qverted, by the Emperoys re.
monstrances, from going aqway with Kamaran.—Akbar-
nama, vol. i, p. 197. See supra.
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Kanauj. For one month he remained encamped in sight
ol the cnemy. His ary numbered 100,000 horscmen,
while that of the Alghans did not exceed 50,000, At this
conjuncture, Muhammad Sultan Mirza  and  his  sons
again exhibited their perhidy, and  without rcason  fedl
from the voyal army. The detachment  which  Mirza
Kamran had left as a reinforcement also went off to
Lahore. So disafection  having  become  the [ashion,
many of the troops went ofl and scattered over various
parts ol Hindustan. T'he rainy season came on, and the
place where the army was encamped being flooded with
water, it was determined to move to  higher ground.
While this was being doue Sher Khan came forth to fight.
The battle was fought on the 10th Muharram of this
vear (947 H., 17th May 1540 A.D.). Many of the soldicrs,
being dispirited, Hed without fighting. A few only of
ol the bravest went into the fight, and the day being lost,
the whole army fled. Humayun became separated from
his horse in the Ganges, and was helped out of the water
by Shamsu-d din Muhammad Ghaznivi, who afterwards,
in the reign of Akbar, recieved the title of Khan-i a’zam.
When Sher Khan heard of his escape, he was sorry, and
cxclaimed, ‘‘I was in hopes he had perished, but_he has
got off."%"  The Emperor fled to Agra; and when the
encmy approached that city, he made no delay, but went
to Lahore. At the beginning of Rabi'ul awwal all the
Chaghatai Sultans and amirs were assembled in Lahore;
but Mirza Muhammad Sultan and his sons, who had
come to Lahore, fled from thence to Multan. Mirza
Hindal and Mirza Yadgar Nasir found it expedient to
go towards Bakar and Tatta,*® and Mirza Kamran deter-
mined to go to Kabul as soon as the party was broken
up.

It was abundantly manifest to the Emperor that
there was no possibility of bringing his brothers and his

67
[;8 See supra.
Omne copy has “Nagarkol.”

3
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amirs to any common agreement, and he was very des-
pondent. Mirza Haidar Beg, alter much consultation,*?
hrad been sent ofl with a party who had volunteered for
service in Kashmir, and Khwaja Kalan Beyg was ordered
1o follow him. When the Mirza had rcached Nzusbhabr,
and Kalan Beg had got as far as Sialkot, imclligence
reached the Emperor that Sher Khan had crossed the
river (Biyah) at Sultanpur, and was only a few kos dis-
tant. His Majesty then passed over the river of Lahore.
Mirza Kamran,® after proving faithless to the oaths and
compacts which he had made to help in whatever was
decided upon, now thought it expedient to retire with
the Emperor to Bahra. When Khwaju Kalan Beg heard
{of this rctreat), he marched rapidly [rom Sialkot, and
joined thz camp of Humayun.  When Mirza Haidar
reached Kashmir, he found the people fighting against
cach other. A party ol them came and waited upon him,
and through them Kashmir fell into his hands, without
striking a stroke. On the 22nd Rajab he became sove-
reign of Kashmir, in the city of Nau-shahr, as is related
in the Tabakat-i Kashmir,

At Bahra, Mirza Kamran and Mirza 'Askari parted
from Humayun, and went off, accompanied by Khwaja
Kalan Beg, to Kabul. Mirza Hindal and Mirza Yadgar
Nasir still remained with him, but alter a few stages
they disagreed.  For twenty days they absented them-
selves, but falling into difficultics, on the advice of Mir
Abu-l Baka, they once more came back and made their
submission.  On the banks of the river Sind a famine

®* His advice was that the fprinces should occupy
and fortify the hills between Sirhind and Savang, while
he subdued Kashmir, whicl he fell certain of effecling in
the course of two monihs.—Akbarnama, vol. i., p. 203.

70 Abu-l Fazl asserls that he sent an envoy to Sher
Khan, offering to support him, on condition of being
confirmed in the government of the Panjab.—Akbar-
nama, vol. 1., p. 205.
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arose in the camp, and boats to cross the river were not
procurable  Bakhshui Langah then brought in scveral
Doats laden with corn, and was very [avourably received.
The army then crossed the river, and went onwards to
Bakhar, but made a halt at the town of Luhari (Lohri).
Mirza ‘Askari then crossed the Sind, and went to the
town of Patar, beecause the wants of an army were easily
supplied there. From Lubari, which is near Bakhar,™*
to Patar, the distance is [lilty kos. Mir Tahir Sadr was
sent as ambassador to Shah Husain Arghun, ruler of
Tatta; and Samandar Beg, one of the courtiers of the
Emperor, was sent with him in charge of a horse and a
robe. The gist of the message which they conveyed was,
thac the Empceror had been compelled to come to Tatta.
and his object was to attempt the recovery of Gujarat.
The Shah was invited to come and wait upon the Em-
peror, and consult with him about the conquest of
‘Gujarat. Shah Husain  Arghun  temporized for six
months by sending complimentary messages, and said
that there could be no good in staying near Bakhar, but
if the camp were nearer Tatta it would be more con-
venient, for five or six months might be lost while they
were negociating.  If the Emperor would come ncarer,
whatever scemed advisable should Le done.”2  Grain be-
.«coming scarce in Bakhar, the Emperor marched off to
Patar, where Mirza Hindal was staying, for he had heard
that Mirza Hindal intended to go to Kandahar. It was
on one occasion in this year, while the Emperor was stay-
ing in the camp of Mirza Hindal, that he married
Maryam-i Makani Hamida Banu Begam, the mother of

L Lohri or Rori is on the c¢ast bank of the Indus
opposile 1o Bakhar.

2 Shalh  Husain proposed that Humayun should
take possession of the counlry of Chachkan, between
Talla and the Ran, as a means of furthering his views
on Gujarat. In this he promised 1o support him—
Akbar-nama, vol. 1., p. 210. .
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the Emperor Akbar, and spent several days of happiness
and plcasure in the camp of Hindal. The Emperor now
forbad him to go to Kandahar, and directed him to re-
turn to Luhari.

Karacha Khan, who was governor of Kandahar,
wrote letters to Mirza Hindal, inviting him to Kanda-
har, and the Mirza started off and went thither. When
Humayun was informed of it, he was much troubled by
the want of union among his brothers. Mirza Yadgar
Nasir had pitched his camp about two miles below the
royal camp, and the river ran between the two camps.
He also now expressed his intention of going to Kanda-
har. On the Emperor being informed of this, he senc
Mir Abu-l Baka to recassure the Mirza, and to forbid his
going to Kandahar.™ As he was crossing the river on
his return, a party came out of the fort of Bakhar, and
assailed his boat with a shower of arrows. One of themt
pierced the Mir, and he died.  The Emperor showed
great sorrow for his loss. The date of his death, 948 H.,
is found in the words Surur-i kainat.

After this Mirza Yadgar Nasir crossed the river, and
paid a visit to the royal camp. After much consultation
it was resolved that the Mirza should be left ar Bakhar,
and that His Majesty should march on to effect the con-
quest of Tatta. But the Mirza did not show any signs
of concord and friendliness. When the Emperor march-
ed for Tatta,”* a large body of soldicrs parted from him
and stayed at Bakhar. Mirza Yadgar Nasir remained at
Bakhar, and increased his forces, because during that year

™ An agreement was made with the Mirza that he
was to have one-third of Hinduslan when it was recover-
ed, as also Ghazni, Charl:jy, and Lohgar, which Babar
had given to the Mirz’s mother—Akbar-nama, vol. j.,
p. 212

74 On the Ist Iq-mada-l akhir—Akbar-nama, vol. i.,
p. 215.
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no ® heavenly or terrestrial evil had belallen the agricul-
ture of Bakhar. His Majesty now procceded by means
of boats to the fort of Shiwan.’® A party of soldiers on
board of the boats, as they came near to the fort, landed
and attacked a body of men who had come out of the
fort, and drove them in again.

The viclors returned, and represented that the re-
duction of the lortress was an easy matter, so His
Majesty crossed over the river, and invested the placc.”.
Buc belore his arrival, a party of Shal Husain's ofhicers
had entered it, and had done their best to increasc its
strength.  When Shah Husain heard that it had been
invested, he procecded by boats to the vicinity of the
LEmpcror's camp, and employed himself in cutting off the
supply of grain. Great scarcity followed, and many men
lived (entirely) upon the flesh of animals.  The siege
went on [or nearly seven months, and the place was not
captured, so a messcnger was sent to Mirza Yadgar Nasir
at Bakhar, to tell him that the f{all of the fort depended
upon his approach; for il the besicgers marched to attack
Shah Husain, the garrison would bLe [ree to gather in
provisions, and so protract the defence. Want of salc
and scarcity of grain would prevent the royal forces re-
maining under the fort much longer; but il Mirza
Yadgar would attack Shah Husain, the latter would be
unable to maintain his position. Mirza Yadgar sent a
portion of his force, but no advantage was gained
through this reinforcement.  Again a messenger was sCnt
to call Mirza Yadgar, and "Abdu-] Ghalur, who was Mir-i
mal of the Emperor, received the commission. *Abdu-l
‘Ghafur went to Mirza Yadgar, and spoke about the peril-

" Two MSS. omit the negative; and so are in accord
with Erskine (vol. ii., p. 226); but it seems Lo be 1'cquii'€d
by the sense and the previous “phecquse” (chi).

™ Written “‘Siyahwan,” and “Siyahan.”
" He reached Silwan on the j7p Rajab.—Akbar-
nama, vol. ¢, p. 213.
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ous condition of the royal army, but the Mirza and his.
officers deemed it advisable to remain where they were
and effect the conquest of Bakhar. .

Shalh Husain had sent representatives to  Mirza
Yadgar Nasir, and had drawn necar to his camp. He.
promised that he would acknowledge the supremacy of
the Mirza, give him his daughter in marriage, and read
the kiwtba in his name.” Declighted with these offers,
the Mirza was hocdwinked by Shah Husain, and so
placed himself in hostility to the Emperor. Having thus.
sccured himself against Mirza Yadgar, and being aware
of the distress and weakness of the army of Humayun,.
Shah Husain advanced closer to the royal camp, and cap-
tured the vessels (which were conveying provisions) for
the army. Unable to continue the siege of Cihwan, the
Empcror was compelled to retreat towards Bakhar.”™
‘When he :npproachcd near to Mirza Yadgar Nasir, he sent
to him for boats in which to cross the river, and the
Mirza, who was in league with the peoplc of ‘Tatta, sent
to them, desiring them to come at night and carry off
the boats. Next morning he artfully reported that the
encmy had carried off the boats. The Emperor ranain-
ed inactive some days for want of boats. At length, two
zamindars of Bakhar waited upon him, and (under their
guidance) some boats which had been sunk were raised.
Humayun then crossed the river.  When Mirza Yadgar
Nasir learnt of the ‘passage over, being greatly alarmed
and ashamed, he, without waiting upon tl;c'I‘,mperor,
marched off hastily against Shah Husain; and the latter
being quite unprepared, the Mirza fell upon a large
force from Tatta which had disembarked, and Lkilled

8 He represented that he was old and had 7o son,
that he would give Iim his daughter, leave him kis trca-
sures, recognize him as successor, and help him to con-
quer Gujarat.—Akbar-nama, vol. i., p. 214.

79 He commenced his retreat on the 17th Zil ra’da,
Ib. p. 215.
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and made many prisoners, and then returned.  Afier
this action, Shah Husain rewurned to Tatwta, and Mirza
Yadgar Nasir, repentant and ashamed, waited vpon the
Emperor and presented the heads of his encimies. Once
more Humayun forgave him, and spoke not a word of
all that had passed.

Shah Husain now wrote letters to Mirza Yadgar
Nasir, and again drew him over to his side. The Shah
requested him to secure lor him the two zamindars who
had obtained the boats for the Emperor. These men,
being informed of the demand, repaired to the camp
of Humayun. Mirza Yadgar sent a messenger 1o
Humayun, representing that he had some revenue mat-
ters relating o his jagir of Bakhar to setile with these
two zamindars, and requested that they might be sent
to him. The Emperor ordered that several persons
should accompany the men, and bring them back again
when the business was concluded. The instant Mirza
Yadgar Nasir saw them, he took them forcibly from the
Emperor’s men, and sent them to Shah Husain.  Thus
he once more exhibited his animosity to the Eanperor,
and never again sought a reconciliation.

The men of Humayun’s army, being in great dis-
tress, began to desert by oncs and twos to Mirza Yadgar
Nasir.  Mun'im Khan® also, and his Dbrother, had
thoughts of running away. This intention was com-
municated to Humayun, and he ordered them into con-
finement. Mirza Yadgar Nasir, in the depths of his
infamy, now prepared to turn his arms against
Humayun, and the latter, being informed of his move-
ments, made ready for fighting.  Hashim Beg, a person
high in Mirza Yadgar's conlidence, when he heard of
his proccedings, restrained him, and nolens volens made
!nm rcturn. It now became evident to Humayun, that
if he tarried longer his men would all desert to Mirza

80 ) .
He who became Kran-khanan in the reign ©of

Akbar.
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Yadgar Nasir, and that the worst might be expected Irom
the Mirza's basencss. In this extremity, he resolved
upon marching to Mal Dco, one of the faithful zamin-
dars of Hindustan, who at that dme surpassed all the
samindars of Hindustan in power and in the number ol
his forces.  This Mal Deo had sent letters to Bakhar.
declaring his loyalty, and offering assistance in effecting
e subjugation of Hindustan.

Humayun accordingly marched®! towards Mal Dco’s
country by way of Jesalmir. The ruler of Jesalmirs®
shamelully took an unmanly course. He sent a force to
attack the small party of the Emperor on the march, but
it was defeated and driven back with less. Humayun
had a great many men wounded.  He marched with all
possible speed till he reached the country of Mal Deo.
Then he sent on (Shamsu-d din Muhammad) Atka Khan
10 Mal Deo at Joudhpur, while he himsell halted for a
few days.

{(Proceedings of Mirzas Hindal, Kamran, and ’Askari at
Kandahar, Ghazni, and Kabul)

Humayun remained on the borders of Mal Deo's
territories awaiting the return of Atka Khan.  When
Mal Deo was informed of the Emperor’s weakness, he
was much alarmed, lor he knew that he had not suffici-
ent forces of his own to withstand Sher Khan. For Sher
Khan had sent an ambassador to Mal Deco, holding out

81 He slarled on the 2151 Muharram, 949 for Uch.
Removing from thence on the 18th Rabi-ul-l awwal, he
proceeded by Diwwarawal and Wasilpur to a place lwelve
kos from Bikanir, at which place he arrived on the 17th
Rabi’w-l Akhir. Thence he proceeded to Pahludi, thirty
kos from Joudhpur, and afterwards made three more
jorward marches to the tank of Juki—Akbarnama,
vol. i., p-. 219.

82 4ccording to Abu-l Fazl his name was '“Rai Lon
Karan”—I1b. p. 219.
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great expeclations; and the latter, in the extreme ol per-
hdy, had promised to make Humayun a prisoner if pos-
sible, and to give him over into the hands of his cnemy.
Nagor, and its dependencies, had fallen into the power
of Sher Khan, and consequently he was alraid lest Sher
Khan should be annoyed and send a large army to his
territory against Humayun.  To kcep the Emperor
in ignorance, Mal Dco detained the envoy Atka Khan,
and did not give him permission to return.  But Atka
Khan contrived to ascertain what was passing through
ahe mind of Mal Deo, and went off without any formal
«lismiseal.

One of the Emperor’s librarians, who ac the time of
his defear had fled 10 Mal Deo, now wrote to the Emper-
or, informing him that Mal Dco was bent upon trea-
chery, and advising him to get out ol his territory as
quickly as possible. Atka Khan also spoke in the strong-
cst terms upon the matter. So Humayun marched off at
once to Amarkot. Two Hindus, who had come to act
as spies upon him, fell into his hands, and were brought
to his presence. They were questioned, and an order
was given that one of them should suffer the punish-
ment of death, with the object of arriving at the exact
facts of the matter. The two prisoners broke loose. and
snatching a knife and a dagger from two bystanders,
they despatched seventeen living creatures, men, women,
and horses, before they were overpowered and slain.
The Emperor’s own horse was among the animals killed.
As he had no other horsc to ride, his equerries sought
{0 obtain some horses an(.l camels from Tardi Beg, but
he disgraced himself by giving a refusal. Then the Em-
peror mounted a camel. Nadim Koka was walking on
foot, while his mother was riding his horse; but when
he saw the Emperor scated on the camel, he made his
mother dismoun.t, presented the horse to the Emperor,
and made her ride on the camel which he had used-

The road lay through a loose sand, and water was
not procurable. The army toiled on with great difficul-
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ty, and every moment the news came of the approach.
of Mal Deo. The Emperor ordered. Mun’'im Khan, witlt
a detachment, Lo march cautiousty and slowly in the
rear, and if the encmy approached, to give him battle.
When night came on, that detachment lost the way, and
at davbreak the encmy's forces were in sight.  Shaikh
"AlL Bcg, Darwesh Koka, and some others were (in the
rcar), numbering in all twenty-two persons.  Darwesh
Beg, ton of Baki Jalair, was one of the party. They
Procceded.aguinst the enemy, who was emerging from a
narrow denle.  Shaikh ’Ali killed the commander ol the
encmy with his hrst arrow, and cvery arrow that his
little band discharged wounded some prominent man ol
the enemy’s army. Unable to endure this, the cencmy
turned, and his great army fled before such an insigni-
ficant troop. Many werc Killed. in their flight, and many
camels fell into the hands ol victors. When the intelli-
gence of the victory reached the Emperor, he hastened
to publicly express his thanks.

The army encamped by a well which contained a
little water, and the party which had lost its way during
the night now came in, which was another causc of re-
joicing. Next day the march was resumed, and for three
days no water was found. On the fourth they reached
a well: a drum was beaten when the bucket reached the
surface of the carth, to give the bullock driver notice to
stop;* for the well was so deep that a call would not
reach him. In the intensity of their thirst, some men
could not restrain themseclves, Four or five threw them-
selves upon the bucket, the rope broke, and the bucket
fell back into the well. Overcome with suffering, they:
uttered cries and lamentations, and some cast themselves
intentionally into the well. In this way many perished

83 T'he bucket was drawn up by a bullock by means
of a rope passing over a wheel at the top of the well, and
the rope was so long that a drum was required to make
the bullock driver hear.
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through thirst. Next day the march was resumed, and
at the hottest time they reached a river (eb). The horses.
and camcls had not tasted water for several days, and
now they drank so much that many of them died.

At length, with extramce toil, they reached Amarkot,.
which is 100 kos distant from Tatta. The rana, that is
to say the ruler (hakim) of Amarkot®' was kindly dis-
poscd, and came out to meet the Emperor, and offered
his scrvices. The army rested from their hardships some
days in the city, and whatsoever the Emperor had in his
trcasury he distributed among his soldiers.  He had
arrived here with no great force, so he levied a sum of
money from Tardi Beg and others as a benevolence, and
graciously prescnted the rane and his sons with gold
and girdles and daggers. Shah Husain Arghun had slain -
the [ather of the rana, and so the rana now collected a
considerable number of men from his territories, and
went with the Emperor in the direction of Bakhar. The
Empcror’s [amily, with their pavaphernalia, under his
orders  remained At Amarkot.  Khwaja  Muazzam,
brother of Maryam Makani, was left in charge of them.

Fortune now for a time changed. jts treatiment of the
Emperor, by giving him a son, and impressing an im-
perishable mark upon the page of time®. The child
was born on the 5th Rajab, 949 (]5th October. 1542).
Tardi Beg Khan conveyed this intelligence to the Em-
pcror in  the nighbourhood of Amarkot, and the
Emperor under spiritual guidance, as will be narrated in
the proper place, gave to the child the name of
Jalalu-d din Muhammad Akbar.ss, '

He then continued his march towards Bakhar, but
he wrote very urgent letters as to the safety of the young

S1“Rana Parsad by mame” _—_ALbar-nama, wvol. i
. 220.

% This passage is greally compressed.

8 He is already siyled by anticipation ‘‘His Majes-
ty the Emperor, King of Kings.”



44 AKBAR
prince.  Upon reaching the pargana of Jun, he halted
there for a while. He sent for his iamily and the. suite
of the prince, and then his cyes werc gladdencd by the
sight ol his son. The force which had been collected
from the parts around dispersed while he remained at
Jun; and his brave and inwepid officer, Shaikh 'Ali, fell
in an action with the troops of Shah Husain Arghun,
in onc of the parganas of Vatta. His soldiers began to
desert one by one [rom his camp. Munim Khan even
went off. His Majesty, secing that it was not advisable
to remain longer in this country, determined upon going
to Kandabar. At this time hc was joined by Bairam
Khan,*” who had come {rom Gujarat. He now sent re-
_‘)l’CSCHlHli\"CS to Shah Husain Arghun, asking for boats
10 enable him to cross the river, and the Shah, delighted
with his determination, sent him thirty boats and 300
<amels. His Majesty then crossed the river, and bcgan
lis march to Kandahar.

Shah Husain sent a person to Mirza ’Askari and
Mirza Kamran, to inform them of the Emperor’s inten-
tion to march to Kandahar. and they wrote back desir-
ing him to bar his progress and make him prisoner. The
perfidious Mirza “Askari, when His Majesty reached Shal

87 The celebrated Baivam Khan, who plays so cons-
picuous a part in this and the following reign, and to
whom the recovery of Indiaq is in great nieasure atiribut-
able. Bairam Khan was @ Turk of the Kara-Kuinlu
branch. He was born iy Badalhshan and siudied at
Balkh. At the age of sixieen he eniered the army of
Humavun, and fought in the disastrous battle of
Kanauj. After the rout, he 100k refuge with Raja Mitr
Sen at the town of Lakhnor, in Sambhal. Sher Shah de-
manded lis surrender, and the Raja, afraid lo refuse,
sent the Khan to him. He was brought to Sher Shah
when on his way to Malwa, and was received with such
kindness and respect as showed the desire of Sher Shah
to win him over. The Shal’s overlures were not success-
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and Mastan® marched rapidly [rom Kandahar, and sent
forward Hawali*® Uzbek o watch his movements.  This
man had received kindness from the Emperor. He ob-
tained a powerful horse from Mirza *Askari, and betook
himsell to the Emperor’s camp. When he arrived, he dis-
mounted [rom his horse, and went to the tent of Bairam.
Khan, whom he informed of Mirza “Askari’s advance,
and ol his designs against the Emperor. Bairam Khan
immediately proceeded to the Emperor, and standing at
the back ol the tent he told him ol Mirza "Askari's ap-

ful, and ai Barhampur Bairam Khan effecled his escape,
accompanied by Abu-l Kuasim, formerly Gouvernor of
Guwalior.  They were encountered by a party of Sher.
Shal’s adherents, when Abu-l Kasim, who was a man of
very noble presence, was mistaken for Bairam and seized.
Baivam then manfw'ly came forward and declared him-
self.  Abw-l Kasim, in brave devotion to his {riend, ex-
claimed, “This is my serovant, who would sacvifice him-
self for me, take your hands off him.” So Bairam Khan
escaped, and went 10 Sultan Mahmud in Gujarai, who-
also wished {o rvetain him; dut the Khan pressed his de-
sire of going on the pilgrimage. Ostensibly with this
view, he went (o Sural, but passed cver to Kathiwar, and’
joined Humayun as above related. Abu-l Kasim was
carried prisoner lo Sher Shai, who had not the magnani-
mity to appreciate his friendly devotion, and put him
io death. According to Abu-l Fazl, Sher Shah spoke
afterwards of his conversalion with Bairam Khan and of
the conviction which he then felt of being unable to gain
him. Bairam Khan had some reputation as a poet, and
Badauni quoles some of his writings—Akbar-nama, vol.
i, p. 224—Tabakat-i Akbari-—See a'so Blochmann’s
Ain-i Akbari, p. 315, and Erskine’s Babar and Humayuns
vol. ii., p. 258.
8 Mastang.

% One MS. reads “Jawani” The Akbar-nama has

“Jini,” and Erskine, “Chupi.”’
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proach. “What is the worth of Kandahar and Kabul,”
said the Empcror, “‘that 1 should strive with my [aithless
brothers®" Then he mounted his horse, and sent
Khwaja-i Mu'azzam and Bairam Khan to bring up the
Empress. They made all speed 1o do so, and conveyed
her and the infant prince to the Emperor. There were
very [ew horses in the LEmperor's train, so Tardi Beg
was asked for onc. Again he gave a churlish relusal,””
and would not himself accompany his master.

The Lmperor determined o go to ‘'Irak, and start-
.ed off thither, taking with him the Empress, and having
_only a lew persons as escort. "I'he young prince was only
.one year old, and the weather was very hot, so he was
left behind., Mirza *Askari soon alterwards rcached the
camp, when he was informed that the Emperor had gone
safely off, leaving a party in charge of his camp. Next
-day, he, in his cxtreme insolence, entered the Emperor’s
audience hall, and Atka Khan delivered up to him the
young prince.  Under the orders of the Mirza, Tardi
Beg was made prisoner, and ofticers were sent to search
the tents and seize all the effects of the Emperor. Then
he carried the prince off to Kandahar, and gave him into
the charge of Sultan Begam, his own wile, who trcated
him with great tenderness.

The Emperor was accompanied by twenty-two per-
sons, among whom were Bairam Khan, Khwaja Muzzam,
Baba Dogt Bakhshi, Khwaja Ghazi, Haidar Mubammad
Akhtar-Degi, Mirza Kulj Beg, Shaikh  Yusuf, Ibrahim
Aishak-Akasi, and Hasan ’Ali Beg Aishak-akasi. They
set off without even determining their route. When
they had gone a little way, they fell in with three or four
Biluchis, who dirccted them, and they arrived with great

°0 As Erskine remarks, Tardi Beg seems to have
been a rough old soldiey, who kept his own men and
cattle in order, and resented any altempt to make him
liable for the faulls and ncglz'génce of olhers—Eyrskine.
-vol. ii., p. 251.
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toil at the fort or Baba Haji. The Turks who were in
the place gave them such provisions as they had. Khwaja
Julalu-d am, son of Mahmud, who had seen sent by
Mirza “Askari to collect the 1evenuces of this district, wait-
ed upon ihe Emperor, and prcsented him with horses,
camels, mules, and such things as he possessed. Next day
Haji Muhammad Koki, who had escaped from Mirza
‘Askari, waited upon the Emperor. The hostile proceed-
ings of his brothers made these parts no safe piace for
His Majesty, so he proceeded onwards towards Khurasan

and ‘Irak. Upon entering  Sistan, Ahmad Sultan
Shainlu, governor of the province under Shah Tahmasp,
received him with the greaiest kindness.  He remained

some days in Sistan, and Ahmad Sultan showed him
every kind of hospitality and attention, sending even his
own women to wait upon the Empress as handmaids.
Ahmad also presented to him all kinds of provisions and
necessaries, and enrolled himself among the number of
his slaves. All these His Majesty courteously accepted,
and then presented them to him.

Upon holding a consultation, Ahmad Sultan Ad-
vised His Majesty t0 proceed to ’Irak by way of Tabas
Kilaki, because that way was the ncarest, and he offered
to accompany him on the road.  His Majesty replied
that he had heard great praise of the city of Hirat, and
that it would be more pleasant for him to proceed by
that route. So His Majesty started for 'Irak, attended b'y
Ahamad Sultan. At that time Sultan Muhammad Mirza,
cldest son of Shah Tahmasp, was governor of Hirat,
Muhammad Khan Sharfu-d din Ughli Taklu held the
post of Atalik or tutor to the young prince.  When
they heard of the near approach of the Emperor, 'thcy
sent *Ali Sultan, who was one of the nobles of Taklu, to
meet him and conduct him in with due honour. He
ifl){ned His Majesty on the borders of the territory of
Tlllrcat’ and bro-ught.lum with all ceremony to, the city.

prince, with his officers and artendants, then pro-
ceeded to wait upon him and pay their respects, omitting
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nothing that could do him honour. Muhammad Khar
was admitted to the privilege of an introduction.

His Majesty, with his retinue, halted av  Hirat.
Mubammad Khan treated him with the greatest hospita-
lity, and His Majesty was highly pleased _wuh his recep-
He reccived ali that he could require, and lacked

tion.
nothing until the time ol his meeting w1Q1 Shah
Tahmasp.  All the palaces and gardens of Hirat are

beautiful to sece, and His Majesty visited them, after
which he took his departure for Meshhed and ‘Tus. Shah
»Ali, Sultan Istajlu, governor of Meshhed, also did all in
his power to show honour and hospitality to His
Majesty, and under the ovders of Shah Tahamasp, cvery
governor on the route supplied him with all things he
required. Under the orders of the Shah, a large number
of nobles and great men went forth to meet him, and the
arrangement was made that, from Damaghan to the
Shah’s camp, onc of these nobles was to have charge ol
the duties of hospitality in each march. Provisions were
sent from the royal camp, and His Majesty was feasted
at cvery stage until he rcached Kazwin. The Shah's
camp had been moved to Pulak-Surlik., and Bairam
Khan was cent thither by His Majesty to wait on the
Shah. He returned, bringing a letter congratulating His
Majesty on his amrival. His Majesty continued his
journey, and at every place he came to he received marks
of attention from the people. At length he reached
Pulak-Surlik, and had an interview with Shah Tahmasp.
who entertained him and showed him every honour and
distinction, worthy both of host and guest.

In the course of conversation, the Shah asked the
Empcror what was the reason of his defeat, and he re-
plied that it was the rivalry and faithlessness of his
brothers. Bahram Mirza, the Shah's brother, was offen-
ded at this,”* and treacherously advised the Shah to have

.

91 There s no meaning in the anecdole as here

given.  Shortly afterwards Bakram Mirza presented «a
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the Lmperor killed in the course of the night. But the
Shah’s sister Sultanam,”® who was very highly estecmed
by her brother, and exercised great influence in all
aifairs of State, did all in her power to protect and help
the Emperor. Kazi Jahan Kazwini, who was the Shah’s
diwan, and Hakim Nuru-d din Muhammad, who was
his physician and was high in his [avour and confidence,
were not content to be at all wanting in goodwill
towards the Emperor. The hakim both openly and
privately lost no opportunity of forwarding the
Lmperor’s interests. One day the Shah, in order to
gratify the Emperor, went out with a party of nobles and
grandces to hunt with bows and arrows. Bahram Mirza,
who had an old quarrel with Abu-l Kasim Khulafa, under
pretence of shooting at some animal, struck him in front
with an arrow, and he died upon the spot.

Shah Tahmasp, having assented to the Emperor's
wish to depart, provided all necessavies for his journey,
and he appointed his son Shah Murad, then an infant
at the brcast, with a force of 10,000 men to protect him.
Humayun expressed his intention of going to ‘Tabriz
and Ardabil, and the Shah wrote farmans to the gover-
nors of those places, directing them to show him every
honour and attention. After travelling to those places,
the Emperor turned towards Kandahar, and went to pay
a visit to Meshhed the holy. He had brought the Kazil-
bash (Pcrsian) prince with him, and Bidagh Khan, the
prince’s tutor, was commander of his army. When they
reached the fort of Garmsir, they took possession of the
Garmsir territories. On arriving ar Kandahar, a large
body of men sallied out of the fort and made what resist-

bowl and ewer for the ablulions of the Shah, who turned
towards Humayun and said, *“This is }e w({y you should
have treated your brothers” Upon Humayun's assen’-
ing lo this remark, Bahram’s anger was hindled.”—Se¢
Ershine, vol. ii., 290. :

2 Or Sultan Khanam.

4
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ance they could, but were defcated. The Kazilbash army
then cncamped within view of Kandahar. Five days
afterwards the Emperor arrived, and it was then invest-
ed. The sicge went on for three months, and there were
daily cngagements, in which many men on both sides
were killed.

Bairam Khan now went to Kabul on an cmbassy 1o
Kamran Mirza. He was encountered on his way by a
party of Hazaras, and a fight cnsued, but he over-
owered them and went on to Kabul. There he had an
audience of Mirza Kamran, and he also had interviews
with Mirza Hindal, Mirza Sulaiman son of Khan Mirza,
and Mirza Yadgar Nasir who had arrived from Bakhar
in a distressed cendition. Mirza Kamran sent Mahd CAli
Khan-zada-i begam to Kandahar with Bairam Khan to
settle terms of peace il possible. 'When they arrived at
Kandahar, and waited on the Emperor, Mirza ’Askari
was still intent upon fghting (and holding out).

The Persian forces were disheartencd by the long
duration of the siege, and had thoughts of returning.
They had conceived that when Humayun approached
Kandahar, the Chaghatai tribes would rally round him.
But when a long time passed, and no onc came to his
succour, and the fact of Mirza Kamran's advance to the
aseistance of Mirza ’Askari became generally known, the
Persians were greatly alarmed. By a happy turn of
affairs Muza Kamran fell hack, and Mirza Hussain
Khan and Fazail Beg, brother of Munim Khan, deserted
him and joined the Emperor. The Turkomans were ins-
pirited, and after a few days Muhammad Sultan Mirza.
Ulugh Beg Mirza, Kasim Husain Sultan, and Sher-afgan
Beg came over.  This greatly encouraged the Persians.
Muyid Beg who was a prisoner in the fort, managed to
cscape by stratagem. and let himself down from the walls
by a rope. His Majesty received him with great kind-
ness. A party also under the command of Abu-l Hasan.
nephew of Karracha Khan, and Munawwar Beg, son of
Mir Beg, escaped from the fortress. Mirza ’Ackari now
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lost heart, and proposed to surrender. The Emperor in
his great kindness granted him terms. He then called 1o-
gether the Persian commanders, and induced them to
engage that lor threc days no one should molest the
nuinerous Chaghatai lamilies that were in the place. In
consequence ol this engagement, the garrison of the
place came forth next day, with their wives and familics.
Mirza 'Askari also came out, and with shame waited on
the Emperor, who uttered not a word of reproach. The
Chaghatai chiefs, with their swords upon their necks and
shrouds in their hands, were allowed to present them-
selves to the Emperor, and were pardoned.

It had been agreed with the Persians that as soon as
Kandahar was taken it should be given up to them, and
now the Emperor gave them possession ol it, although
die possessed no other territory.  Bidagh Khan  (and)
Mirza Murad, son ol Shah Tnhmnsp, were conducted
into the fort, and the place was surrendered to them.
Most ol the Persian chiels returned o 'Irak, and no one
remained with Mirza Murad except Bidagh Khan, Abu-l
Jath Sultan Afshar, and Sufi Wali Sultan Kadamu.

When winter came on, the Chaghatai people had
no place of rthelter, s0 the Emperor sent a person into
‘Kandahar to Bidagh Khan, o represent the need which
‘they had of some protection against the rigours of the
awinter.  But he, in his inhumanity, did not make that
veply which the emergency requived. So the Chaghatais
were in great wrouble, "Abdu-lla Khan and Jamil Beg,
who had come out of Kandahar, now fled to Kabul.
Mirza "Askari also, having found ap opportunity, made
his escape; but a party being sent in pursuit, he was
-caught and brought back. His Majesty then placed him
in confinement. The chiefs of the Chaghatai tribes
(ulus) now met in council, and resolved that under the
necessities of the case, the lort of Kandahar must be
'tnk(.fn from the Persians, and should e given up to them
again afier the conquest of Kabul ang Badakhshan. By
@ strange coincidence, it happened (hat Mirza Murad,
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son of Shah Taihmasp, died on -that very day. So the en-
terprise was resolved upon, .zmd @ strong parly was ap-
pointed to carry it out. Haji Muhammad Khan, (son ol)
Baba Kashka, went first of all to the gate of the fortress
with two ol his servants.  The Turkomans, who suspect-
ed that the LEmperor wanted. o get posscssion ol the
place, had for some days past prevented the Chaghatais
irom entering the town. [t bhappened that some camels
laden with forage were going into the city, and seizing
this ()pporLunily_, Haji Mubammad preeeeded to ‘the
atc ol the city. The guards assembled round the gate,
and rctused to let him enter.  With great daring he
drew his sword and attacked them, and they, unable to
resist his onslaught, ook refuge in Hight.  Another party
now came up to support hun. They entered the [ort.
and the Persians werc overpowered. Humayun mountecd
his horse, and went into the ciLy. Bidagh Khan, greatly
annoyed, went o the Emperor, took leave, and departed
for "Irak.  The Chaghatais, to their great satisfaction,
thus obtamed posssession of Kandahar.

Alter this, Humayun marched 1o eflect the conquest
of Kabul, and left Bairam Khan in charge of Kandahar.
Mirza Yadgar Nasir and Mirza Hindal, having devised
a scheme together, deserted from Mirza Kamran. After
being much harassed by the Hazara tribes on their
journey, they joined the Emperor and procecded with
him to Kabul. Jamil Beg, who was chiel of the terri-
torics (through which the Emperor passed), also came
in (o offer his services. Mirza Kamran, who had a well-
equipped army, marched out with the intention of
fighting, but every nighe partics of men deserted his
army, and joined Humayun. The Emperor then moved
his camp. and advanced o a half kos distance fron
Kamran. That night many men left Kamran's army and
deserted to the Emperor, Mirza Kamran, being alarmed.
sent a party of Shaikhs (o wait upon the Emperor and
to ask f_orgiveness.' The Emperor agreed to pardon him
on condition of his coming in and making his submis
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. sion. Kamran did not accede to this, but lled and shuc
himsell up in the citadel of Kabul. All his forces cume
over to the Emperor. On the same night Kamran quit-
red Kabul, and fled by way of Bini Hisar 1o Ghami.
Being inlormed of his flight, the Emperor sent Mirza
Hindal in pursuit. The EFmperor then c¢ntered Kabul,
and at night the citizens, in the extreme of joy, illumi-
nated the whole city with Jamps. On his entering the
palace, Her Highness the Begam brought the young
prince Jalalu-d din Muhammad Akbar 1o his father’s
presence. This sight lighted up the heart of the Emperor
with joy, and he offered up his thanksgivings for the
rcunion.  The victory was accomplished on the 10th
Ramzan, 953 H., when the prince was four jears two
months and five days old. Some place the event in the
year 952:"* but God knows the truth.

After this a person was cent to bring up the fcrces
which were in Kandahar.  Mirza Yadgar Nasir came o
Kabul in atendance upon the Fmpiess Maryam Makani
Begam.  Great feasts were then held, and the ceremony
ol circumcising the young prince was perlormed. The
remainder ol that year the Emperor spent in cnjoyment
at Kabul. When Kamran reached Ghazni, he could
not get adiission into the city, so he went off into the
Hazara. Mirza Ulugh Beg was sent o 1ake the govern-
ment -ol Zamin-dawar, and Kamran, finding it impossi-
ble to remain in that country, went o Bakhar, to Shah
Husgain Arghun, who gave him s daughter in maorriage
and assisted him.

In the following year Humayun marched to Bada-
kehshan, lor Mirza Sulaiman, son of jwumn Mirza, lad
disrcgarded the summons to come in and make nis sub-
mission. It was therefore determined 19 invade Badak-
hashan, Mirza Yadgar Nasir had been engaged in hostile
mtrigues, and ¢nce more meditate] flight. His intentions

" The Akbar-nama ( wol. i, p, 245) makes the date
“I12th Rainazan, 952"
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being made known to Humayun, an erder was given for
placing himn in conflinement, and a few days alterwards.
Muhammad Kasim, under the Emperor’s crders put Lim,
to death.?® The Emperor, passing over the heel of the
Hindu-koh (Hindu-Kush), encamped  at Shergiran.*”
Mirza Sulaiman assembled the forces of Badakhshan and
gave battle, but he was defeated in the [irst action, and.
fled into the kohistan of Durdasht. The Emperor then
roceceded to Talikan and Kisham"® but he was taken ill,.
and from day to day he grew worse so that cvery one was
in anxiety, and no one but his immediate attendance
were sure of his being alive. There was consternation
in the army, and Karracha Khan placed Mirza 'Askari
in safe custody. The people of Badakhshan again com-
menced hostilities.  After two months His Majesty re-
covered, and sent accounts of his convalescence to all
parts. The disturbances thereupon subsided. The royal
camp then moved to the neighbourhood of the fort of
Zafar.  Khwaja Mu’azazm, brother of the Empress.
Maryam Makani, killed at this time Khwaja Rashidi,
who had come from ‘Irak in the retinue (of the Emperor).
and then fled to Kabul, where by command, he was
placed in conflinement. .
Mirza Kamran at Bakhar, when he was assured of
Humayun’s march to Badakhshan, assembled a force
around him, and made a rapid march by Ghorband to:

*1Erskine  (vol. ii., p. 327y says he was condemn-
ed after a rveguiar {rial, in which wilnesses were examin-
ed and other evidence iaken.—dAkbar-nama, vol. i., pp.
298, 300. .

*In one copy “‘Shahr-giran’’—greal city. Abu-l Fazl
calls it “Tir-givan,” one of the wviliages of Andarab.—
. p., 300.

9T he version in the Tarikh-i Salalin-i Afghana
here says, “The army mouveq with the intention of pro-
ceeding 1o the lerritory and fort of Zafar, but ‘between
the fort of Zafar and Kisham the Emperor fell sick.””
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Kabul.  On his way he fell in with some merchants,
from whom he obtained plenty of horses,”” so that he
supplied each of his men with a spare horsc. When he
reached Ghazni, a few individuals brought him into the
fortress, and Zahid Beg, the governor of the place, being
off his guard,®® was put to death. Under the orders of
the Mirza the roads to Kabul were guarded, so that
intelligence might not  be carried cthither.  He then
marched rapidly on in f{ull confidence to Kabul.
Muhammad Kuli Tughai and Fazil Beg, and the force
under their command in Kabul, were quite unprepared,
when they were informed that Kamran had entered the
city. Muhammad Khan was made prisoner while in
his bath, and was instantly put o death. Upon enter-
ing the fort, Kamran capiured Fazail Beg and Mihtar
vakil, and he had thcir cyes put out. He appointed
persons to guard the Emperor's ladies and the young
prince.

Intelligence of the fall of Kabul reached the Em-
peror at Kila Zafar. The government of Badakhshan
and Kunduz, which had been given to Mirza Hindal,
was transferred to Mirza Sulaiman, and Humayun then
returned towards Kabul. Kamran mecanwhile mustered
all the forces he could. Sher-afgan, who was allied with
him, and Sher "Ali, on of his officers, advanced to Zuhak
and Ghorband, and 0ok possession of the roads.
Humayun crossed the river in the valley of Zuhak, and
drove before him Sher 'Ali, who resisted to the best of
his power. Humayun then safely crossed the Shaki, but
Sher 'Ali again annoyed his rear ungl he arrived at
Dih-Afghanan (a suburb of Kabul), Next day Sher-afgan
Beg sallied forth at the head of all Kamran's forces, and
a great battle was fought in the lines of Yurt-jalak. The

°7 They were laken by force.—Alkbar-nama, vol. s
p. 308.
0 ®dccording to Abwl Fazl he was qrunk—Ib. P
308.
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leading forces of the Emperor were repulsed, but by the
offorts of Mirza Hindal, Karracha Khan, and Haji
Muhammad Khan, the cnemy was cventually defeated.
Sher-algan Beg was taken prisoner, and when he was
brought into the Emperor’s presence he was put to death.
through the exertions of the nobles. Many of Kamran’s
men icll on this day, and those who escaped the sword
fled into the fort. Sher "Ali, a man of undaunted cour-
age, sallied forth every day and kept up the fighting with
all his vigour. On onec occasion Sher 'Ali and Haji
Muhammad Khan encountered cach other, and the Haji
was wounded.

Intelligence now came in that a caravan with a large
number ol horses had arrived at Charigaran,” and
Kamran sent Sher 'Ali, with a considerable force, to
bring these horses into the city. flumayun was aware of
this movement, and drawing ncarer to the city he com-
pletely closed all means of ingress and cgress. When
Sher ’Ali returned from his expedition, he could find no
way of getting into the place. Kamran then sallied forth,
and endeavoured to cut a way through for Sher ’Ali. But
the besiegers were aware of a sally being intended, and
when the forces came out they were received with a fire
ol guns and musketry and driven hack. Baki Salih and
Jalalu-d din Beg, two of Kamran's most trusted adher-
ents, deserted [rom him and joined the Emperor.  Sher
Al now gave up all hope of entering the city, Kamran,
with dastardly feeling, ordered that His Highness the
young prince Akbar chould be exposed upon the battle-
micnts, in the place where (he balls and shot of the guns
and muskets fell thickest. But Maham Anka took the
child in her bosom, put herself forward, and held him
towards the enemy (ie., the garrison). So God Almighty
preserved him. A part of (he garrison made their way
out and went off, all in one direction. Humayun sent

99 At the enlrance of the Ghorband valley, north of
Kabu!. '
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men in pursuit, who killed many and made many pri-
soners.  Kamran's spirits lell, and from all parts and
quarters men came in to render assistance to the Em-
peror.  Mirza Sulaiman sent reinforcements from Bada-
khsghan, Mirza Ulugh Beg came [rom Kandahar, and
Kasim Husain Sultan brought a body of the men -ok
Sarm Tugha as a reinforcement (rom Kandahar.

Mirza Kamran now sued for peace, and the Emperor
granted it, upon condition of his making personal sub-
mission.  But he was afraid o do this, and sought to
make his escape.  The chiefs of the Chaghatai tribes
were ol opinion that the capture ol Kamran woulds be
adverse to their interests, so they sent a message inform-
ing him that Humayun would, in a day or two, assault
the fort, and advising him to delay no longer in the
place.  Kamran, who was ofiended with Namus Beg and
Karracha Khan Beg, killed three young children of
Namus Beg in revenge, and had their bodies cast down
Irom the walls of the city—a cruel deed, which excited
the abhorrence of all men bLoth inside and outside the
city. He also tastened Sardar Beg, the son of Karracha
Khan, upon the summit of the ramparts. Humayun ex-
eried himself 1o console Karracha Khan; and the Khan
went close o the fort, and with loud voice declared that
il his son were killed, both Mirza Kamran and Mirza
‘Askari should be put to death when (he city fell. Kam-
ran now despaired on cvery point, so he caused a hole
to be made through the wall, on Khwaja Khizr’s side,
and made his way out bareloot at (he place indicated by
the nobles (outside who were [viendly to his escape).
Humayun sent Haji Muhammad Khan in pursuit, who
necarly overtook him, and Kamwan then called out in the
Turki language, ‘I have Kkilledq your father Baba
Kaghaka.”  Haji Muhammad was always ready for 2
quarrel, (but), when he hcard this he returned. His
Highness Prince Akbar now came (o his father, and
showed him all proper respect. Much charity was shown
to the poor and ncedy.
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After Kamran escaped, in a forlorn and distitute
condition, he reached ne ftoot of the Kabul mountains,
wherce he was met by a party of Hazaras, who plundcrcd
him of all he possessed. But one of the Huazaras recog-
nized hinm, ana informed’ the leader ol the band, who
conducted him to Zuhak and Bamian, where Sher "Ali
nis adherent still remained at the head of a small {orce.
He remained there [or a week, and nearly 150 horsemnen
joined him. Then he marched to Ghori, where Mirza
Beg Birlas, the governor of Ghoii, with a force of 150
horse and 1,000 loot, gave him a battle, and was defeat-
ed. The horses and asses ol the vanquished [ell into the
hands of the victor. Having gathered some strength, he
went to Balkh, where he had a meeting with Pir Mubam-
mad Khan, the ruler. Pir Muhammad [ollowed his own
inclination, and came to Badakhshan, to the assistance
of Kamran. Ghori and Bakalan fell into the hands ol
Mirza Kamran, and many soldiers fiocked to his stand-
ard. Pih Muhammad then returned to his own coun-
try.  Kamran advanced against Sulaiman Mirza and
Ibrahim Mirza, and, as they had no power to resist him,
they went way from Talikan to Kolab. Kamran now
cstablished his authority over many parts of  Badakh-
shan.

Karracha Khan, and some other nobles who had
rendered good service in these days, now recommended
some illlPOSSib‘lC steps to Humayun. One was: the execu-
tion of Khwaja Ghazi, the wazir, and the appointment
of Khwaja Kasim to succeed him. This proposition fell
heavily on the heart of His Majesty, and he would not
accede to their wishcs. The noblemen then conspired
together, and mounting their horses at breakfast-time,.
they drove off the royal flocks (ga'ah), which were in
Khwaja Riwaj, and went towards Badakhshan. After

100 pareshan o be-saman. The context shows that
this is nol to be taken quite literally.
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brecak of day and the assembling of the army, His Majes-
ty mounted his horse, and went off in pursuit.  The
conspirators, by a forced march, reached Ghorband, and
crossing the bridge they destroyed it behind them. The
advanced guard of His Majesty came up with a party ot
them and inflicted chastisement. At night Humayun
returned to Kabul, to make preparations for a march
into Badakhshan. The conspirators went on to Kamran,.
leaving Tamar "Ali in Panjshir, to collect and forward
intelligence of  Humayun's movements. His Majesty,-
having determined to go to Badakhshan, sent farmans
to Mirza Sulaiman. Mirza 1lbrahim, and Mirza Hindal.
Mirza Ibrahim advanced by way of the fort of Parian''
into Panjshir, and geuwting knowledge of Tamar Ali
Shaghali, he went after him and killed him. He
waited upon the Emperor in the Karabagh at
Kabul.

At this time Mirza Kamran sent Sher ’Ali, at his own
request, to contend against Mirza Hindal, but he was
taken prisoner by some of Hindal's men. Mirza Hindat
then went to see the Emperor, and took Sher Ali a pri-
soner with him. The Emperor, in his generosity, par-
doned Sher ’Ali, and made a grant to him of Ghori.
Kamran, having left Karracha Khan and his Kabul con-
federates at Kisham, had himself gone to Talikan. His
Majesty thereupon sent Mirza Hindal and Haji Muham-
mad Koki in advance to Kisham. Karracha Khan then
sent to inform Kamran that Mirza Hindal was ap-
proaching with a small force, while Humayun was at a
distance, and that if hc hastened up he might defeat
Hindal, and so make the war againsg Humayun an casier
matter. Karracha returned to Kisham with all the speed
“he could. When he reached the viver of Talikan, he en-
countered Mirza Hindal, just as he had crossed the river.
At the first charge Hindal's troops were defeated and lost
all their Laggage.

Un the Panjshir valley, north of Kabul. sec supra..
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His Majesty now came up with his army, and was
delayed a little in secking lor a ford.  After getting over
the river, his advanced guard came up with Kamran's
rear, and made Shaikham Khwaja Khizr and Isma'il
Duldi prisoners, and brought them in to the Empecror.
Mirza Kammran laced round to repulse this advanced
‘guard; but as they approached each other, he described
the standards ol the Emperor,- and knowing that he was
unable to contend with him, he retreated to Talikan,
lcaving all his plunder and all his own baggage bchind
him. Next day Talikan was invested, and Mirza Sulai-
man canie in and joined Humayun. Kamran then
sought assistance from the Uzbeks, and when he found
that he had nothing to expect from them he was greatly
.cast down, and sent to beg the Emperor to allow him
to go to Mecca. Humayun genercusly granted his re-
quest, on condition that e would cend the rebellicus
nobles to the royal court.  Kamran begged lorgive-
siess for Manus Beg, but sent the other amirs, who
came ashamed and downcast to the royal pre-
sence.'”  The Emperor, a sccond time, forgave
their offences.

Mivza Kamran proceeded out of the fort, and went (o
the distance of a parasang; but when he was no longer in
apprchension of any harm from the superior power of:
Tlumayun, he was greatly ashamned, and turned back with
the resolve of paying allegiance to him. As soon as His
Majesty was informed of this he greatly rejoiced, and sent
out the mirzas'®® to give him a cercmonial reception.
“‘When they met, he displayed the greatest kindness to
Kamran, who again received (he ensigns of sovercignty.
Three davs they remained in the same place, and feasts
and rejoicings went on.  After some days the country of

Lo ) oo
102 I\ana.cha Khan was among them, and came with

a sword hanging 1o his neck — 4kbar-nama, vol. i., p- 355.
100 Hyndal and ’Askari. »
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Kolab'*! was given as an ikla, 1o Kamran.'** Mirza Sulai-
man and Mirza Ibrahim remained in Kisham. The royal
camp then returned to Kabul, where it took up winter
quarters, and an order was issued directing the officers to
look alter the equipment ol the army.

At the end of the year Humayun left Kabul, with the
intention ot proceeding against Balkh, and a person went
to Kolab to summon Mirza Kamran and Mirza "Askari.
When His Majesty rcached Badakhshan, Mirza Ibrahim
and Mirza Hindal came to wait upon him, and at the in-
stance of Mirza Sulaiman, Mirza Ibrahim was left at
Kisham. Mirza Kamran and Mirza ‘Askrai once morc
showed their hostility, and did not come in to pay theiv
homage. Humayun marched on to the fort of  Aibak,
and the afalik'® ol Pir Muhammad Khan, governor of
Balkh, with several of his chief nobles, had. to take refuge
in the fort, which Humayun then invested. The Uzbeks
being reduced to extremity surrendered at discretion.

In consequence ol Kamran’s defection, a council of
war was held to consider whether he might not make an
attempt upon Kabul while the Emperor was engaged at
Balkh. Humayun declared his opinion that as the inva-
sion of Balkh had been undertaken, it should Ube prose-
cuted in [ull conlidence; so the march was continued.
But many of the men were discouraged by Kamran
remaining absent. When the army came near Balkh, and
was about to take up a position, Shalh Muhammad Sultan
Uzbck, with three hunrred horsemen, made his appcar-

10t “Khutlan, commonly hknown s Kalabh.”—Akbar-
:ama, vol. 1., p. 338. It lies oelween Darwaz and Shugh-
nan beyond the Oxus.—Erskine, vol, i;, p. 369. Burnes’
Travels, vol. tii., p. 275.

195 *Askari was allowed o go with kim, end received’
the district of Karaligin in jagir—-Apbar-nama, wol- i
p. 338,
- 1% “Khwaje Mak” was the atqlik.—Akbar-namd,
vol. i, p. 347,
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ance. A force was sent against him, and a sharp fight
tollowed. Kabuli, brother of Muhammad kasim Khan
Fauji, was killed in the conflict, and. one «f the chiefs of
the Uzbeks was taken prisoner. Next day Pir Muhammad
Khan came out of the city, (and was joined by) 'Abul-l
'Aziz Khan, son of "Abid Khan, and Sultan ol Hissar,'®”
who had come to his assistance.

After mid-day the two armies came in contact, and
‘the battle began. Humayun was fully accoutred, and
with Mirza. Sulaiman, Mirza Hindal, and Haji Muham-
mad Sultan, defcated the vanguard of the enemy, and
drove it back towards the city. Pir Muhammad Khan also
and his men were repulsed and driven into Balkh, At
sunset the Chaghatai wroops, who had got ncar to the city,
turned back. Many of the Chaghatai chiels had their
wives and [amilies in Kabul, and were alarmed Dbecause
Mirza Kamran had not joined the army. So the night
before the day when Balkh would have fallen, they met
together and conveyed their opinion to His Majesty that
it was not advisable to pass over the river of Balkh, but
yvather to fall back towards Darra Gaz, and take up and.
sccure a strong position; then, after a short time, the
garrison of Balkh would surrender.  They urged their
views so strongly that Humayun retreated. Darra Gaz is
on the road to Kabul, so friends and focs, being anaware
of- what had passed in the council, conceived the notion
that a retreat to Kabul was intended. The Uzbeks were
emboldened, and [ollowed in pursuit.  Mirza Sulaiman
and Husain Kuli Sultan, the scal-bearer, who protected
the rear, had an action with the van of the Uzbeks, and
were defeated, and then the chiefs who were anxious to
go to Kabul madc ofl thither, each one taking the road
that pleased him. All control was lost. About a thousand
ol the cnemy came up. His Majesty, who fought in the
conflict, inflicted a wound with his spear on one of the

107 One MS. reads “Salatin-i Hissar,” the Sultans of
Hissar.
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foremost ol the enemy and unhorsed him; and by the
strength ol his own arm he cut his way out of the con-
fusion. Mirza Hindal, Tardi Beg, Muni’m Kban, and a
party of other nobles saved themselves by fighting. Shah
Bidagh Khan and Tolak Khan Kuchin performed deeds
ol great valour in this battle.

Humayun reached Kabul in safety, and remained
there for the rest of the year. Mirza Kamran stayed at
Kolab, and Chakar "Ali Beg Kolabi, who was hostile to
Iim, attacked Kolab with a large [orcc. Kamran sent
Mirza Askari against him, but ’Askari was delcated; and
on being sent a second time, he again returned unsucceess-
ful. Mirza Sulaiman and Mirza lbrahim now murched
against Kamran from Kitham and Kunduz and he, not
having suflicient forces to oppose them, retreated to Ros-
tak. A body ol Uzbeks fell upon him on the march and
«carried off a large part of his baggage. In this distressed
state Kamran wished to proceed by way ol Zohak and
Bamian into the Hazara. ‘When Humayun was informed
of thig, he sent a force to Zohak and Bamian to protect
the country. Karracha Khan, Kasim Husain Sultan, and
some other traitorous nobles, (lcspalchcd a4 messenger Lo
Kamran, advising him o take the road 0 Zohak, and
promising to join him in the day of battle. 'When Mirza
Kamran came in sight, Karracha Khan and his associa-
tes cast the dirt of ignominy on their heads and deserted
Humayun. Being joined by these men, Kamran offered
battle. Although Humayun's force was small, it met the
attack bravely, and a desperate fight followed. Pir
Muhammad Akhta and Ahmad. son of Mirza Kuli, were
killed in this fight. His Majesty exerted himself greatly.
He received a sword-cut on the top of his head and his
horse was wounded; but he kept his assailants off with his
spear, and made his way out of the fight.'o® e then
proceeded towards Zuhak and Bamian, and was joined DY
2 party of fugitives, who had taken the same route.

198 Sec supra.
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Mirza Kamran now, once more, obtained possession
of Kabul. Humayun went with Haji Muhammad and «a
party ol adhcrents towards Badakhshan. Shah Bidagh,
Tolak Kuchin, and Majnun Kakshal, and a party of ten
were sent out to reconnoitre in the direction of Kabul,
but of the whole party, one only, Tolak Kuchin, returned
to the Emperor. Astoundcd at the treachery of his fol-
lowers, he went and encamped at Andarab: Here he was
joined. by Sulaiman Mirza, Ibrahim Mirza, and Mirza
Hindal, with their forces. Alter forty days Humayun
marched towards Kabul. In the mountains he was met
by Mirza Kamran, Karracha Khan, and the lorces of
Kabul.'®® The armies drew up against cach other. Here
Khwaja "Abdu-s Samad Masur deserted Kamran and join-
ed Humavun, who received him graciously. Kamran was
defeated, and fled to the mountains of Mandrud.’!® The
traitor, Karracha Khan, was taken prisoner, and was
being conducted to Humayun, when Kambar 'Ali Bahari,
whosc brother had been put to death at Kandahar by
order of the Khan, seized the opportunity and killed him.
Mirza *Askari fell into the hands of the Emperor’s men in
this battle. '

The Emperor now returned to Kabul. and remained
there for a year in peace. Again a body of soldiers, crav-
ing for action, went off and joined Kamran, and he col-
lected round him a body of nearly 15,000 horse. Haji
Muhammad Khan went off without leave to Ghaznin; so
Humayun was compelled to march towards Lamghan and
interrupt Kamran’s proceedings. Then, in concert witlr
the Afghans of Muhammad, the khail of Daudzai, and
the chicfs of Lamghan, Kamran went off towards Sind.

10" Humayun irvied (o qrrange mallers peaceably, bur
his efforts were frustvaied, chiefly by Karracha Khan's in-
fluence over Kamran.—dlpar-nama, vol. i., p. 363. See
Ershine, vol. it., p. 397

110 ““By the pass of Badbaj towards the Afghan coun-
lry.”——ErS]cl?l(?, vol. ii., P. 393,
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Humayun remained for a while in Lamghan hunting, and -
then returned to XKabul. Kamran, supported by the
Afghans, again advanced, and once more Humayun
marched out against him. Humayun sent to Bairamn
Khan, governor of Kandahar, directing him by some way
or other 1o go to Ghaznin and secure Haji Muhammad
Khan. The Haji had sent to Mirza Kamran, advising
him to come to Ghazni, and take possession of the coun-
try, for he was ready to show his obedience. Hereupon
Kamran marched from Peshawar by way of Bangash and
Gurdez towards Ghaznin, but before he could rcach there
Bairam Khan had entered the city, and Haji Muhammad
was compelled to go to him. Bairam Khan and the Haji
went together to Kabul, and Kamran, hearing of this on
" his march, retreated to Peshawar.
Humayun now rcturned from Lamghan to Kabul, but
a few days belore his arrival Haji Muhammad had made
his escape and had gone off again to Ghaznin. Bairam
Khan was again sent with some other nobles after him,
and when he brought him back the Haji received forgive-
ness. Mirza 'Askari, under the orders of Khwaja Jalalu-d
din Mahmud, had bcen carried to Badakhshan and placed
under the charge of Mirza Sulairaan, who was to convey
him to Balkh;''! and Sulaiman accordingly sent him
thither. In the course of this journey "Askari’s days came
to an end in the country of Rum,

The Afghans kept Mirza Kamran among them, and
busied themselves in raising forces, so Humayun was
compelled to go out against them.: 1In the course of this
campaign Haji Muhammad Khan was executed with his
brother, in punishment of his many offences. supported
by the Afghans, Mirza Kamran made a night attack on
Humayun's camp, and Mirza Hindal was killed in the
engagement. The date of his death is found in the words

1 This was equivalent to banishmeni. ’Askari died
betw-ecn Damascus and Mecca in H. 965 (4.D. 1558)—
Ershkine, vol. ij., p. 397.

b
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“Shahadat ash ba lalab shud.” Kamran’s auack [lailed,
and he retreated. The lamily and attendants of Hindal
were sent to Ghaznin with the young prince Akbar, and
the 1erritory of Ghaznin and its depenaencies was assign-
cd to them as an ikia’.

When Humayun continued his advance against the
Afghans, they were unable to protect Kamran any longer,
so being without resource he lled to Hindustan, and
ook rtefuge with (Sultan) Salim Shah Afghan. All his
peoplc and followers were harried, and Humayun then
teturned to Kabul. After the army had taken a tew days’
rest, it marched by way of Bangash and Gurdez against
Hindustan. All the disaffected in these parts received
chastisement.  Humayun crossed ithe Indus between
Dinkot and Nilab (5 Safar, 962 A.H. 29 Decr. 1554 A.D.).

Mirza Kamran, disgusted with the ungenerous treat-
ment he received [rom Salim ‘Shah hakim of Hindustan,
had taken flight and escaped into the hills of Sialkot.
From thence, by great energy, he had conveyed himself to
Sultan Adam Ghakar. Thereupon Sultan Adam secured
him, and wrote to inform Humayun. This overture was
graciously received by Humayun, who sent Mun’im Khan
to demand the captive. Sultan Adam surrendered Kam-
ran, who was brought into Humayun’s presence at Par-
hala. The Emperor, in his natural humanity, was rcady
to overlook the offences of Kamran, but the officers and
the chiefs of the Chaghatai clans, who had suffered many
things through Kamran’s hostility, having agreed toge-
ther, went to Humayun, and stated that the security of
the Chaghatai clans and people depended on the destruc-
tion of Mirza Kamran, for they had repeatedly experi-
.enced the effects of his hostility. Humayun had no
.escape but by consenting (hat Kamran should be blinded.
"Ali Dost Barbegi, Saiyid Muhammad Bikna and Ghulam
“Ali Shash-angusht (the six-fingered), deproved Mirza Kam-
ran of sight with a lancet.1'* ~ The date of this event has

112 See supra.
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been anticipated a little.  Alterwards Mirza Kamran
obtained permission to make the pilgrimage, and being
furnished with ali that he could require for the journey,
he set out. He arrived at Mecca, and there died.'??

Humayun, having reached the foot of the fort of
Rohtas, determined upon the conquest of Kashmir., It
was rcepresented to him that a zemindar named Birana
had a place in the hills so strong that none of the Sultans
had been able to subdue it, and that he might protect the
road and prevent the passage into Kashmir, so that the
conquest would be difficult.  But Humayun’s judgment
did not acquiesce in these objections, and he marched
onwards. At this time the news arrived of the march of
(Sultan) Salim Khan Afghan from Hindustan to the
Panjab, and it caused great discontent in the army. When
the time lor departure arrived, those officers and amirs
who werc adverse to the Kashmir expedition went off all
at once to Kabul. Upon the Emperor discovering that no
one [avoured the campaign in XKashmir, he returned
towards Kabul. Crossing the Indus, he gave directions
for rcbuilding the fort of Bikram (Peshawar), and as his
men iaboured heartily in the work it was soon accom-
plished.  Sikandar Khan Uzbek was appointed governor
of the fort. Upon Humayun’s reaching Kabul, Prince
Akbar set out for Ghaznin, and Khwaja Jalalud din
Mahmud and a party of nobles proceeded thither in
attendance upon him. :

After a time the intelligence came from India of the
death of (Sultan) Salim Khan, and of dissensions among
the Afghans. Some designing persons had informed His
Majesty that Bairam Khan entertained hostile intentions,
so Humayun preceeded in force to Kandahar (which had
‘been long held by Bairam Khan). The latter came forth
to mect Humayun with due ceremony, and showed every
mark of fealty and obedience. When Humayun returned

sFour years afler, in H. 964 (5th October, 1557,
A.D.)—Erskine, vol. it., p. 419.
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he appointed Mun’im Khan to Kandahar, But Mun'im
Khan remonstrated, and said that an expedition o Hin-
dustan was resolved upon, and if the chiet men were
offended and alienated, disalfection would arise in the
army. After the conquest of Hindustan that course might
be pursued which the necessities of the time might re-
quire. So the government of Kandahar was conlirmed to.
Bairam Khan, and that of Zamin-dawar'!' to Bahadur
Khan, brother of "Ali Kuli Khan Sistani. The great camp:
then rcturned to Kabul, and the army was employed in
preparing lor the invasion ol India.

One day when Humayun was riding about and hunt-
ing, he observed that as his mind was dwclling upon the
invasion of India, he would ask the nammes of the [irst
three persons he met, and would take them as auguries
of the result. The first person they encountered, upon
being asked, said, that his name was Daulat Khwaja. A
little further on they met another villager, who said his.
name was Murad Khwaja. On this His Majesty observed
how excellent it would be if the third person’s name
should prove to be Sa'adac Khwaja. At a short distance
they met the third man, and his name really turned out
to be Su'adnt'l(hwaja.“"’ All the king’s companions were
greatly surprised and impressed with this result, and
became sanguine of victory in Hindustan.!*s

In Zi-l hijja, 961 (November, 1559). the Emperor
began his march. When the army encamped. at Peshawar,.
Bairam Khan, according to orders, came up from Kanda-
har, and the royal standards passed over the river Indus.
Bairam Khan, Khizr Khwaja Khan, Tardi Beg Khan.
Iskandar Sultan. and  some other nobles, went on in

[ was laken away from Tardi Beg.—Erskine, vol..
., p- 508.

115 The three names signify prosperily, wish, success.

116 This same story is tolq by Khondamir, who died’
twenly years before this time. Sec supra.
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advance.  Fatar Khan  Kasi, the governor ol Rohtas,
although the fort had been strengthened, made no resist-
ance and lled. But Adam Ghakar, although hc owed
service, did not join the army. Humayun continued his
march towards Lahore, and when the Afghans of that city
became aware of the near advance of his army, they took
to Hight. He entered Lahore,''” without opposition, and
then sent on the nobles in command of the advance to
Jalandar and Sirhind. The districts of the Panjab, Sir-
hind, and Hissar all came without a struggle into the
hands of the Chagahtai forces.

A body of Afghans having assembled at Dipalpur,
under the leadership of Shahbaz Khan and Nasir Khan
Afghan, the Emperor sent Mir Abu-l Ma'ali and 'Ali
Kuli Sistani''® (0 disperse them. The Afghans were
delcated, and their baggage and their wives and [amilies
became tlic prey of the vicors.

Sikandar Afghan, who held possession of Dehli, sent
30,000 men under Tatar Khan and Haibat Khan to attack
the advanced [orces in Sirhind. The Chaghatai forces
concentrated at Jalandar, and [or ail the numbers of the
enemy and their own paucity they were ready to fight.
They advanced and crossed the Sutlej. Towards the close
of day the Alghans became aware of their tansit, and
marched forth (o give baule, Notwithstanding  the
strength of the encmy, the Chaghatai chiefs determined
to fight, and as the sun went down 2 great battle began.
The Afghans began the battle with their archers, but as
it was getting dark the arrows ook little cffect on the
Mughuls, but the Afghans bCil]g chn[]Y ﬂllllO)’Cd ])y the
fire (alashz) threw themselves inyg o neighbouring  vil-
lage. As most of the houses in the villagcso of Hindustan
are thatched, a fire broke out, and lighting up the ficld
af battle the (Mughal) archers came out and plied their

M7 2 Rabi'u-s sani, 962 H. 23,4 Felhryary, 1535 A.D.
Y8 The “Khan-zaman” of Akphar’s yeion. The MS.
calls him “‘Sisiani’’ but it should pe “Shaibani.”’
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weapons heartily by the light of the burning village. The
encmy, in the glare of the fire, presented a [line mark [or
their shafts, and being unable to endure longer took to
flight. A great victory was gained, and elephants and
much spoil fell into the hands of the victors. When the
news of the victory reached Lahore, the Emperor was
greatly delighted, and showed great honour to his gene-
rals. All the Punjab, Sirhind, and Hissar Firozah
were now in his possession, and some of the de-
pendencics of Dehli also werec in the hands
of the Mughals.

On hearing of this defeat, (Sultan) Sikandar Afghan
marched [orth to take his revenge, with 80,000 horsemcen
and elephants and artillery. He marched to Sirhind,
and there he entrenched and fortified his camp. The
Chaghatai generals strengthened the fortifications of Sir-
hind, and making & good show of resistance, they wrote
letters Lo Humayun for reinlorcements. He thercupon
sent Prince Akbar towards Sirhind, and as he approached
the generals came forth to mecet him. The forces were
drawn out in array with the greatest show against the
encmy, who was four times morec numcrous than the
Mughals. For some days the daring spirits in both armies
challenged each other to combat and displayed their
valour, tili at length the vanguard of Princc Akbar was
drawn up lor batte. A second division, under Bairam
Khan Khan-Khanan, on the one side: and on the other a
third division with Tskandar Khan ’Abdu-la I{han
Uzbek, Shah Abul Ma'ali, ’Ali Kuli Khan, and Bahadur
Khan. Then they attacked the enemy. In the engage-
ment all the nobles exhibited dauntless courage and the
most determined resolution, The Afghans, 100,000 in
number, were defecated, being inferior in courage, and
(Sultan) Sikandar fled. The victors pursued the enemy
and put many of them to death; and having secured an
enormous booty, returned triumphant to wait upon the
Emperor and c'ongmtulatc him. Under his orders a des-
patch of the victory was drawn, in which the honour of



NIZAMU-D DIN AIIMED 71

the victory was ascribed to Prince Akbar, and this was
circulated in all directions.!!?

Sikandar Khan Uzbek was then sent on to Dehli,
and the royal camp was moved to Samana. A body of
Afghans in Dehli made their escape in hot haste, and
Sikandar Uzbck entered and occupied the city. Mir
Abu-l Ma'ali was sent to Lahore to keep in check (Sultan)
Sikandar, who had fled into the Siwalik mountains. In
the month of Ramazan the Emperor entcred Dehli, and
once more the khutba was read and the coins were stamp-
ed with his name in the territories of Hindustan. The
chiefs who had taken part in the campaign were most
liberally rewarded, and each one was made the ruler of a
province. The remainder of this year was spent in case
and enjoyment.

Abu-l Ma'ali, who had been sent to oppose  (Sultan)
Sikandar, treated the nobles who had been appointed to
support him very unceremoniously, interfering with their
territories and appropriating their treasure. So Sikandar
daily grew stronger. This came to tr.e knowledge of the
Emperor, who immediatcly sent Bairam Khan in attend-
ance upon Prince Akbar as his atalil or governor, to put
an cnd to Sikandar's operations. Shah Abu-l Ma'ali was
ordered to proceed to Hissar Firozah.

At this time a person named Kambar Diwana had
collected round him a body of supporters in the Doab
and Sambal and had taken and plundered Bayana.
Unquiet and adventurous men gathered about him from
all quarters. 'Ali Kuli Khan Sistani was sent against
him, upon which he shut himself up in the fortress of
Badaun. In the course of a few days 'Ali Kuli Khan took
the fort, captured Kambar Diwanag, put him to death,
and sent his head to the Emperor,

But now the most extraordinary event occurred. On

19 4hinad Yadgar, whose history of the reign of
Humayun is generally copied verbatim from 1his work,
here makes a slight variation which is given.
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ihe 8th Rabiu-l awwal'” at sunset, the Emperor ascended
10 the roof of the library, and there stood [for a short
time. As he was descending, the muazzin cried aloud
the summons to prayer, and he reverently sat down ou
the sccond step. When he was getting up again his foot
slippcd, and he fell from the stairs to the ground. The
people in attendance were greatly shocked and the
Emperor was taken up scnseless and carried into the
palacc. Alter a short time he rallied and spake. The
Court physicizms exerted all their powers, but in vain.
Next day he grew worse, and his case was beyond mecdical
help. Shaikh Juli was sent to the Panjab to summon
Prince Akbar. On the 15th Rabi-ul awwal, 963 H. (24th
January, 1556), at the sctting of the sun, he left this
world for Paradise. The date of his decath is given in the
line, “Humayun Badshah az bam uftad.'*

Hec rcigned for more than twenty-live years, and he
was fifty-one years old. His angelic character was adorned
with cvery manly virtue, and in courage and heroism he
excelled all the princes of the time. All the wealth of
Hindustan would not have sufficed to maintain his gene-
rosity. In the sciences of astrology and mathematics he
was unrivalled. He made good verses, and all the learned
and great and good of the time were admitted to his
socicty and passed the night in his company. Great
.decorum was observed in his receptions, and all learned
discussions werc conducted in the most orderly manner.
The light of favour shone upon men of ability and
worth during his reign.  Sucly was his clemency that he
repeatedly pardoned the crimes of Mirza Kamran and
the Chaghatai nobles, when they were taken prisoners
and were in his power. He was particalar about his
ablutions (wazu) and never allowed the name of God to

120 The Tarikli-t Salarin-; Afaghana gives the date 7
7i-l h”](l’ 965 H.

121 4hu-l Fazl observes hat this makes the dale one
year less Lhan it ought to be.—Akbar-nama, vol. i., p. 442.



NIZAMU-D DIN AHUMED 73

pass [rom his tonguc until he had perlormed them.  One
~day he called Mir “Abdu-l Hai, the sadar or chief judge,
by the name of *Abdal.  But when he had gone through
his ablutions he apologized, and said that as Hat was a
name of the Almighty he was unable to use that name
before performing  purification.  Every apparent and
.conccivable virtue was manifest in him. May God have
mercy on him!

Shaikh Juli, who was sent oll to the Panjab during
His Majesty’s illness, obtained an interview with Prince
Akbar at Kalanor. He communicated the fact of the
King's illness, and intelligence of his death soon after
.arrived.  After due observance of the rites of mourning,
the nobles who were in the suite of the Prince, under
~the leading ol Bairam Khan, acknowledged the succession
of the Prince, and so, on the 2nd Rabi'u-s sani, he ascend-
.ed the throne of empire at Kalanor.

SULTAN MUIIAMMAD ’ADALL

Himun was a shopkeeper (bakkal) in the town of
Rewari, in Mewat. He was afterwards supcrintcndcnt
of the markets and director-general of the ariny, but now
he rose still higher, and  came 10 be one of King
*Adali’s chiel advisers. . .

*Adali one day beld a Court in the fort of Gwalior,
and nobles of renown were present. A djerribution of
jagirs was being made and "Adali made an order that
the country of Kanauj, which w5 the jagir of Shah
Muhammad Farmuli, should be (aken from him and
given to Sarmast Khan Surbani. When this was an-
nounced, Sikandar Khan, son of S§hah Muhammad, a
young and daring man, cried oug fiercely, **Things have
~come to pass that they are taking our jagirs away from
us and are giving them to this set of Sarbani dog-scllers.”
His father, Shah Muhammad, was |, ut he forbad his
son to utter such unscemly and hapgpy expressions. But
the son retorted, ‘‘Sher Khan (Sher Shah) once put you
in an iron cage and intended to take your life, but Salim
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Khan interceded for you and was the means of delivering,
you from that peril. Now this Sur faction is determined
upon ruining you, and you do not sce it. These men will
not leave you in peace, and why should we sufler this
degradation?" Hereupon Sarmast Kban Sarbani, who.
was very tall and powerful man, placed his hand in a
false coaxing way upon the shoulder of Sikandar, and
said, ‘“What does all this mean, my lad?” intending to
make him prisoner. But Sikandar guessed his object,
drew a dagger and inflicted such a wound upon the
shoulder of Sarmast Khan that he fell dead at his fect.
He then killed and wounded several others. In the midst
of this scene ’Adali got up and ran into the women’s
apartments. Sikandar, rushed after him, but 'Adali bolted
the door on the inside, and with dificulty escaped. The
nobles of ’Adali who were present drew their swords to-
prevent the escape of Sikandar who, raging like a maniac,
cut down and killed and wounded wherever he went. This
state of affairs went on for an hour or two (yak do gari),
till Ibrahim Khan Sur, the husband of *Adali’s sister,
drew his sword and wounded Sikandar. Others then fell
upon him and despatched him. Daulat Khan Lohani
killed Shah Muhammad Farmuli also with one¢ blow of
his sword.

On the very day of this tragedy it happened that as
Muhammad Farmuli wag going to wait upon ’Adali he
met Taj Khan Kirani, brother of Sulaiman and ’Imad
Kirani, as he was coming out of the fort of Gwalior, after-
having taken leave of the King. They both inquired as
to cach other’s affairs, angd Taj Khan said, “I am going
to retire from this ficld of strife” (m’arika): ‘‘comc with
me, for here all things arc changed.”” Muhammad Tar-
muli did not acquiesce, hut went to pay his visit to
’Adali, when what we have scen happened.

122When Taj Khan fled from Gwalior, he formed

122 Thz':q (17'{.(1 some olher passages have been copied
by the Tarikh-i Daudi and are given in vol. fv. fp. 506,
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designs against Bengal. “Adali hrst sent a force aflter
him, and then marched against hLim in person. The
lhostile forces met near Chhatra-mau, forty kos from Agra
and thirty from Kanauj. and Taj Khan was defecated. He
fled to Chunar, and on his way he took possession of seve-
ral local trcasuries bclonging to ‘Adali, and enriched
himself with their contents. He also seized a troop
(halka) of clephants, onc hundred in number, and went
and joined his Lrothers “Imad, Sulaiman, and Khwaja
Ilyas, who held several districts on the banks of the
Ganges and at Khawaspur Tanda. Open war began, and
>Adali led his army from Gwalior to the banks of the
Ganges, and there [ronted his adversary. One day Bimun
told ’Adali that if he would give him a woop (halka) of
elephants, he would cross the river and take the courage:
out of the Kirani rebel. ’Adali complied with this.
request, and Himun defeated the rebels.

Ibrahim Khan, son of Ghazi Khan Sur, had married
the sister of 'Adali, and was onc of the cousins of Sher
Khan (Sher Shah). His wife lound out that "Adali in-
tended to put him in confinement, so he Hed [ronr
Chunar, and went to his father Ghazi Khan, who held
the government of Bayana and Hindun. "Adali sent 'Isa
Khan Niazi in pursuit of him, and a fight took place near
Kalpi, in which ’Isa Khan was defeated. Ibrahim thew
procecded to Dehli and caused the khuiba 1o be read in
his name. Afterwards he ook possession of Agra and of
several districts. "Adali, upon hearing of these conquests,.
marched against Ibrabim.  On  rveaching the Jumna.
Ibrahim Khan sent a person to ’Adalj, prokmisingfh:lt if
Adali would .scnd to him Rai Husaip Jalwani, Bahadur
Khan Sarwani, called A’zam Humnyun, and some other
great nobles. upon whaose assurances of protection he

507 of the original edition of Elliol-Dawson's History of
India. This original version of the Tahakat seems Pre-
ferable.
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.could depend, he would come in and make his submis-
sion. These nobles were accordingly sent. But Ibrahim
.won them all over to his side, and then declared against
’Adali, who, having no hope of support, returned to
.Chunar. Ibrahim Khan now took the title of Ibrahim
Shah, and assumed the insignia of royalty.

About this time also Ahmad Khan, another nephew
.of Shcr Khan (Sher Shah), who was married to a sccond
sister of *Adali’s, and was one of the territorial amirs of
the Panjab, received the support of Tatar Khan Kansi,
Haibat Khan, and Nasib Khan, who were among the
_principal nobles of Salim Khan’s (Shah’s) time. Thus
supported he assumed the title of ““Sultan Sikandar,” and
led his forces against lbrahim. The rival armies met at
the village of Farra, ten kos from Agra. Sikandar’s army
«id not exceed 10,000 horse, but Ibrahim had 70,000
horse and 200 persons to whom he had given velvet tents,
Dbanners, and kettle-drums.  Sikandar offered peace, upon
.condition of receiving the government of the Panjab.
But 1lbrahim was proud of the great strength and pre-
ponderance of his army, so he rcjected the peaceful over-
tures of Sikandar, and arrayed his army for battle. In
the end Sikandar was victorious, and Ibrahim was com-
pelled to fly to Sambal. Sikandar then became master of
Agra and Dehli.

Intelligence now arrived that the Emperor Humayun
‘had marched from Kabul (o Hindustan, and had taken
Lahore: so Sikandar gathered his forces and went towards
:that city. Ibrahim also collected a new army at Sambal,
.and went in the direction of Kalpi. ’Adali now sent
‘Himun, the bakkal, whe was his wazir, with a large
army, and with 500 war-clephants and artillery, against.
Agra and Dchli.  When Himun rcached Kalpi, he re-
solved to disposc of Ibrahim first, and hastened to meet
him. A grcat battle followed, in which Himun was
wvictorious, and Ibrahim fled to his father at Bayana.
‘Himun followed and invested Bayana, which he besieged
for threc months.
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Sikandar Khan, ruler of Bengal, now raised the.
standard of rebellion, and marched with the forces ol.
that country against Jaunpur, Kalpi and Agra. ’Adali
therefore summoned Himun, who accordingly raised the
siege of Bayana. When he rcached the village of Man-
dakar, six" kos [rom Agra, Ibrahim camc up and attacked
his rcar, but he was deleated and again fled to his father..
From thence he went to  the country of Bhath, and.
fought with the Raja, Ram Chand, who made him pri--
soner.  But the Raja showed him great honour, scated
him upon the throne, and waited upon him as a servant.
Here Ibrahim remained uantil a party ol the wibe of

" Mianas,'2* who dwelt near Raisin, being at enmity with.

Baz Bahadur, the ruler of Malwa, invited Ibrahim to be
their ruler. They drew out  their forces against Baz
Bahadur, and Ibrahim joined them. Durgavati the Rani
of Garha marched from her own country to support him.
But Baz Bahadur hcaring of [lliS, SCNL SOME Persons to
the Rani, and induced her (o relinquish this design and
return home. Upon this defection Ibrahim thought it
inexpedient to tarry longer where he was, so he went Lo
the country of Orissa, one of the dependencies of the
kingdom of Bengal. Here he remained until the year
975 (1567-8), when Sulaiman Kirani took possession  of
-Orissa. Upon the faith of solemn promises he then came
to see Sulaiman, who treacherously caused him to be
slain. )

The victorious Himun continued hijs march and
joined ’Adali. They fought with Muhammad Khan Gau-
ria at the village of Chappar-ghatta, fifteen kos from Agra,
and Muhammad was killed. Thus victorious *Adali went
to Chunar, and sent Himun to Agra and Dehli to oppose
the progress of Humayun.  Sikandar Khan Uzbek,!**

1234 iyibe of Afghans. Briggs’ Firishia, vol. ii, p. 119-

124Sikandar Khan was a descendant of the Uzbek
kings, and was a prominent man in (Jje reign of Akbar--
See Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Akbar?’, vol. i, p. 365.
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Xiya Khan Gang'** and the other nobles who
were in Agra, abandoned the city, and retreated before
him towards Dehli. ’Isa Khan marched against Dehli,
but being cencountered and defeated by Tardi Beg Khan
at Panipat, he was put to death by the Imperial officers.
>Adal: was still at Chunar, when Khizr Khan, son of
Muhammad Khan Gauria, caused the khutba to be
struck under the ttle which he had assumed of Sultan
Bahadur. To cvenge his father, he made war upon
’Adali, and put him to death. Thus terminated the
Afghan rule, and Hind came under the Imperial sway.
*Adali reigned for ncarly three years.

REIGN OF THE EMPEROR JALALU-D DIN MUHAMMAD AKBAR!2®

Ycars of the 1llahi; or, Reign of Akbar.*

1. 27 Rabi’u-l Akhir, 963 10 or 11 March, 1556
2. Y Jumada-l awwal 964 ”» 1557
3. 20 »” 965 »” 1558
4. 2 Jumad-l akhi, 966 » 1559
5. 16 » 967 » 1560
6. 24 » 968 » 1561
7. 5 Rajab 969 » 1562
8. 15 970 » 1563
0.27 971 ” 1564

*This table, as [ar as the 46th ycar, has been drawn
up [rom the Akbar-nama of Abu-l Fazl, which is the
most accurate 9[ the authorities and most consistent with
itself, though it occasional]y shows a slight error, as in
‘the 5th year, which mus¢ have begun on the 13th, not
.the 16th of Jumada-l akhir, The Tabakat and Badauni
go astray at the 22nd yeay, which begun at the end of
984 and cnded on the ]g day of 986 Hijra.

12°Kiye Khan allaineq high rank in Akbar’s reign,
_and appears f‘""‘_l“?"”y in the following pages. See
Blochmamzfs An-i Akbary, yol. i., p. 343.

326He is familiarly calleq Khalija Ilahi.
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48. 6 Shawwal, 1011 10 or 11 March 160%-
49, 17 ’ 1012 ' 1604
50. 28 s 1019 ”» 1605.

Akbar died on the 13 Jumada-s sani, 1014; 13 Oct., 1605.

Shaikh Abu-l Fazi, in his great work entitled Akbar-
na:na, has recorded fully and circumstantially all the
events in the life of God’s vicegerent, from the day of
his birth till the present ycar, the thirty-cighth year of
the Ilahi cra, and the ycar 1002 of the Hijra (1593-4
A.D.). Bui this humble servant of the State, Nizamu-d
din Ahmad Mulasaddi, having written a history ol all
the kings who have raised the banmer of sovercignty in
Hindustan, it is indispensable that he should also write a
history of all the incidents in the lile of the Empcror.
The grcatness of the theme will probably imbuc his
mind with ability to perform his undertaking. The
history of this great Empecror must be the prominent
feature in all books, so that there is little nced of the
present work, but as I have felt it my duty to write a
history of the Sultans of Hindustan, it seems right to
crown my work with a relation of the auspicious reign
of this great Emperor.

It will be remembered that in the histor)' of the
reign of the late Emperor Humayun our narrative had
reached the point where Prince Akbar was sent to the
Siwalik hills along with Bairam Khan Khan-khanan, to
crush Sikandar Afghan. When he reached the pargana
of Kalanor, one of the dependencies of Lahore, the sad
intclligence of the death of the Emperor his father was
brought to him, and plunged him in the deepest sorrow.
Bairam Khan, commander-in-chief, with the concurrence
of the nobles and officers, raised His Highness to the
throne in th.c town of Kalapor at noon-day of Friday, the
2nd of Rabi’us sani'** 963 H. with all due statc and

129 T e MSS- have “Rabi’u-l awwal;’ but this is in-
consisienl will 1w date mentioned elsewhere supra, and
is opposed 1o all the other quthorities.
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ceremony and letters of grace and favour werce sent to all
parts of Hindustan.
FIRST YEAR OF THE ILAHI

The 1lahi is a true solar year beginning with the
Nau-roz'**. The first year of this auspicious era corres-
ponded with Monday, the 27th Rabi'u-l akhir, 965 H.
(10th March, 1556 A.D.).

Among the prominent events of the carly days of the
reign was the rebellion of Shah Abu-l Ma'ali.  This
young man was a descendant of the Saiyids of Turmuz,
and was remarkable both [or his beauty and intelligence.
The late king had a great partiality for him, and this
fostered his pride so that presumptuous ideas got the
mastery over him, and his conduct was marked by some
unscemly actions. The Khan-khanan arrested him, and
was abhout to exccute him; but the young Lmperor was
mercifully disposed and was unwilling that the begin-
ning of his reign should be stained with the execution of
a descendant ol the Saiyids before any crime had been
proved against him. So he placed him in the custody
of Pahlawan Kal-gaz kolwal, and sent him to Lahore.
Abu-l Ma’ali escaped from custody,’?® and the pahla-
wan, in shame for his fault, committed suicide.

So long as Sikandar Alghan was in the field, the
officers of the Emperor were unable to take any mca-
surves For the capture of the lugitive, but sent all their
regular forces against Sikandar. The Imperial forces
encountered the Afghans near the Sjwalik mountains,
and gained a victory which eclicited gracious marks of

1287 fie Persian solar monlhs are ysed in this era.

120 I7e fled to the couniry of (e Galhars, and there
collecting an army. he invaded Kashmir, but was defeal-
ed. Obliged to leave the Gakhay counlry, he went and
hid at Dipalpur, bul was discovered, and sent a prisoner
to the fort of Bayann.—Badauni, vol. i, p. 10.

6
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approval from the Emperor.'s? Sikandar took refuge 1n
the mountains and jungles, and the Imperial forces were
¢ngaged lor six months in hunting him about and en-
deavouring to capture him. Raja Ram Chand,'** Raja
.of Nagarkot, was the most renowned of all the rajas of
the hills, and he came and madec his submission. In
Lonscquencc ol the heavy rains, His Highness left these
parts, and went to Jalandhar, wherc he stayed for five
months.

Tardi Beg Khan, who was one of the most famous
of the nobles of Humayun’s reign, and held an exalted
place in that monarch’s estimation, in the samc week
that the Emperor died, caused the kiutba to be read in
Dehli in the name of the Emperor Akbar. He also, with
the help of Khwaja Sultan 'Ali, wazir and mir-munshi,
who was also miri ’arz and mir{ mal, kept under con-
trol the aflairs of Dehli, and of Mewat and other par-
ganas which had but lately been brought under royal
authority. He sent Mirza Abu- Kasim, son of Prince
Kamran, along with the effects and establishments and
war-clephants of the late Emperor, to his successor, the
Emperor Akbar.

When Humayun marched o Hindustan, he con-
signed the government of Kabul and Ghazni to Mun'im
Khan, one of his chief nobles, and he also made him
guardian (atalik) of his son, Mirza Muhammad Hakim.
He also left there all his ladies. The city of Kandahar
and its dependent territorics were the jagir of Bairam
Khan Khan-khanan. By the kindness of His Majesty
the government of Badakhshan was consigned to Mirza
Sulaiman, son of Khan Mirza, son of Sultan Mahmud,
son of Mirza Sultan Abu Said Gurgan. When the in-

190 The Emperor went as far as Damhari, and Bai-
ram Khan commanded. 7The war lasted three months.
—Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p 22 Badauni, vol. ii., p. 12.

11 dpu-l  Fazl and Firishta call him ““Dharm
.Chand;’’ Badauni “Ram Chand”.
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telligence of the facts (of the death) of Humayun reach-
ed Mirza Sulaiman ambitious designs took hold of him,
and, with his son Mirza Ibrahim, he marched against
Kabul, and laid siege to it. Mun’im Khan wrote a full
yeport ol all the facts of the matter, and sent it to the
Emperor.  But belore his despatch arrived, Akbar had
sent Mulammad Kuli Birlas, and some other nobles, to
Kabul to fetch the ladies who had been lelt there, When
the news of the siege of Kabul arrived, an imperative
farman was issued, directing thesc nobles to make all
haste to Kabul, and  to raise the sicge. When thesc
nobles passed the Nilab (Indus), Mirza Sulaiman saw
that he could effect nothing by hostile means, so he em-
ployed as an intermediary Kazi Khan Badakhshi, who
was onc ol his confidential nobles, and one of the -holy
men of the time, to inform Mun’im Khan that if his
name were recited in the khitba, he would take his
departure.  Mun’im Khan knew that the garrison of the
fort was suflering [rom the protracted siege, so he con-
sented that the name of Mirza Sulaiman should be
mentioned in the list of the titles (zatl i alkab) of His
Majesty the Emperor. When Mirza Sulaiman was in-
formed of this concession, he immediately departed for
Badakhshan.

Soon alter the accession of the Emperor, *Ali Kuli
Khan'?* received che title of K/lan-za)nan and marched
towards Sambal to repress Shadi Khan Alghan, one of
the nobles of Sultan Mubammad . *Adali. When he
xeached the banks of the Rahab, he sent some of his men
over the river with 2000 or 5000 horse to reconnoitre the
encmy. This detachment crossed the river without care
and circumspection, and Shadi Khap, perceiving his
.opportunity, suddenly fell upon them. Many of Khan-
zaman’s men were killed, and many were drowned in
the river. When the Khan reccived intelligence of this,

1z ,A['I K‘uli K]I(Hl was an Uzbek, a”d son of HatdaT
Sultan Shaibani, a staunch adherent of Humayun.
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he consulted with the nobles who were with him, such
as......... , upon the propriety of crossing the river Lo
avenge this disaster. Just at this juncture, letters arriv-
ed from Tardi Beg Khan and other nobles who were in
Dehli,'*® stating that Himun, the wakil of Muhanunad
Khan ‘Adali, had approached Dechli with a large force
and many elephants, intent upon battle, and that they
should bring up their forces with all possible speed..
Khan-zaman and all the [faithful and prudcm nobles
marched off instantly towaids Dechli;  but before they
arrived, Tardi Beg Khan had been defeated. This
matter has been recorded among the incidents ol the
reign ol Sultan 'Adali, and there is no nced to repeat it
here.

When Himun  approached Agra, Sikandar Khan
Uzbek, the governor of that city, was obliged to cvacuate
the place and join Tardi Beg Khan. ‘Abdu-lla Uzbek,
Lal Sulian Badakhshi, *Ali Kuli Andarabi, Mirak Khan
Kolabi, Haidar Muhammad Akhtabegi, and Mirza Kuli
Beg Khan assembled. Maulana Pir Muhammad Shir-
wani also came to Tardi Beg on a mission [rom Bairam
Khan. Thesc all brought reinforcements with them. As
Himun dicew ncar to Dehli, the great nobles led their
forces out of the city, and marshalled them in the field
in sight of the enemy. Sikandar Kban and *Abdu-lla
Khan Uzbek and Lal Sultan Badakhshi who were on the:
right wing, defeated the forces opposed to them. Then
Himun, with @ reserve which he had and some fierce
clephants, made an attack upon the Mughals, and Tardi
Beg Khan, being unable to repel this assault, was oblig--
ed to retreat.  But although Himun had thus. by his tac-
tics ﬂ“_d artifice, prevailed over Tardi Beg Khan, he did
not think of pursuing him. That portion of the enemy’s:
army Wh‘Ch_had been defeated, finding themsclves, to
their surprisc, unmolested, returned to the scene of

18 Akbar had made Tiim governor of Dehli.—Faizi
Sirhindi.



NIZAMU-D DIN AHMED 85

action, and then learned that Tardi Beg Khan had been
discomfited and put to flight. Himun then occupied
Delli, and Tardi Beg Khan and the other nobles pro-
ceeded o the Emperor.  Khan-zaman  joined them at
the town of Sirhind.

The Emperor and his  followcrs were engaged  at
Jalandhar in counteracting the eFforts of Sultan Sikan-
dar. When the intelligence of this disaster reached him,
he appointed Khwaja Khizr Khan, who belonged to the
lincage of the Mughal Sultans, and had married Gulba-
dan Begam, the aunt of the Emperor, 1o oppose Sultan
Sikandar, while he himsell marched to Dehli. Upon his
reaching the town of Sirhind, the deleated nobles waited
apon him. But Khan-khanan, who had the gcnernl
direction of state affairs, had dcemed it desirable to des-
wroy Tardi Beg Khan. So he had summoned!™' him to
his tent, and had caused him 10 be put to death.'™  He
had also placed in confinement Khwaja Sultan Al and
the AMir Munshi and the I\"/l(znjm'-bc:q of Tardi Khan.
When the royal tents were pitched, "Ali Kuli Khan aund
......... were sent lorward with the advanced forces, and
the Empcror ollowed to confront the enemvy.

Himun had gready vaunted his achievemtnts at

_ 1 The word used s ““talbid,” pui 4bu-l Fazl says
it was a Jriendly invitation.

15 Phere hq([ been a longsianding quarvel, aggra-
valed by seclavarn bitierness, belween Bairam Khan and
Tardi Beg. Badauni (ii. 14) savs (hay Bairam Khan got
a kind of permission from the Emperor 1o put  Tardi
Beg to death.  Abu-l Fazl and Fivishia, however, show
that he had some difficully in justifying the acl. Firi-
shia state; that “Iie undersiood from the best informed
men of the times that had Tardi Beg Khan not  been
execuled by way of example, such was he condition of
the Mughal army and the generql jeeling of 1hose
foreigners, that ithe old sceve of Sher Shah would have
been acled over again.’—Briggs, vol. i, p. 186.
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Dchli, and had taken himself the title of Raja Bikrama-
jit.'*¢  He had gathered under his command a mighty
force, and had fifteen hundred!®? war-elephants. With
these he hastened to meet the Tmperial army. He had
sent on his artillery'?® in advance, and a detachment of
the Emperor's army, which had gone forward, fell in
with the artillery at Panipat, and took it at the point of
the sword. When Himun was informed of this disaster,
he was much depressed, but he promised his officers an
increase of their emoluments, and gave to cach onc an
elephant on which to ride and exhibit his devotion. He
himsell mounted an clephant named Hawa (Wind), and
went forth with scowling brow to meet his royal adver-
sary.

On the morning of Friday (2nd) Muharram, 964, H.
(5 November, 1556) the intclligence of his march was
brought in from the advanced guard, and the genc-
rals marshalled their [orces to reccive the attack.
Husain Kuli Beg and ......... other brave officers fought
bravely, and defeated their adversaries. Himun then
advanced with his elephants, and made such a deter-
mined charge on the Imperial army that the left wing

146 The MS. of the E. I. Lib., which ofien conlains
a word or two more than the other MSS. which have
bheen used, here observes parenthelically, “This Bikram-
jit was a raja, who held dominion over ihe grealer part
of Hindusian, and the Hindus belicve that one thou-
sand six hundred years have passed since the time of his
ascendancy.”’

WO AlfD augments  the number o “‘nearly three
thousand, a number (hgy for many a long vyear had not
heen galhere(l logether in India,’ and adds that more
than ¢ thousand were cqptured. Abu-l Fazl (1. p. 50)
and Badauni (ii. p. 16) say that 1500 were captured.

s CIWhich was obtained from Turkey: az mama-
lik-i Rum nishan mi-dad.”’- -Faizi Sivhindi.
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was shaken.’®™ But by the cxertions of the brave arch-
crs and by resolute use of spear and sword, firmness was
restorcd. Himun then drew off his forces, and made an
assault upon the centre, which was under the command
of Khan-zaman. He led all his clephants against the
Khan’s men, who received him with showers of arrows.
An arrow pierced the eye of Himun, and came out at the
back of his head. When those who were fighting under
him saw his condition, their hands were paralyzed, and
they broke. The Imperial forces pursued them, and cut
many to picces.

The elephant on which Himun was riding, whemn
Himun fell wounded in the howda and its driver was
killed,’*® made ofl towards the jungle. It so happened
that Shah Kuli Khan fell in with this clephant, and
made his own driver mount it. The driver then per-
ceived that there was a man lying wounded in the
howda, and upon cxamination this person proved to be
Himun himself. Shah Kuli Khan, fully alive to the
importance of his discovery, drove the elephant, along
with several others which had been captured in the
field, to the presence of the Emperor. Bairam Khan
Khan-khanan then put Himun to death with his own
hand.1!

1 Aecording 1o Abu-l Fazl, Himun divided his
army into three divisions. He himself commanded the
centre, which was composed of 500 elephants and
20,000 Afghan and Rajput horse,

140 Abu-l Fazl states that Himun’s own driver, in
fear of his life, betrayed his masier.—Akbar-nama, vol.
ii., p. 49.

vl Badauni, Abu-l Fazl and Faizi all siale that
Bairain Khan killed Himun after having failed lo in-
duce the Emperor to do so. Bairam Khan said, accord-
ing lo Badauni, *“ ‘This is your first war (ghaza), prove
your sword on this infidel, for it will pe a merilorious
deed.” Akbar replied, *He is now no better than a dead
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Sikandar Khan Uzbcek, according to orders, pursued
the fugitives to Dehli and sent many of them to hell.
Next day the army marched [rom Panipat, and without
balting anywhere went straight to Dehli. All the inhabi-
tants of the city of every degree camc lorth to give His
Majesty a suitable reception, and to conduct him with
due honour into the city. He remained there one month.
Intelligence was brought in that all the children and
dependents of Himun, with his treasures and effects,
were in Mewat; so Maulana Pir Muhammad Shirwani
was sent thither. He captured all the persons, «nd took
possession of all the treasures and valuables, and con-
ducted them to the foot of the throne.''2

SECOND YEAR OF THE REIGN
The beginning ol this ycar corresponded with Tues-
day, the 9th Jumadal awwal, 964 H. (10 March, 1557).
Intelligence arrived that Khizr Khan Khwaja''? had
been defeated''' by Sikandar Afghan; the LEmperor

man, how can I strike him? If he had sense and
strengih, I would try my sword.” Then, in the presence
of them all, the Khan, as a warrior of the faith, cui him
down with lis sword.”” Himw's head was sent to Kabul,
and lis body lo Dehli, (o pe exposed over the gales—
Akbar-nama, wvol. ii, p. 5;; Badawni, vol. ii., p. 16;
Tarihh-i Alfi; Akbar-namg of Faizi Sirhindi, See also
supra.

112 i adds that many Afghans were killed, and
that Mewal was annexed to the Imperial dominions.

113 Governor of Lahoye.—-T. Alfi.

MEAL the village of  Chamivari, lwenty kos from
Lahore—Badauni, vol. j; p- 17. According to Abu-l
Fazl, il was only an advanced force of 2000 men thal was
defeated. But still the Emperor was informed by all who
came from lhe Pan]:ab that the whole force of the Em-
pire would {)e requured 1o put down Sikandar.—Alkbar-
nama, vol. i, P. 58.
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aherelore sct out for Lahore, to oppose the victor. When
he reached Jalandbar, Sikandar fell back to the Siwalik
‘hills, and the royal forces pursued him to Disawa,''® and
from thence to Damhari. 1t now became obvious that
Sikandar mcant to retreat, and had no intention of
fighting. A party of distinguished nobles was sent in
pursuit, and by rapid marches came up to the camp of
Sikandar. He then shut himself up in the fort of Man-
kot.''% The Imperial army followed, and laid siege to
the fort. Day by day the batteries were advanced, and
the garrison was closely prested.

At this time Her Highness Mariam Makani, mother
of the Emperor, with other royal ladies, arrived in
Hindustan from Kabul, to the great satistaction of the
Empcror. Muhammad Kuli RBirlas, Shamsu-d din
‘Muhammad Khan Atka, and the other great nobles who
had been sent to assist Mun'im Khan at Kabul against
Mirza Sulaiman, at the same time rewurned to Hindus-
tan to the service of their master. When the ladies were
about the distance of a stage from the Imperial camp.
the Emperor left Bairam Khan in command of the
army, and went lorth to mect them, his heart receiving
-great comflort [rom the reunion.

Alter a prolonged siege,''” Sikandar Alghan, being
Dhard pressed, requested that some  confidential noble

1A Diwaja’ in o some copies.  Badauni says (vol. ii.,
p. 18) “Disawa and Dilonir.””  The  Akbar-nama (vol.

it., p. 61) “Dehsuna and Damhari

11 consists of four strong lowers, built by (Sul-
dan) Salim Khan Afghan, when he parred against the
Ghakars?'—Akbar-nama, p. 62; T jifi; 4kbar-nama of
Faizi. Sec supra.

VWiNearly six months, and aftey mounds (sarkobs)
and balteries had been broight clos, wp.—Alfi. Badauni
cadds (vol. ti. p. 18) thal grain had become very scarce in
the fort, and that deserlions daily tool place.
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might Dbec sent in to arrange terms with him.''®  The
Empecror commissioned Atka Khan to perform this
duty. When he entered the fortress, Sikandar addressed
him in very deprecatory terms, confessing that he had
been very bold and presumptuous, and that he knew
he had no chance in resistance.  He begged that he
might be permitted to retire to Bengal, promising to
remain faithful in his allegiance, and offering to leave
his son as a hostage. Atka Khan returned and reported
these proposals, through Pir Muhammad Khan, to the
Khan-khanan, and upon his communicating them to the
Emperor, they were graciously approved. Sikandar ac-
cordingly sent his son, Abdu-r Rahman, along with
Ghazi Khan Sur, and he also sent with them several war-
clephants and various articles of tribute. So on the 27th
Ramazan, 964, the fort was surrendcred to the royal
forces.’® On the 2nd Shawwal the army marched on its
return towards Lahore. After four months and fourteen
days the army marched from Lahore on its return to
Dehli.

One day, while the army was lying before Mankot,
His Majesty had two elephants, named respectively
Fatuha and Bakhsha, brought out to fight for his amuse-
ment; and as the animals pressed cach other, they ap-
proached very close to the tent of Khankhanan. It so
happened that the Khan was ill, and confined to his bed
with boils. The suspicion came into his mind that the
elephants were perhaps directed thither by the roval
servants, and this idea was encouraged by' the pecople
who were around him. Sp he sent a person to the Em-
peror to inquire what faule his detractors had imputed

M3Abu-l Fazl and Fajzi say that the defeal and
death of 'Adali had ils effect in bringing about the sur-
render.—Akbar-nama, vol, i;., Pp. 72-73. See supra.

19Sikandar  received the districls of Bihar and
Kharid in jagu.  He died two years later—Akbar-
nama, vol. ii., p. 73.
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to him, that he should have been subjected to this mark
of the royal displeasure.'*® After returning to Lahore
Khan-khanan still harped upon this matter; and sending
for Shamsu-d din Muhammad Atka, he told him his sus-
picion, that this unkind action of His Majesty had been
instigated by him. When Atka Khan heard this charge,
he was much distressed: so he took all his sons with him
to the house of Khan-khanan, and Dby taking an oath
upon the Kuran removed his suspicions.'™!

After four months and [ourtecen days. the army
marched'** from Lahore to Dehli. Upon reaching
Jalandhar a halt was made, and Khan-khanan was
married to Sultan Begam, daughter of Mirza Nuru-d din
who was a4 son of the sister of the late Emperor
Humayun,  The Emperor Humayun, during his lile:
time, had promised her to the Khan-khanan, and now,
under the orders of the Emperor Akbar, the union was
accomplished. Khan-khanan gave a splendid banquet
to which he invited His Majesty, who was graciously
pleased to honour it with his presence. The Khan was.
profuse in his generosity on the gccasion. At the begin-
ning of the third year of the Ilahi, the armv recommenc-
ed its march for Dehli. ’

THIRD YFAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year coincided with Tuesday,
20th Jumada-l awwal, 965 H. (10th March, 1558). and
on the 25th  Jumadas sani Hijs Majesty arrived at
Dehli. He then turned his attention to the concerns of

wodecording 1o Abu-l Fazl, Bairam Khan made his
communication through Maham Anka (Akbar-nama, vol.
ii.,, p. 74). ‘“The Emperor assured him that it was acci-
dental ’—Alfi.

151 This paragraph is omilled iy one MS.. but 1he
“T. Alfe tells the slory in strict agreement with this.

15209 the 15th Safar, 965 H.__Akbar-nama. vol. ii.,
p. 79.
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.his subjects and army, and justice and mercy held a pro-
-minent place in his councils. The Khan-khanan, in con-
.cert with the ministers and nobles of thc State, used to
.attend twice a week in the diwan-khanali, and transact
‘business under the directions and commands of His
Majesty.

Infatuation of Khan-zaman for one of the royal troopers

In this year Musahib Khan, son of Khwaja Kalan
Beg, onc of the principal nobles of the late LEmperor,
was put to death by order of the Khan-khanan, because
e had shown great ill-feeling and malice towards the
Khan.

One day in this year His Majesty went out riding
-on an clephant called Lakhna, and as he was going along.
the animal rushed after another clephant. It so hap-
spened that he came to a ditch into which he stumbled,
and the Emperor was thrown from his scat on the neck
-of the animal, but his foot was caught in the rope'™
which was tied round the beast's neck. The man who was
-riding behind him came to the ground, but His Majesty
.clung to the rope until a number of persons collected
.and released his Joot. The elephant extricated himself
by his own strength, and His Majesty again mounted
him and returned home. After the expiration of six
months the Emperor embarked in a boat and fell down
to Agra, where he arrived on the ‘17th Muharram,
966 H. (30[1} Oct., 1558), in the third year of the Ilahi.'?t

Onc of the most important incidents of this year
was that relating to Mauluna Pir Muhammad Shirwani.
‘The Pir was the general manager (wakil-i mutlak) of the

VAWhich in Hindi they call  “kawana.”—Akbar-
nama, vol. i, p.90. It s ihe band in which the driver
fixes s jeet.

138 He took up his vesidence in the citadel (ark) of
the city which was called Badal-garh.”’—Akbar-nama,
wvol. ii., p. 95.
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Khan-khanan,' and all the business of the State puass-
ed through his hands. He was the person to whom the
nobles and oflicers had w0 make their applications, and
of the many, high and low, who attended at his door,
he admitied hardly any one. His temper now became:
so arrogant and perverted that for some days he would
not come out ol his house. The Khan-khanan went to
call upon him as upon a sick person. The slave asked
the Khan-khanan to wait until he had made known his
wish to the Pir. This greatly incensed the Khan-
khanan, When Pir Muhammad was informed of what
had passed, he rushed out, and made many apologies to
the Khan-khanan, who told him how the slave had re-
fused him admission. The Pir made the excuse that
the slave did not know him. Khan-khanan asked him
how he knew what the slave thought. But for all that
had passed, when  the Khan-khanan went in, his
servants were not permitted o attend him, excepting
Tahir Mubammad Sultan, Al faraghat, who made
his way in to look alter his master. The Khan-khanan
sat for a while; but when he came out, he thought over
this conduct of Pir Muhammad. After a few days he
sent Khwaja Aminu-d  daula  Mahmud, subsequently
Khwaja-i  Jahan, Mir “Abdu-lla  Bakshi. Khwaja Mu-
hammad Husain Bakhshi, and several other of his
lollowers to Pir Muhammad Khan, with this message::
“Formerly you were a poor student, and came to-
Kandahar in a needy, forlorn condition; but I perceiv-
ed some signs of excellence in you, and remembered
some old services. I therefore advanced you Lo the dig-

wspadauni relates that the Ehan-khanan and Pir
Muhammad were one day out hunting together, and’
that the former being hungry, the Pir enlertained him
and his suite. To the greal astonishment of the Khan
Pir  Muhammad's lunting equi'paqe supplied thirty
(three?) hundred goblels of sherbet and eight hundred
dishes of food.—Badauni, vol. ii, p. 26,
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pity of Khan and Sultan. But your nature is unable to
bear this greac advancement, and the bad points in your
character get the mastery of you. I therefore think it
advisable o deprive you for a time of royal distinctions
and dignity, so that you may come to your proper sen-
ses. You must return your banner, kettle-drum, and all
other marks of honour.” So all signs of dignity were
immediately taken away [rom him, and he became sim-
ple Pir Muhammad. Some days afterwards he was taken
to the lort of Bayana, under Khan-khanan’s orders, and
{from thence was sent to Mecca; but he procccded to
Gujarat, and there remained until after the fall of
Bairam Khan, when he returned to Court.

The office of vakil to Khan-khanan, which was thus
saken from Pir Muhammad, was given to Haji Muham-
mad Sistani, who was one of the Khan’s servants. At
this time the dignity of Sadarat-i mamalik (office of Lord
Chiel Justice) was conferred upon S$haikh Gadai, son of
Shaikh Jamal Kambu of Dehli, through the interest of
Khan-khanan, who remembered the kindness which he
had reccived from the Shaikh during the time of his
exile in Gujarat.'»® The honour thus conferred gave the
Shaikh prccedence over the grandees (akabir) of Hindus-
tan and Khurasan. At the same period also that pat-
tern of great men, Mir ’Abdu-l Latif Kazwini, was ap-
pointed tutor to His Majesty, and His Majesty used
often to read with him ghazgls in mystic language.!®*

The fort of Gwalior was celebrated for its height
and strength, and had always been the home of great
rajas. After the time of Salim Khan (Islam Shah) the
fort had been placed in the charge of Suhail, onc of his
ghulams, by Sultan Muhammad ’Adali. When the
thronc of Akbar had been cstablished at Agra, Habib

155 4ccording to Abu-l Fazl he exercised great influ-
ence over Bawam Khan, and this appointment had a
:balefui effect—Akbarnama, vol. ii., p. 109.

197 gazalhai lisan Wl pish-i mir mikhwanand.
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'Ali Sultan, Maskud ’Ali Kor, and kiya Khan were sent
to take the fort.  They invested it for some days, and
the garrison being in distress surrendered.'*®

FOURTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year corresponded with
Friday, the 2nd Jumadal akhir, 966 H. (10th March,
1559 AD.). In this year Khan-zaman was sent to reduce
Jaunpur, the capital of the Sharkiya kings, which was
now in possession of the Afghans. He accordingly
marched thither with a large force, and having won
great victories, he annexed that country'?® to the Impe-
rial dominions. In this year Habib ’Ali Khan was sent
against the fort of Rantambhor. During the rule of
Sher Khan Afghan this fort was under the charge of Haji
Khan, one of his ghulams, and this Haji Khan had now
sold the lort to Rai Surjan,’% 3 yelation (az khishan) of
Rai Udi Singh, who held great power in these parts. He
had brought all the parganas under his rule, and had
enforced his authority. Habib *Ali, with his army, in-
vested the fort, and ravaged all the ncighbourhood; the
amirs then deparled to their jagirs.

Shaikh Muhammad Ghaus arrived at Agra from
Gujarat; but as a memoir of the Shaikh is given among
the memoirs of the shaikhs of the age in this work, it is
unnecessary to dilate upon the subject here. To be
briel, in the year 966, the Shaikh arived with his dis-
ciples and a large party at Agra. and was honoured with
a royal reception. But there was ill-fceling between him
and Shaikh Gadai, and Shaikh Gadaj held great ascend-
ancy over Khan-khanan; the consequence  was that
Shaikh Mubammad did not receive that attention from
the Khan-khanan that he had expected. Hc was greatly
annoyed at this, and went off to Gwalior, which was his

158 In Rabi'ul-akhir—T. Alfi. See supra.
159 dnd  Benarves.”—T. Alfr.
1908¢e Blochmann's Ain-i Akbari, vol. i. p- 409-
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place of rcsidence, and there remained until the end of
his days, discharging the duties of a Shaikh. His Majes-
ty settled upon him onc kror (of tankas?) as a pension.

At this time, while the Court was at Agra, Bahadur
Khan,'®! brother of Khan-zaman, marched o cffect the
conquest of Malwa, which had formerly belonged to the
Khilji monarchs, but which had been brought into sub-
jection by Baz Bahadur, son of Shuja, Khan Afghan.'®*
He had reached the town of Siri when the agitation
arose about Bairam Khan, and under the orders of the
Khan he returned.

FIFTH YEAR OF THLE REIGN

The Dbeginning ol this year was Saturday, 16th
_]umada-l akhir, 967 H. (10th March, 1560 A.D.). The
general management of Imperial affairs was under the
direction of Bairam Khan; but there were envious
malignant men, who were striving to ingratiate them-
selves in His Majesty’s favour, who lost no opportunity
of speaking an ill word 10 pervert the mind of the Em-
peror. Prominent among these men was Adham Khan,
who being the son of Maham Anka,'®® held a higher
position than all the other courtiers. In accord with
his mother, he constantly showed his malice; but Khan-

Wik, p., 328.

1621, p., #28.

164 fiis name has been printed in Firishia, Badaunt,
and other works as “Atga,’ and the translator of
Firishta has accordingly  called ““ Malam — Atka, ”
the ‘father’ instead of <“mother” of Adham Khan.
Firishta’s explanation is yscful. He says that “‘a nurse’s
husband and her male relations ave called ‘Atha’; the
welnurse fierself, in Twrki, is called Anha (or according
to the pronunciation marked by the Calcutta Chaghatai
Dictionary  “‘anagah™y; 4  foster brother is iermed
“Koka (or, with the affix of wunity, ‘“‘Kokaltash,”
which Abu-l Fazl writes “Gokaltash’).  Maham Anka
was Akbar's wel-mwrse, and, as Blochmann quotes,
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khanan’s wisdom and ability were so manifest, that
Adham’s ill-natured observations did not meet with the
royal approval. But at length, on the 8th Jumada-s
sani, 967 H., His Majesty crossed the river Jumna on
a hunting expedition, and Khan-khanan remained
behind at Agra in charge of the government. His
Majesty reached the town of Sikandar, half way to
Dehli. At this time Shahabu-d din Almad Khan
Naishapuri'® held the government of Dehli, and Her
Highness Mariam Makani, mother of the Emperor, was
in that city. Maham Anka, who was related to
Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan,!%s settled in her own mind
that the best thing she could do was to incite the Em-
peror to proceed to Dechli, where, in collusion with
Shahabu-d din Ahmad, she (Anka) might settle what

“she altended on lum from the cradie 1ll after his acces-
sion.”’ In the ‘Akbar-nmama’ her position and the in-
fluence she exercised are made verAy apparent. She was
Akbar’'s nwrse (see supra) and when he grew up she was
the chief of his harem. She exercised great influence
over him and in the direciion of public affairs.  Her
share an bringing about the fall of Bairam Khan appears
in the text, and after that event she became, according
to Abu-l Fazl, the governing spirit and real minister. 1t
does not appear who was hev husband, but she was re-
tated lo Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan. Blochman
says of Adham Khan, her son, thai “ihe name of his
father is unknown: he is evidmu[y a royal bastard.”’
There is « mysiery aboul lhe paternjiy, bul this slale-
menl seems incpnsislen[ with the 1‘expécl[ul lterms used
by Abu-l Fazl in speaking of the lady. Some passages
relating to this remarkable woman will be found among
the Extracls from the ‘Akbar-nama See Briggs' Firish-
ta, vol. ii., p. 211. Blochmanw’s ‘4iy; Akbm‘:’ki p. 325.

161See Blochmann's Ain-i Akbari, yol. i., p. 332.

YSThis sentence is found only in (he MS. of the
East India Library.

7
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was the best course to pursue. In [urtherance of this
plan, she represented to the Emperor that Her Highness
Mariam Makani was in a weak ailing state, and had a
great desire o scc him. 'This statement distressed the
Emperor, and he determined to go on to Dechli.'".
Shahabu-d din came out in statc to mecect His Majesty,
and was graciously received.

Maham Anka, in agreement with Shahabu-d din,
seized every opportunity of caying something to set the
mind ol the Emperor against Bairam Khan. Thus,
she'®? insinuated that so long as Bairam Khan was in
power, the Emperor would have no will of his own over
the aflairs ol State,—that the whole power was in the
Khan's hands, and His Majesty was under his control.
At length she said that when Khan-khanan discovered
that she had been the cause of the Emperor’s proceed-
ing to Delhi, he would have a grudge against her, and
that :he was quite unable to contend against his ani-
mosity. She therefore begged His Majesty to give her
lcave to proceed to Mecca, so that at the holy city she
might offer up prayers for His Majesty in absence, ins-
tecad of serving him in presence. The assiduous atten-
tion of Maham Anka had won the regard of the
Emperor, and he would not listen to the suggestion of
separation [rom her. He said he would request Khan-
khanan to overlook her offence, and he sent a message
to the Khan to this effecc:  “As I have come all this
way without consulting you, my attendants have fallen
under your suspicion. Now you must make yourself
quite at case about them, so that you may continue to
serve me with a tranquil mind.” Shahabu-d din Ahmad
was very vigilant and cautious in his proccedings. He
began to strengthen the fortilications and  took every

lm;“.[-]c- reached Dehli on the 28th Jumada-l akhir.”’

17T he verb throughout this passage is in the plural,
but the conlext makes it clear that Maham Anka is the
u_nex/)rgsscd nominalive.
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precaution to get a control over State affairs: all the while
exerting himself, in concert with Mahwm Anka, to set
the attendants of the Emperor against the minister.

Khan-khanan, on recciving the Emperor’s message,
sent Khwaja Aminu-d din Mabmud Haji, Muhammad
Sistani and Tarsun Beg,'®® who held important offices to
Dehli, 10 wait upon His Majesty, with this statement:
"“The devotion and loyalty ol your servant would never
allow him to do anything to any of the State
against His Majesty’s wishes; for nought but kindness
and favour is due o all those who faithfully discharge
their duties.”’

The royal cars had Dbeen filled with injurious
stories and statements  against Khan-khanan, so the
Khan’s message did not receive His Majesty’s approval,
and the messengers were sent back. When the report of
His Majesty’s  displeasure with Khan-khanan became
publig, all men turned their backs upon him, and their
laces towards the Emperor. Among the frst who were
admitted 1o royal favour was Kiya Khan Gang.'®?
Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan, with the assistance of
Mabam Anka, inspired every one who came to Court
with the hope of receiving dignities and jagirs suitable
to their condition.

Khan-khanan had long entertained a desire to go on
pilgrimage to the holy places. He informed the amirs
and khans who still held to him of (he project he had
formed, and then quitted the Tmperial service. He sent
along with these men Bahadur Khan, whom he had
«called [rom Malwa, and leaving Agra'™® he procccdcd to-

198See Blochmanw's “Ain-i Akbayi? vol. i. pp. 342,
374.

197h, . 343.

1"He left Agra for Nagor on the 121l Rajab, and
on reaching Bayana he libervated Shal, Apu-l Ma'ali, and
Muhammad Amin Diwana, directing (hem to proceed lo
the Emperor. Bul, says Abu-l Fazl, Lis object in selling
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wards Nagor on his pilgrimage to the holy places. \‘\’lu;n..
he arrived at Bayana, he set at liberty Muhammad Amin
Diwana, who was there conlined, and sent him to Court.
As soon as intelligence of Khan-khanan's departure from
Agra arrived, Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan and Maham
Anka represented to His Majesty that he had left Agra
with the intention of attacking the Punjab. His Majesty
then sent Mir ’Abdu-l Latit to the Khan-khanan with
this message:  ““As I was [ully assured of your honesty
and fidelity, I lefe all important affairs of State in your
charge, and thought only of my own pleasurc. I have
now determined to take the reins of government inio
my own hands, and it is desirable that you should now
make the pilgrimage to Mecca, upon which you have
been so long intent. A suitable jagir out of the parganas
of Hindustan shall be assigned for your maintcnance,
the revenues of which shall be transmitted to you by
your agents.”’

When Mir "Abdu-l Latif communicated this mes-
sage to Khan-khanan, he listened attentively, and having,
parted [rom the Mir, he left Mewat on his way to Nagor.
Of all his followers therc now remained with him only
Wali Beg Zu-l Kadar, his sons Husain Kuli Beg and
Ismail Kuli Beg, who were relations of his, Shah Kuli
Mahrim, Husain Khan his sister’s son, and his son-in-
law Mahdi Kasim Khan, Upon reaching Nagor, he sent.
his banncr, kettle-drums, and all other marks of nobility
to the Empceror by the hands of Husain Kulj Beg. The
Emperor had left Dehli, and was procecding towards the
Panjab.'’t  He had reached the pargana of Jhajhar
'when Husain Kuli Beg waited upon him. Among the
persons present (with the Beg) was Shah Abu-l Ma'ali,
who being mounted on horse-back, endeavoured to over-
take His Majesty, Thijg greatly offended the Emperor,

free such{ turbulent persons was oniy to foment distur-
bances.—" Akbar-nama, o, ;. p. 126.
.17
171 “Nagor."—Akbarnama, vol. i, p. 126.
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avho ordered the culprit into confinement, and placed
him in the custody of Shahabu-d din Ahmad. ‘The sur-
render of the banner and the other insignia of nobility
gratified the Emperor.

Pir Mubhammad Khan Shirwani, whom the Khan-.
khanan had banished [rom the country and sent to
Mecca, had waited in Gujarat lor the proper season (ot
sailing). On hcaring of the disgracc of the Khan-
khanan, he returned to Court with all possible specd. He
met with a very gracious reccption, and was honourced
with the title, “*Nasiru-l Mulk”, as well as with a banner
and kettle-drums. He was then sent with a force to
hasten Khan-khanan’s departure for Mecca, and accord-
ingly marched after him. Afier this His Majesty rcturn-
ed to Dechli, and a fariman was issued, summoning
Mun'im Khan from Kabul.

As Mal Dco Raja of Joudhpur held a strong and
threatening posiLion in the way o Gujarat, with the
intention of attacking Bairam Khan, the Khan delayed
his movements, and eventually  marched [rom Nagor
towards Bikanir. Rai Kalyan Mal and his son Rai
Sing,'*® who were the zamindars of that couniry, receciv-
ed him with great Kkindness, and (reated hilm most
hospitably. After staving there a [ew days. and resting
from the antigucs ol the journey, he lcarnt that Pir
Muhammdd Khan had been seng o pursue him, and
this grcaly annoyed and distressed him.  Some evil-
minded persons, having found thejy opportunity, played
upon the feclings of the Khan-khapan, and inciting him
to rebellious acts, he went towards t]ye Panjab.

When he arrived at the fore of "Faparhindh (Sirhind),
which was the jagir of Sher Muhammad Diwana, onc of

12They belonged to the Rathoys of Bikanir, and
will frequently appear in the following pages- See
Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Akbari,” wvol. i, p. 357,
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his old scivants,'"® to whom he had shown great kind-
ness, in full confidence of his faithlulness, Khan-khanan,
left there his son Mirza Khan (Abdu-r Rahim), who was
then in the third vear of his age, but who is at the pre-
sent day cexalted o the dignity of Khan-Khunan und
sipah-salar (commandcr-in-chief). He also el his
females and property, and proceeded on his course. Sher
Muhammad thercupon appropriated all the property,
and treated the dependents of the Khan-khanan with:
grcat indignity. The Khan-khanan was in the pargana
of Dipalpur when he was informed of these proceedings.
Hec sent his diwan Khwaja Muzaflar "Ali (who after-
wards became Muzaffar Khan'™') along with Darwesh
Mulhammad Uzbek to expostulate and intercede witle
Sher Muhammad but the latter seized Muzalfar *Ali, and
sent him prisoner to the Emperor. Sorely troubled by
these acts, the Khan went on to Jalandhar.

On the Empcror being informed of Khan-khanan’s
advance towards the Panjab. he despatched Shamsu-d
din Muhammad Khan Atka,'"® his son Yusul Khan,'7¢
Husain Khan a relation of Shahabu-d din Ahmad Khan.
and a body of nobles to the Panjab. When the royal
forces rcached the town of Dagdar,'"” and proceeded
from thence to the pargane of Kona,'™ they hemmed in
Khan-khanan, so that he was obliged to fight. Compell-
ed to action, he drew up his forces, and confgpnted the
royal army. A sharp action ensucd., with considerable

173 Badauni (vol. ii., p. 40y calls iim the adopted son
(pisari khwandah) of Khan-khanan.

1" Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Ajbari’, vol. i., p. 348.

175Blochmann’s ‘Aini Ahbar?®, vol. ii., p. 321.

156D, . 325.

177In the vicinily of Jalandhar, belween the Satlej
and Biyah”—Akbar-Nama, vol. ii., p. 140.,

178 Ba(la.zmz'. (p- 40) calls it “Kanur” Abul Faz,
“Konajur”. Faizi savs “Konachur”, one of the villages
of ‘pargana’ Rahun.
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loss to both sides,’™® and Khan-khanan, being defcated,
fled towards the Siwalik hills. Wali Beg Zu-l Kadar and
his son Isma’il Kuli Beg (who now holds a position
among the great nobles), Ahmad Beg, Ya'kub DBeg
Hamadani, and all his brothers, were taken prisoners..
and great booty fell into the hands of the royal troops.
This victory was gained in the fifth vear of the Ilahi,
agrecing with 967 A.H.

After Shamsu-d din Mubammad Khan Atka had
marched for the Panjab, the Emperor left Khwaja
’Abdu-l Majid Harawi (who had been admitted to the
position of a minister) (sithi wuzara), and had heen
honoured with the title of Asaf Khan'f® jn charge of
Dehli, and on the 2nd Zil ka'da. 967, himself marched
to Panjab. He placed Husain Kuli Beg, son of Wali
Zu-l Kadar, by way ol precaution, in custody of Asaf
Khan, with directions to treat him generously, and do
him no harm. When the Emperor reached Jalandhar,
Mun’im Khan, who had been summoned from Kabul,
arrived,’®! and was accompanied by Mukim Khan,
sister’s son of Tardi Beg Khan, and several other amirs.
Mun'im Khan was raised to the dignity of minister
(wakalat), and reccived the titdle of Khan-khanan, and
the nobles in his company received [avours and honours
suitable to their respective positions.

" According lo Abu-l Faxi and Faizi, the Imperial
forces were al firsi repulsed and (he viclory was gained
only by the greal gallantry and desperate exertions of the
Imperial generals.

1804saf was the ‘wazd” of Sulaiman, and proverbial
for his wisdom. See Blochmanw’s ‘Aini Akbari’, vol. i.,
pp. 366, 368.

WiccQpn the 15th Zi-l ka'da _—_<qkbar-nama’, vol.
i, p. 143. Mukim Khan afterwards became Shuja’al
Khan. See Blochmanw's ‘Ain-i Ahbari’, vol, i., p- 371
Badauni says the meeling was al Lud},,‘)‘a,m___—Bndauui,
vol. ii, p. 43.
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At this placc Akbar reccived the intelligence of the
victory gained by Shamsu-d din Mubammad Khan.
Those who had been taken prisoners in that engage-
men were brought into the royal presence captive and
forlorn, and werc commitied to safe custody. One ot
the number, Wali Beg, who had reccived a severe
wound, died in prison. So his head was cut off and sent
to Dchli. The Emperor then marched onwards toward
the Siwalik hills,’s? in pursuit of the Khan-khanan. He
reached the neighbourhood of Talwara, a district in the
Siwalik, be]onging to Raja Gobind!'** Chand, where the
Khan-khanan had sought refuge. A party of adventur-
ous soldiers dashed [orward into the hills, and surround-
ing the placc put many of the defenders to the sword.
Sultan Husain Jalair was Killed in the action. When
they brought his head into the presence of the Khan-
khanan, in a burst of fccling he exclaimed, ‘“This life
of minc is not worth so much that a man like this should
be killed in my delence.”” Depressed and anxious, the
Khan instantly sent one of his followers, Jamal Khan, to
the Emperor with this message: ‘I deeply repent my
decds, which have not been entirely under my own con-
trol; but if T am favoured with the royal clemency, I
will throw the veil of oblivion over my misdeeds, and
will present myself in your presence, and hope for your
forgiveness.”

When this message was brought to the ears of the
Emperor the recollection of old services rose up in his
memory, and he gave orders that Maulana ’Abdu-lla Sul-
tanpusi, who had received the title of Makhdumu-l Mulk,

182 He first went 1o Lahore, which he reached on the
26th Zi-l hijja—Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 145.

80 Abu-l Fazl says: “Raja Ganes of Talwara, a
strong place in the midst of the Siwalik hills;” and,
according Lo him, Ihe royal forces had a good deal of
fighting wil  the hill people.—Akbar-nama, wvol. ii.,

p. 146.
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should proceed, with several other attendants of the
Court, to Khan-khanan, and having assured him of the
Emperor’s kindly feeling, should bring him to his pre-
sence.'  When the Khan-khanan approached the royal
camp, all the amirs and khans went out, by the Emperor’s
order, to meet him, and conducted him to the Emperor
with cvery mark of honour. On his coming into the
10yal  presence, the Khan placed his sad countenance
upon the ground of supplication, and craved forgiveness
for his offences. The Emperor reccived him with the
most princely grace. and presented him with a splendid
robe of honour. Two days afterwards he gave him per-
mission to depart on a pilgrimage to Mecca'®® and the
holy places. The royal camp then moved on its return
10 Dechli, and the Emperor went towards Hisar-Firozah
hunting.

Khan-khanan, with his people, took the road to
Gujarat. He reached the city of Pattan, in Gujarat, and
there vested for some davs. This city was then under the
government of Musa Khan Lodi Puladi. Khan-khanan
went about examining the city, and onc day he went out
to the Kolabi (lake), a place within sight of the city, and
famous for Sahasnak.’®®  They call it in the Hindi lan-
guage Nara. A temple Ranamand, like a thousand tem-
ples, stood there, and gave it celebrity.  After visiting this
vlace, he went about (the lake) in a boat. When he dis-
embarked and returned home, an Afghan, named Muba-

18 Badauni (vol. it., P. 44) savs it was Munw’im Khan
who conducied him lo Lhe Em-perér, and that he placed
all his tents and atiendants at ), fallen minister’s dis-
posal.

185 According to Badauni (vol. ., p. 44) the Emperor
furnished him with money, and (he nobles, great and
small, and the courtiers, lent iheiy gssistance, <“and made
up the supply of money and goods which the Turks call
‘Chandogh.

185 “Sahnas Lang.”—Badauni, yol. ji., p. 45-
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rak Khan Lohani, whose father had been killed in an
action with the Mughals,’®” came to wait upon the Khan-
khanan, with the intention of wrcaking vengeance upon
him. When they were shaking bhands, he assassinated
him with his dagger.'®® The words ‘‘Muhammad:
Bairam,” contain the date of this murder. Some scoun-
drels then plundered the encampment of the deceased.
Muhammad Amin Diwana and Baba Zambur, with seve-
ral of the eunuchs, rescued from the fray Mirza *Abdu-r
Rahim, the son of the Khan-khanan,'* who was then a
child of only four years of age, but in these days has been
exalted to the dignity of Khan-khanan. They conducted
the boy to Ahmadabad, and from thence they carried him-
to the Court of the Empcror, in the hope of obtaining
his protection. The Emperor received the child with the-
most princely favour, and the good qualities which he
exhibited so won upon the Emperor's mind, that his pros-
perity went on growing until he attained the dignity of
Khan-khanan.

When the Khan-khanan (Bairam Khan) went to-
Gujarat, the Emperor proceeded towards Hisar-Iirozah
on a hunting excursion, but the army was sent on to
Dehli, the capital, by the direct route. Having hunted
with some leashes of a kind of leopard, which is called
chita in Hindi, on the 4th Rabi’ul awwal, 968 H. (9th
Nov., 1560), he arrived at Dehli, and there stopped awhile
for a little rest and enjoyment. On the 2nd Rabi'u-s sani

187 He had been pul lo death by order of the Khan-
khanan.—Badauni, vol. ii, p. 45.

188 He I_m(l l_lm'l_\r or forly companions. He slabbed
the Khan wzllz. his dagger in the back, so that the point
came oul of Itis bosom, and one of the assassin’s compa-
nions finished the business with his sword—T. Alfi, and
Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 165.

189 His mother and ihe atlendants were also rescued
by the courage of Muhammad Amin and his followers.

—T. Alfi.
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he started for Agra by boat, and arrived there on the 12th
of the same month.
SIXTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year was Sunday, 24th
Jumada-l akhir, 968 H. (10th March, 1561). 1In this year
the marriage of Muhammad Baki Kban was celebrated
with a lady whosc lamily connexions have been explained
in another place. The ceremony was  performed with
great magnificence, and was [ollowed by rejoicings and
feasting for several days.

In the days of Sher Khan the country of Malwa had
been held by Shuja’at Khan,'®® who was one of his own
clan (Khassa khail), and alter his death it had come intor
the hands of his son Baz Bahadur. It now camc to His
‘Majesty's knowledge that Baz Bahadur had given himself
up to sensuality,'’®! and cared nothing for the country,
Tyrannical and  overbearing men had  consequentlv
oppressed the poor and hclplcss, and the peasantry and’
people had been reduced to distress. The honour of the
Imperial throne required that this country should he-:
again brought under its control, and find peace and secu-
rity. So Adahm Khan, Pir Muhammad Khan, Sadik
Khan, Kiya Khan Gang, ’Abdu-lla Khan Uzbek, Shal
Mubammad Kandahari. and some other amirs, were
nominated to effect the conquest of that C(,uml.)._ma' They
accordingly marched thither. and when they came within
ten kos of Sarangpur in that country, Baz Bahadur, who
was in that city, awoke from his slumber of neglect, ang
took up a position, which he fortified, two kos from the
city.

Baz Babadur was the most accomplished man of his

190 He was, as belore stated, commonly calleq “Shu-
jawal Khan," bul Badauni (vol. ii., . 47)— goes a lillle-
wider, and calls him “Sazawal Khaw. \

0 Apy-l Fazl calls him also drunkard.

192 CQith five or six thousand men.’—Faizi.
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day in the science of music and in Hindi song. He spent
much of his time in the society of singers and musicians.
When the Imperial army was at ten kos [rom Sarangpur,
Adham Khan sent forward an advanced force Lo the
entrenchments which Baz Bahadur had thrown up around
his army. Several attempts were made to cntice him cut
of his lincs, and the royal forces drew together in oider
to suwwyound him. Baz Bahadur then threw off his
apathy, and marched out to give battle. But the Alghan
nobles in his army were disaflected, and made their
escape, and he  himsell was obliged to take flight.'?*
Rup-mati, his favourite wife, who used to recite poetry,
several  other wives, and all his trcasures [lell into the
hands ol the Imperial forces.) As the fugitives were mak-
ing off, a cunuch of Baz Bahadur's wounded Rup-mati
with a sword, to prevent her falling into the hands of
strangers; and when Adham Khan summoned her to his
presence, she took poison and killed hersell.

Adham Khan wrote an account of the victory to the
Emperor. He retained all the ladies and musicians and
singers, but he sent some elephants under charge of Sadik
Khan, to Court. This retention of the ladies and other
spoils displeased the LEmperor, and made him decem it
necessary to pI‘OCCCd in person to Malwa. On the 21st
Sha’ban, 968 H. the Emperor left Agra, and marched
towards Malwa. When he rcached the fort of Gagrun,
which is celebrated among the fortresses of Malwa for its
strength and height, he gave orders for its reduction. But
the commandant of the fort hastened to surrender, and
presented -his tribute. This greatly pleased the Emperor,
who made a [orced march in the night, and arrived by
dawn in the vicinity of Sarangpur.’® ’Adham Khan had
left Sarangpur in order to besicge Gagrun, so he met the

193 “Towards Khandesh and Burhanpur.”’—Faizi.
191 The journey was performed in  sixleen days.—
Faizl.
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Emperor at three kos distance from that place,'* and was
graciously received. Then they rode on to the city, and
Adham Khan's abode was given up to His Majesty.
Adham Khan now collected all his spoils, and presented
them to the Emperor, who stayed a few days o refresh
and enjoy himself, and then returned to Agra.

At that place Pir Muhammad Khan Shirwani and
other nobles who had jugirs in Malwa, waited upon the
Emperor. They were honoured with gifts of robes and
horses and were then sent back to their jagirs. When
the Emperor was near Narwar, a formidable tiger came
cut of the jungle. "The Emperor slowly approached the
beast, and with onc blow of sword brought her o the
ground. 5Some of his attendants killed the young ones.
with swords and spears.

Mubammad Asghar, Air-mio:shi, who was celebrat-
ed for the beauty of his writing and composition, was
now appointed Mir-munshi, and received the title of
Ashraf Khan. On the 29c¢h Ramazan, 968, the Court
rcached Agra.

When ’Adali, the Afghan, was slain by the sons of
Muhammad Khan Bangali, who was one ol the nobles
ol Salim Khan Alghan, ’Adali’s son, Sher Khan, took
his seat upon the throne of Government, in the fort of
Chunar, and then led an army to attempt the conquest.
of Jaunpur. Thereupon Khan-zaman sent information
to the Imperial Court, and the amirs who held jagirs in

19 s e hnew nolhing of the Emperor’s approach,
he was astounded, and wondered what was the reason.*
—T. Alft. Abwl Fazl also describes the amazement of
Adham Khan al the sudden appearance of the Emperor,
who had marched so fast thal he outstripped the messen-
gers sent by Maham Anka lo warn Adham Khan. He
also describes how Adham Khan surrendered his spoils,
and how reluciantly he at last gave up the women and
the singing and dancing givls of Baz Bahadur.—Akbar-
nama, vol. ii., p. 178.
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that part of the country werc commanded to support
Khan-zaman.  fbrahim  Khan Uzbek, Majnun Khan
Kakshal, Shaham Khan Jalair, Kumal Khan Gakhar,
and many other chiefs, in obedience to the royal order,
joined Kuli Khan (Khan—zamun).“"' The  Alghans
having crossed the river, gave batle, but Khan-zaman
exeried himself gallantly, and put them to Hight.

Various actions of Khan-zaman excited a suspicion
.of his intention o rebel, so towards the closc of the year
His Majesty proceeded towards Jaunpur, on a progress
-of hunting and pleasure.  On approaching Kalpi, the
camp was about to be pitched, when ’Abdu-lla Khan
Uzbek, who held Kalpi in jagir came forward, and beg-
ged His Majesty to honour his house by taking up his
quarters therc. VThe proposal was graciously accepted,
and ’Abdu-lla Khan rendered the services duc from him
and presented his offerings, for which he was honoured
by His Majesty’s approbarion,

When the Court reached Kayra, ’Ali Kuli Khan
Khan-zaman and his brother Bahadur Kbhan came up
by forced marches [rom their jagir of Jaunpur, and on
being received, they presented suitable offerings. Their
hidelity and services being recognized they received pre-
sents of horses and robes, and were then dismissed to
their jagers. On the 17th Zil hijja, of the sixth year of
the llahi, corresponding with 968 H. the Court reached
Agra.

Shamsu-d din Muhammad Atka,’®” who bore the

15T he force of the enemy was nearly 20,000 horse,
3,000 foot, and 300 elephants. Khan-zaman declined
to meet them in 1he open. When the enemy crossed (he
river, he bore all before him, but Lis Jorce was eventu-
ally cut wup in the streels and suburbs of ]uun[;ur.—-'
Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 185,

197 Shamsu-d din Muhammad was a native of Ghazni,
and began life as a common soldier under Prince Kam-
ran. It was he who assisted the Emperor Humayun out
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title of Khan-i ’azam, and held the government of the
Panjab, now came to Court. He was graciously reccived,
.and the direction ol the affairs of the State was commit-
ted to his charge.'?s About the same time, Adham
Khan, in obedience to a royal command, came {rom
Malwa to the capital, and was welcomed with due
honour.

On the 8th Jumada-l awwal, 969 H. the Emperor
started to pay a visic to the tomb of Kutbu-l auliya
Khwaja Mu'inu-d din Chishti.'®® When he reached the
town of Sambar, Raja Bihari Mal**® one of the chict

of the river after the disasirous ballle of Kanauj (supra).
He accompanied the Ewmperor in his exile, and his wife
was one of the nurses (anka) of Akbar. As joster father
(atka) of Akbar, he received the title of Atka Khan, and
his sons were the ‘kokas’ or ‘kokaltashes’ of the Em-
peror. His family is sometimes called the Aikakhail —
Blochmann’s ‘Aint Akbar:y’ wvol. i, p. 321.

1S“This  appointment  greatly annoyed Maham
Anka, who, from her superior inlelligence. and many
services, had deemed herself permanecit ninister (wakil
saltanal baistiklaly, Munimn Khau, who had been the
ostensible minister, was also aggrieved.”’—* 4kbar-nama,’
wvol. ii., p. 189.

" He was a nalive of Sistan, and 1s called also
Sijizi. ‘Akbar-name’, vol. i., p. 195,

209Bikari Mal was @ Kaclihwahah, and was the [irst
Rajput Chief wiho joined Akbar. He s often called, as
in our MS., Bihara Mal. He and pjs family played dis-
tinguished parts in the reign of Akbay, and intermarried
with the Imperial family. His four prothers were named
Puran, Rupsi, Askaran, and Jag Maql. He had three sons
in Akbar’s service. Bhagwan Das, Jagannath, and
Salhadi; the fust of whom was q jost distinguished
officer, and on one occasior. saved (e Emperor’s life. He
is also called Bhagwan and Blhagwan; pas. The son of
the laiter, named Man Sing, was no less distinguished
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rajas ol that country, came with great loyalty and res-
pect, along with his son Bhagwan Das®**' to pay his ser-
vices to His Majesty. He was received with great honour
and attention, and his daughter, an honourable lady,
was accepted by His Majesty, and took her place among
the ladies of the Court. From thence he proceeded Lo
Ajmir, and he dispensed many gifts and pensions among,
the inhabitants of that noble city. Mirza Sharafu-d din
Husain, who held a jagir in the territory of Ajmir, came
to pay his homage. He was sent with several other amirs
of that province to effect the conquest of the fort of
Mirtha®*?* about twenty kos [rom Ajmir, which was held
by Jai Mal.?*** His Majesty then started for Agra, and
making forced marches, he performed the distance, onc
hundred and twenty kLos, in a day and nighc.20t
SEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year corresponded with
"Tuesday, 7th Rajab, 969 H. (10th March, 1562). At the
beginning of this year Mirza Sharafu-d din Husain
besieged the fort of Mirtha, being assisted by Shah
Bidagh Khan,”** and his son ‘'Abdu-l Matlab Khan,
Muhammad Husain Shaikh, and some other nobles.
Great exertions were made on both sides but at length
it was agreed that the garrison should march out with

and altained the highest rank.—See Bloch-mann's ‘Ain-i
Akbari’, vol. 1., pp. 328, 335, 339,

200 The MSS. have “Gobind Das”’, but Badauni
(wol. 11, . 50) 15 right in calling him ‘‘Bhagwan Dus.’

*2Mirtha, or Mairtha, forty miles west by north
from Ajmir.

202Jai Mal was the commandant on behalf of Rai
Mal Deo.—Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 204.

201 ‘Dar Shaban-roz’. The T. Alfi gives the more
;b,-obﬂb[g time of “ihree days,”’ and Abu-l Fazl says ‘‘less
than three days.”

205§¢¢ Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Akbari’, vol. i., p. 371.
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their horses and arms (kamchi), but lcave behind all
their property and effects.  When the victorious army
with his men. But Deo-das, in shame and pride,, set fire
to the property which was in the fortress, and then salli-
ed forth at the head of a party of Rajputs, and passed
in front of the royal army. Mirza Sharafu-d din and
other nobles [ollowed Deo-das, and when they came up-
with him, he turned round and attacked them. Many of
the royal soldiers fell, and nearly 200 Rajputs were slain.
Deo-das himself was unhorsed, and being overtaken as
he lay upon the ground, he was cut to pieces.** The
fort of Mirtha was then occupied by the Imperial
forces.

About this time Pir Muhammad Khan,2*" who,
after the departure of Adham Khan, held the govern-
ment of Malwa, assembled the forces of that province,
and marched to subduc the countries of Asir and Bur-
hanpur. He laid siege to Bijagarh, the principal of all
the fortresses of that country, which he took by storm,
and put all the garrison to the sword.2®® He then march-
cd against Asir, a well-known place in Khandesh. Cross-
ing the river Nerbadda, he gave many of the towns and
villages to the sword and destruction, and came to Bur-
hanpur.  That city also he took by storm, and gave
orders for a general massacre. Many of the learned men
and saivids of the place he caused o be decapitated in
his presence. The governors of Asir and Burhanpur, and
Baz Bahadur, who lived in this vicinity since his flight

206 Some  say he was wounded, pul escaped, and
afler some years veappeared in the guise of a ‘jogi’.
Some recognized, olhers repudialed, him. Al lengih he
was killed in one of their quarrels”’—Tarikh-i Alf.

207 «“Whose boldness and courage were grealer than
his judgment.’—Akbar-nama, vol. i, p. 211,

208¢He next proceeded against Sultanpur, and an-
nexed il lo the Imperial tervitories.’—* Ahbar-nama,’
vol. ii., p. 212.

8
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from Malwa, now concerted together, and, assisted by all
the zamindars of the counry, they assembled a force
with  which they assailed Pir Mubammad Khan.?*
.Unable 1o resist, Pir Muhammad fled towards Mandu,
.and when he came to the Nerbadda, he, and all the
niobles with him, plunged into its waters. It so happen-
.ed that a camel came up and bit the horse upon which
De was riding. He was thrown off into the water and
drowned, thus recciving the reccompense of his deeds.*!®
The other nobles, on reaching Malwa, found that the
«country was lost, so they pursued their course to the
‘Court ol the Emperor. Baz Bahadur pursued them, and
brought the wholc of Malwa once more into his power.
The amirs who had abandoned Malwa, and had come
to Court without orders, were imprisoned for a time,
and then set at liberty.

’Abdu-lla Khan Uzbek now received orders to re-
aricve this disaster in Malwa, and Mu'inu-d din Ahmad
Khan Farankhudi, and several other Khans, were direc-
ted to assist him. Towards the end of the year 969 H.
(1562 A.D.), ‘Abdu-lla and his auxiliaries entered
Malwa, and Baz Bahadur, being unable to withstand
him, took to flight.*'' A force was sent in pursuit, and
coming up with the fugitives, killed many of them. Baz
Bahadur found protection for some time with Rana Udi
Sing,*'? one of the chiel rajas of Marwar, and alterwards

2%As his men “‘were pursuing (heir straggiing march
homewards, laden wiith spoil. Pir Muhammad made an
atlempt to beal off lhe pursuers but he was ill support-
ed.”’—‘Akbar-nama,’ vol. ij., p. 213.

#1°Badaun: (vol. ii., p. 51) is eloquent upon lhe sub-
ject: ‘‘By way of water he went o five; and the sighs of
orphans, poor wreiches, and caplives sctiled his busi-
ness.”

2 To the hills of Kambalmir?’—T. Alf.

2124t Chilor and Udipur.’—Badauni, peol. ii.,

p. 51.
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die repaired to Gujarat, but eventually he threw himself
upon the mercy of the Emperor, and sought a rcfuge
from the [rowns of fortune.*'® ’Abdu-lla Khan remained
at Mandu, and the other amirs returned to their jagirs.
Mu’in Khan, alter setting the affairs of the country in
.order, returned to Court.

An intimacy and friendship had existed between
the late Emperor Humayun and Shah Tahmasp Sufi of
Persia.  'When Humayun died, and was succeeded by
Akbar, the Shah was desirous of keeping up [riendly re-
Iations. He accordingly sent his nephew, Saiyid Beg, son
.of Ma’sum Beg, to whom he gave the title Ummu-ughli
(uncic’s son), as his ambassador, with costly preseits.
When Saiyid Beg approached Agra, many khans and
great men werce sent forth to meet him, and to bring
him into the city with suitable honours. The sum of
seven lacs of fankas was appropriated to him. He re-
mained at Agra two months, and having received a
horse and a robe, he took his departure carrying with
Jim presents from Hindustan.

EIGTII YEAR OF THE REIGN

The  beginning of this year corresponded  with
Wednesday, 18th Rajab, 970 H. (13 March, 1563 A.D.).
A tragical event occurred in the course of this year.*'
Adbham Khan Kokaltash, son of Maham Anka,?!® could

W He was imprisoned [or some {ime, but (soon after
his release) he died—Badauni, vol, j;,, p. 51. Faizi says
he was granted a ‘mansab’ of 2.000. See Blochmann's
*Ain-i Akbar?’, vol. i., . 4128.

214 Abu-l Fazl and most other writers place this event
.one year carlier.

25 e was her younger son, His brother was
Muhammad Baki Khan. See ‘Akpor-nama’, vol. il p-
218. Blochmann’s ‘din-i Akbari? yol. i, pp. 323 and
381.

4
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not endurc to scc the clevation of his compeers.®'® I
the prcsumption of youth, and pridc of wealth and
station, hc yielded to the incentives ol Shahabu-d din
Ahmad Khan, Mu’nim Khan Khan-khanan, and several
other nobles, and murdered Khan-i ‘azam (Shamsu-d din
Muhammad Atka), then Prime Minister, as he was sit-
ting in his public office. Then trusting to the [avour
and kindness which had been shown to him by the Em-
peror, he went and stood at the door of the harem. His.
Majesty rushed out of the harem, sword in hand, and
the assassinn was bound hand and foot, and cast over the
parapct in punishment of his crime.?'”  This murder
was committed on the morning of Sunday, 12th Rama-
zan, 970 H. All those who had taken part in the cons-
piracy fled, and hid themsclves through fear of punish-
ment. Mu’nim Khan and Muhammad Kasim Khan
Miri bahr (commander of the boats) went over the
Jumna, and destroyed the bridge by which they crossed.
Shababu-d ‘din Ahmad Khan Naishapuri concealed him-
self. His Majesty showed great solicitude for the sons.
of the deceased minister, and for Maham Anka; but the
latter, in anger and in griel for her son, fell ill and died
forty days afterwards.

MThe T. Alfi' vepresents him as gralified with the
death of Bairam Khan, who had always been suspictous
and waichful of him.

217 Badauni places this assassinalion in 969 H. He
says the unforlunale minister was cut lo pieces (para
para), and he adds that as a spark of life was left in the
assassinafter hus fall, the Emperor ordered him lo be
thrown over the parapet again. He was buried one day
before llu's qiclim. Firvishta’s account agrees; bul ihe
translalion is inaccurate in two poinis. It calls the
minisier Shahabu-d din instead of Shamsu-d din, and
makes Maham Anka father of the mimster instead of
mother of the assassin. See Exiracl from “Akbar-nama,”

infra.
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Next day (alter the murder) Ashraf Khan M-
aunshi reccived orders 1o seek out and bring back to
His Majesty Mun’im  Khan, Shahabu-d din Ahmad
Khan, and Kasim Khan. The thought of having parti-
«cipated in this plot weighed upon the mind of Mu'nim
Khan, so although he held the titde of Khan-khanan, and
held the offices of minister (wakalal) and wutor (atalik),
he having found an opportunity leflt Agra by night, and
went oll along with Kasim Khan, commander of the
Dboats. towards Kabul, where his son “Abdu-l Ghani
Khan was then living. 'When they came to the pargaina
-of Sarut, in the Doab, the jagir of Mir Mahmud Munshi,
one of the Munshi’s officers, Kasim Ali Sistani, who was
shikkdar of the district, having hcard of their arrival as
Tugitives from the Court, went out with a party of the
inhabitants, and made them prisoners. They were then
sent to His Majesty, who winked at their offence, and
reinstated them in their offices.

CONQUEST OF THE GAKNAR COUNTRY _

The country of the Gakhars lies upon the banks of

the river Sind, well known as the Nil-ab. This terriiory,
from the Siwalik hills to the borders of Kashmir, has
been from all time the possession of the Gakhars, 2lilrough
other wribes, such as the Khattri ‘Khattar), Jancha, Jatri-
va, Bhugiyal, and Chibh* dwell in (hose parts in subordi-
nation to the Gakhars. From the beginning of the reign
of the late Emperor Babar to the present time, this tribe
would not suffer any intermission of lovalty to the illus-
trious dynasty, but remained steadfasy in their obedience
and devotion. Sarang Sultan was especially noted for his
fidelity and loyalty.  When Sher "Khan' acquired the
supreme power in Hindustan, he wanted (o bring the
Gakhars under his authority, and ysed sirenuous cxer-
tions to effect his purpose, but maqe little yrogress, un-
il he succeeded, after much rouple, in gcluing Sarang

“See Blochmann’s Ain, pp. 436, 487.
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Sultan into his hands as a prisoner. He ordered Sarang
Sultan to be flayed, and shut up his son Kamal Khan in
the fort of Gwalior. Alfter the death of Sarang, his
brother Adam became the chief of the clan. He also
espoused the causc of the Imperial family, and cpposed
the Afghans.

When Sher Khan died, and his son Salim Khan
obtained the supreme authority, he also, in imiration of
his father, plundered and laid waste various purtions of
the Gakbar territory, and did his utmost to vex and
injure them.  On one occasion, when some prisoners
were brought to Gwalior for punishment, he ordered
them to be placed in a house with a quantity of gun-
powder, and the house to be set on fire. Common report
tells how all these captives were blown into the air, and
how their bodies werc blown to pieces. Kamal Khan,
whe was sitting in a corner of the house, was by God’s
mercy saved. When Salim Khan heard of his preserv-
ation he sent [or him, and having induced him to take
an oath of fidelity, appointed him to act. in concert
with the governor of the Panjab, in the subjugation of
the Gakhar territory.

Afterwards, when Hindustan again came under the
rule of the Imperial house, Kamal Khan followed the
example of his predecessors. and paid his allegiance. He
was treated with princely favour, and reccived a grant
of the parganas of Hanswa, TFathpur, and Karra-Manik-

ur as a jagir. There he remained until Sher Khan, the
son of Salim Khan. attacked 'Ali Kuli Khan, and en-
deavoured to get possession of these districts. Kamal
Khan was then ordered to support ’Ali Kuli Khan, and
he exhibited such courage and resolution that he was
grnciously told that whatever request he liked to make
should bec granted.  Kamal Khan in his love for his
native land, begged that he might be restored to his
arental fﬂherltf}“CC- A farman was accordingly issued
that of the territories formerly held by Sultan Sarang,
and now in the possession of Adam Khan Gakhar, one
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half should be given to Kamal Kkhan, and the other half
should remain in the possession of Adam Khan. Orders.
were accordingly issued to the amirs of the Panjab, to
Mir Mubammad Khan, known as Khan-i Kalan,*'s
and to Kutbu-d din Muhammad Khan, that if Adam
Khan made any resistance to the arrangement, they were
to take the whole of the territory from him, and give it
to Kamal Khan.

When the amirs informed Adam Khan of the pur-
port of the farmans, he and his son and his army wcre
dissatisfied, and paid no hced to the command. A royal
army marched into the country of the Gakhars to sub-
duc it, and Adam Khan and his son resisted. Some
sharp fighting followed, but the Gakhars were defeated,
and Adam Khan was made prisoner. His son, with the
defeated army. fled into Kashmir, but after some time
he also was taken prisoner.>'*  All the Gakhar territory
then camc undcer the power of the Imperial officers, and
they made it over to Kamal Khan. The amirs also
placed Adam Khan and his son in charge of Kamal
Khan, and departed to their own jagirs. Kamal Khan
kept Adam Khan ncar him until he died.

Affairs of Muw'nim Beg (At Kabul)

When Mu'nim Khan left Kabul to visit the Court
of the Emperor, Muhammad Khap Akhia-begi was left
there as governor, but on Mu’nim Khan being informed

218He was the elder brothey of Atka Khan, ‘Khan-i
‘azam’. Kuwlbu-d din was a youngey prother. They be-
longed lo the ‘Atka-khail.” Sece noje, supra, Blochmann’s
‘Ain-i Akbari’ pp. 322 and 333,

219 Both faliter and son were placed in the custody
of Kamal Khan. The failer was kept in conﬁncmenl
1l his death; the son was put to  Jeqth —A4kbar-nana,
vol. ii., (The episode aboul the Gakhars seems lo have
been omitied from the printed ediiion of the Akbar-
nana).
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of his ill-trcatment of the people of Kabul, he removed
him {rom office, and appointed his own son, Ghani Khan,
in his place. He also sent back his nephew Abu-l Fath
Beg, son of his brother Fazail Beg, to assist Ghani Khan
in his government. After a time Mah Chochak Begam
and the people of Kabul were greauly distressed by the
proceedings of Gham  Khan?*"  Among other acts he
kept in conflinement Tolak Khan Kuchin, one of the
-oldest servants of the dynasty, until the pcople inter-
fered and set him at liberty. Tolak Khan then went to
the village of Mama-kbatun, which was his jagir, and
there waited his opportunity. It happened that a cara-
van from Balkh came and halted in the village of Chari-
karan, and Ghani Khan went forth in haste to mcet it
Tolak Khan assembled a body of his servants and adher-
ents, and making a rapid night march fell upon Ghani
Khan,**! and made him prisoner. At length some per-
sons intervened, and obtained the freedom of Ghani
Khan. They took from him a treaty and covenant that
he would never again molest Tolak Khan, but belore
‘Ghant Khan got back to Kabul, he broke his covenant,
and marched against Tolak Khan with a strong force.
Tolak Khan, however, was apprised of the movement,
and fled to the Court of the Emperor. Ghani Khan pur-
sued him in vain for some distance, and then returned to
Kabul.

Some little while afterwards Ghani Beg went out
-onc day for a stroll in the melon gardens, and the oppor-
tunity was seized by (Mah Chochak Begam) the mother
of Mirza Muhammad Hakim,?** in concert with Shah
‘Wali Atka. Mirza TFazail Beg and  his son Abu-l Fath

20 M He was wanting in sense and suavily.”’—-Akbar-
nama, voi. ii., p. 231,

221 WWhile he was drunk and asleep.—Akbar-nama,
vol. ii., p. 233.

222 Son of the Emperor Humayun, then about ten
years of age.—Badauni.
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Beg, to enter the fort and close the gates against Ghani
Khan. On returning and hnding the gates ol the [ortress
«closed, Ghani Khan understood that the people had re-
volted against him. Unable to do anything, he went off
to the Imperial Court. The mother of the prince then
tecok the direction of affairs into her own hands. She
appointed  Mirza Fazail**®  Beg, whom Mirza Kamran
had blinded, to the office of minister (wakalat) and his
son Abu-l Fath Beg was made his deputy. But when in
the distribution of the jagirs and villages he (Abu-l Fath)
xeserved the best Tor himself and appropriated the worst
Lo the prince and his attendants, Shah Wali Atka, ’Ali
Muhammad Asp, and others, could nouv brook his unjust
.alloument.  In communication with the mother of the
prince, they determined to remove him. One night
Abu-l Fath came to the door of his house in a state of
intoxication and went down. Miran Beg having scen
ithis, despatched him with onc¢ blow upon the head with
his sword. His father, Fazail Beg, endeavoured to cscape
into the Hazara, but some of the adherents of the irince
went in pursuit, and overtook and beheaded him. Shah
\’Vflli Beg Atka, with the approval of the mother cf the
prince, assumed the management of affairs, and gave
himself the title of Adil Shah.

When the report of these occurrences veached the
cars ol the Emperor, he appointed Mu'nim Khan gover-
nor of Kabul and guardian (afalik) of the young prince
Mirza Muhammad. He also appointed  Muhammad
Kuli Khan Birlas, Husain Khan, hrother of Shahabu-d
-din Ahmad Khan, Timur Bcg Uzbek, and several other
nobles to assist and support him. The mother of the
young prince, who was then ten years of age, assembled

#0 dou-l Fazl calls him “Fazil Beg) and says that
although he was blind ““in malters of Dcmﬂ and contu-
macy, his whoie body was eyes” He adds that he inter-
fered with his nephew in his duties g5 governor= 4 kbar-
nama, vol. i, p. 231.
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all the forces she could, and taking the prince with her..
she went with the intention of resisting by force of arms,
to Jalalabad, known in old times by the rame of Jusai.
There she awaited Mu’nim Khan, who quickly marched
against her, and defeated and scatrered her forces at the
first attack. After this he rcurneld o Court. The
Begam returned to Kabul, aud suspecting the designs of
Shah ’Ali Atka against her, she caused him to be put to-
death, and Haidar Kasim Nohhar was named walil of
the »irze in his stead.
Affairs of Mirza Sharaju « d:n Husaiy

Mirza  Sharafu-d din  dusain  was son of Khwaja
Mu'inu-d din. son of Khwaja Jawid 3Mahmud, son of
Khwaja ‘Abdu-lla, who was a distinguished man among
the Khwajas, and was the son of Nasiru-d din ‘Abdu-lla
Ahrar.?*'  When the Mirza came to Court, he was pro-
moted to the dignity of Amiru-l umara, and received the
jagir of Nagor. There he was distinguished by his ener-
getic labours. His father now returned from Mecca, and’
received a right royal reception. After a while Mirza:
Sharaf., by the will of fate. and without any apparent
rcason or cause, having had his mind perverted by’
designing men, fled towards Nagor.**® Hazrat Husain-
Kuli Beg, son of Wali Beg Zu-l kadar, a relation of the:
late Khan-khanan Bairam Khan. having on account of
his services been admitted to the order of nobility, and’
dignified with the title of khan, now received a grant of
the jagir of Mirza Sharafu-d din Husain. Some of the
principal nobles, as Muhammad Sadik. Muhammad Kuli’
Tugh-bani, Muzallar Mughal and Mirak Bahadur, were:
directed to support Husain Kuli Beg, and the command’
was given for them to pursue and capture Mirza Sharafu-d'
din. If he repented of his unrighteous deeds, they

221 See Blochmann’s Ain-i Akbari, vol. i., p. 322.
225 ““Towards Ajmir and Nagor, which were his.
jagirs.'—Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 247.
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were to soothe him and bring him to Court: but il not,.
they were 1o use their best exertions to punish his  mis-
conduct. When intelligence of the approach of Husain
Kuli Beg Khan reached Mirza Sharafu-d din, he lefe
Tarkhan Diwana, a trusty adherent, in Ajmir, and went
off towards Jalor.?*® The Imperial forces invested
Ajmir, and after two or three days Tarkhan Diwana
capitulated.®®”  The nobles then hastened in pursuit of
Sharafu-d din towards Jalor.

It so happened that just as Sharafu-d din reached
Jalor, Shah Abu-l Ma’ali was returning from Mecca Lo
the Imperial  Court, and having had a meeting with
Sharafu-d din, they concocted together a rvebellious
scheme. Abu-l Ma'ali, was to march against the people
of Husain Kuli Khan, who were in Hajipur,®** and
having disposed of him was to push on to Kabul and
bring  Mirza  Muhammad Hakim to Hindustan.
Sharafu-d din on his side was to do all he could to pro-
motc a rebellion. Abu:l Ma’ali marched off. taking witlt
him a party ol Sharafu-d din’s men, and when he
approached Hajipur, he learned that Ahmad Beg and
Sikandar Beg. relations of Husain Kuli Khan, had come
out to stop him. Thercupon he turned in the direction
of Narnaul, and upon reaching the fort of that place. he
made Mir Kisu the shikhdar prisoner, and scized all the
money which he found in the treasurv and divided it
among his followers.??* '

226 Both MSS. have “Nagor’”, Ly; Apu-l Fazl says
“towards Jalor, which he had got injo his power,” and’
the context shows him 1o be vight — 4 Lbar-nama. vol. ii..
1). 248.

227 The forl of Mirtha also fell into the hands of
the Imperial general —Akbar-nama, v, ii., p. 248.

228 Husain Kuli had left his wives and family there
—Akbarnama, vol. i, p. 248. ’

20 “And  plundered the town.’—_ qkparnama, vol..
i, p. 252.
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After receiving intelligence of this, Husain Kuli
Khan sent his Dbrother Ismail Kuli Khan along with
Muhammad Sadik Khan in pursuit of Abul Ma’ali.
Upon rcaching Hajipur, and learning that Abu-l Ma'ali
had drawn off to Narnaul, they took Ahmad Beg and
Sikandar Beg with them, and went in pursuit of him.
Twelve kos from Narnaul, the brother of Abu-l Ma’ali
who was named Khan-zada (Muhammad), and was also
.called Shal Lundan, lelt his jagir, and was on the way to
join his brother, but he was intercepted and made pri-
soner. Abu-l Ma’ali fled [rom Narnaul and went towards
the Panjab. Ahmad Beg and Sikandar Beg werce sent off
with a detachment in hot haste after him. A body of
the men under their command had formerly served
under Mirza Sharalu-d din Husain, and thesec men had
bound themselves by an oath to desert Ahmad Beg and
Sikandar Beg whenever Abu-l Ma’ali should be attacked,
and to go over to the latter. Onec of this party, Dana
Kuli by name, slipped away and bhastened to inform
Abu-l Ma'ali of the conspiracy. Upon hearing it he
placed himscll in ambush in a jungle by the side of the
road, and when the two Begs came up he fell upon them
unawares. The conspirators then drew their swords,
and advanced against their own commanders, and the
other soldiers, secing how matters stood, took to Mlight.
Ahmad Beg and Sikandar were left quite alone. They
fought most manfully, and killed several of their assail-
ants, but were cventually slain.

His Majesty was engaged in a hunting excursion at
Mathura when the news of this disaster reached him. He
sent Bidagh Khan. Tatay Khan, Rumi Khan, and others,
to follow Abu-l Ma’ali, and he himself proceeded to
Dchli, the seat ol Government (daru-l mulk).**°

A remarkable occurrence has now to be mentioned.
‘When Sharalu-d din Husain fled from Court to Nagor,

20 e arrived there on the 251h Jumada-l awwal —
4 Ahbar-nama,’ vol. ii,, p. 254.
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he had a slave, by name Koka Fulad, one of the -slaves
of his father, who at all times secretly did everything in
his power to injure the Emperor. This wretched man
came into the royal camp, and was constantly on the.
watch for an opportunity. When the Emperor returned.
from his hunting excursion, and passing through the
bazar of Dehli, came ncar to the College®*! of Maham:
Anka, this bloodthirsty [ellow shot an arrow at His.
Majesty; but by the Mercy of God, who watched over
the Emperor’s safety, it did not inflict a severc wound,.
but mere grazed the skin.  The attendants of the
Emperor instantly fell upon the traitor, and with strokes
of sword and dagger they sent him to hell. The Emperor
pulled out the arrow and rode on to the palace. The:
wound was cured in a few days, and on the 6th Jumada-s
sani he mounted his royal litter,”** and proceeded to-
Agra, where he arrived on the 15th of the same month.
in the yecar 971 AH., agreecing with the eighth year of
the reign.

NINTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year was Wednesday, 29th
llﬂjill), 971 (lSlh March ]5()4) When Abu-l Ma'ali
killed Ahmad Beg, and found that the royal army was
coming up in pursuit of him, he was dismayed, and
turning aside from the direct roads he fled towards.
Kabul. When he approached Kabul, he wrote a letter
full of expressions of affection and devotion for the late
Emperor, and sent it to Mah Chochak Begam (the

2 Ahu-l Fazl agrees and says (ha: the man stood’
near the College (Akbar-nama vol. i, p. 255), but
Badauni (vol. i1, p. 62) says thal the qrrow was shol from
the roof of the College. He agrees that the wound was
merely superficial (post mal), moi the severe wound,.
“nearly .a span deep,”’ which Abu.l Fazl and Firishta
describe.

2=25qkasan, The Hindi ‘sinhliasan’ “ihrone.”
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Emperor's widow). She sent to invite him in. and re-
.ccived him with honour. She also gave him her
.daughter in marriage. Abu-l Ma'ali now pushed himsclf
Aforward, and took the direction ol the establistment of
Prince Muhammad Hakim.

A party of malcontents, who were displeased vith
the treatment they had received {rom Mah Cliochak
Begam, such as Shugun, son of Warracha Khan, and
_Shadman, and others, leagued swith Abu-l Miali, and
persuaded him that matters would ncver go on well as
"long as the Begam lived. He fell in with their views,
cand slew the unfortunate wowzn wuh a dagger. Then
_he got into his hands the Prince Mirza Muhammad Hakim
who was ol tender age, and. took the direction of the
government. He scized upon Haidar Kasim Kohbar,
who was the minister (wakil) of the Mirza, and put him
.to death. He also imprisoned his brother Muhammad
Kasim. Hecereupon Tardi Muhammad Khan, Baki
Muhammad Khan Kakshal, Husain Khan, and several
.other adherents of the late Begam, conspired against him
to avenge her death.  "Abdi Sarmast informed Abu-l
Ma’ali of this conspiracy, and he instantly armed a party
.of his supporters, and went forth to destroy them. The
~conspirators cut their way into the fort, and Abu-l
Ma’ali pressed alter them. Many on both sides were
:killed, but at length Abu-l Ma'ali succecded in driving
them out ol the fort, and they fled in all directions.

Muhammad  Kasim, who was in confinement,
~obtained his release and went to Mirza Sulaiman, in
Badakhshan. He informed him of all that had passed at
Kabul, and urged him to march against the city. Mirza
Muhammad Hakim also sent a person to Mirza Sulai-
man, calling upon him for assistance. The Mirza on
‘hearing the state of affairs, asscmbled the forces of
Badakhshan, and with the approval of Khurram Begam
“his wife, marched against Kabul. Abu-l Ma’ali, on his
side, assem:bled the forces of Kabul, and taking with him
"‘Mirza Muhammad Hakim, advanced to the river Ghor-
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band. Both sides drew up their forces, and the battle
began. The Kabul men on the right of Abu-l Ma’ali
were deleated by the Badakhshan lorces, and began to
rewreat.  He hastened up with some reinforcements to
support them, leaving Mirza Muhammad Hakim in
«charge of his servants. These men seized the opportu-
nity to cross the river and join Mirza Sulaiman. When
this was discovered by the Kabul [orces, they
ware  seized. with  panic, and cvery man [led to
his home.

When Abu-l Ma’ali came back [rom his charge, he
was dismayed to find no trace cither of Mirza Hakim or
of his army, so he fled. The Badakhshan men pursued
and overtook him at the village Charikaran. Hc was
brought to the presence of Mirza Sulaiman, who, elated
with his success, went on to Kabul, taking Mirza
Muhammad Hakima with him. Three ways alterwards
he sent Abu-l Ma'ali with his hands bound behind his
neck, to Mirza Muhammad Hakim, and hLe ordered Lim
to, be strangled in punishment of his crime. This bap-
pencd on the night of the 17th Ramazan, 970 H. Mirza
Sulaiman now sent to Badakhshan for his daughter, and
married her to Mirza Muhammad Hakim. After giving
jagirs in the Kabul territory to many of his followers,
and appointing Ummaid ’Ali, who was in his confi-
dence, to the post of minister, he returned to
Badakhshan.

In the course of this year, Khwaja Muzaffar ‘Ali
Tarbati, onc of the old associates of Khan-khanan
Bairam Khan, was raised to the office of financial minis-
ter (wazarat-i diwan-i ’ala), and reccived the title of
Khan.?%3

20 4pu-l Fazl places this appoiniment at the begin-
ning of the eighth vear—'Akbar-namqa, vol. ii., p- 250-
See ‘Ain-i Akbari,) vol. 1., p. 348.
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CONQUEST OI' THE FORT OF CHUNAR

The fort ol Chunar was held by a slave of “Adali,
named Fattu. He now wrote a letter offering to surren-
der it.2**  The Emperor sent Shaikh Muhammad Ghaus.
and Asaf Khan to reccive thc surrender of the [ort.
When it was delivered over, they placed it in charge ol
Husain Khan Turkoman. At this Ghazi Khan Sur,
formerly one of the nobles of ’Adali, but who had [or a
time lived in allegiance to the Emperor, now that Asaf
Khan was appointed to the government ol Karra, took
flight, and went to the country of Panna. There he
gathered some men, and arrayed himsel{ in rebellion.
When Asal Khan was sent to Karra, Ghazi Khan
led his followers against him, but he was defeated in
battle by Asaf Khan, and killed upon the field.  Asaf
Khan thus established his power and authority.

The country of Garha-Katanka was near to Asal
Khan, and he formed the design of subduing it.*** The
chief place of that country is Chauragarh. It is an ex-
tensive country containing seventy thousand (haflad
hazar) flourishing villages.?** Its ruler was at this time
a woman named Durgavati, who was very beautiful.
When Asat Khan heard the condition of this country, he
thought the conquest of it would be an easy matter, so
he marched against it with lifty thousand®*" horse and

2 4bu-l Fazl places this survender in the sixth year
of the reign. The Emperor, on his velurh from Karra,
deputed Asaf Khan to besiege the fori, and his frighten-
ed Fattu inlo submission—‘Akbar-nama’, wvol. ii., p-
190.

*358ee Extracl from the ‘Akbar-nama’, infra.

#eAbu-l Fazl, Badauni, and Faizi all agree in this
number, but it is a manifest error—vol. ii., p. 264.

27The MSS. differ widely. One of them says five
thousand, the other two fifty thousand. There are other
discrepancies. Two of the MSS. omit the word “‘innu-
merable,’ making the Rani’s force lo be ‘20,000 horse
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foot. The Rani collected all her forces, and prepared to
oppose the invader with 700 elephants, 20,000 horsemen,
and infantry innumerable. A battle followed, in which
both sides fought obstinatcly, but by the will of fate the
Rani was struck by an arrow, and fearing lest she should
fall alive into the hands ol the enemy, she made her
elephant-driver kill her with a dagger. Alter the victory
Asaf Khan marched against Chauragarh, The son of
the Rani, who was in the fort, came forth to meet hini;
but he was killed, and the fort was captured, and all its.
treasures fell into the hands of the conquerors. Asaft
Khan, after he had achieved this victory and acquircd
so much treasure, returned greatly clated, to Karra, and
took possession of his government.

JOURNLEY OF THE EMPEROR TO NARWAR

On the 12th Zil ka'da 971 H., corresponding with
the ninth year of the reign, the Emperor left Agra, and
went towards the river Chambal with the object of cle-
phant hunting.**®  In conscquence of the heavy rains
and the inundations, he had to halt fftcen days, and
when he did cross over onc of his choice elephants nam-
ed Lakhna was drowned. When he came to the vicinity
of the town of Narwar he pitched his camp, for the
jungle hard by was an clephant haunt....After they had
cleared that neighbourhood of clephants, he marched on
towards Malwa, and halted at Rewar#®  Heavy rains.
compelled him to remain two days in sight of that town.

and fool;" bul they agree in the incredible *‘700 ele-
phants.”  Firishta  moreover, gives 1,500 elephants
and 8,000 horse and fool.—-See Extract from the ‘Tarikh-i
Alfi.

238 According lo Abu-l Fazl, the yeal object was (0
check the proceedings of “Abdu-lic Khan—Akbar-
nama,” vol. i, p. 279.

294 very doubtful name.

9

1
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From thence he procecded to Sarangpur, and again the
heavy rains and hoods greatly distressed his escort. When
he approached Sarangpur. Muhammad Kasim Khan
Naishapuri the governor came [orth to meet him and
presented  tribute.  Next day the Emperor proceeded
onwards towards Mandu.

‘Abdu-lla Khan Uzbek was governor ol Mandu, and
as there were sundry dillerences between him- and the
Emperor, he was greatly alarmed at his approach, and
consequently fled off towards Gujarat. When the Em-
peror was informed of his flight. he sent Mukim Khan,
one ol his chief nobles, 10 *Abdu-lla, 10 advise and reas-
sure him. Although Mukim Khan urged and persuaded,
his words had no eflect, for *Abdu-lla thought that the
object of the Khan was to dctain him with words and
stories till the royal forces had arrived and secured the
roads. So he lcfc Mukim Khan and Hed; and the Khan
went back and reported his want of success.

The Lmperor’s anger was roused, and he gave
orders for a force to be sent to arrest ’Abdu-lla’s pro-
gress. Thc Emperor himsell [ollowed, and on reaching
Mandu intelligence arrived that his advanced force was
engaged in action with *Abdu-lla, so he pressed on with
all spced. When ’Abdu-lla saw, that some of his most
faithful followers had fallen, and heard that the Em-
peror was ncar at hand, he left his baggage and soldiers
and hastened off. The Imperial forces pursued him as
far as the country of Alj,>*¢ on the confines of Gujarat,
and drove him away from his wives and elephants. He
then went to Changiz Khan in Gujarat. This Changiz
Khan was a slave of Sultan Mahmud of Gujarat, after
whose dca’lEh he had obtained the government of the
country. The royal forces which had captured the horses
and elephants and wives of ’Abdu-lla then turned back
to Ali, where they were received with honour.

240¢<The counlry of A’l, a large teritory (mamhuhat
in Malwa.’—1'. Alfi. )
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The Imperial army then moved, and on the new
anoon of Zil hijja, 971 H., reached Mandu. The amin-
.dars of the neighbourhood came in to pay their allegi-
ance, and met with a gracious reception. Miran Mubarak
Shah, ruler of Khandesh, sent a latter and suitable pre-
sents by the hands of ambassadors to the Emperor. After
some days the ambassadors rcceived permission to re-
turn, and a farman was sent to Miran Mubarak Shah
«directing him to send any one of his daughters whom
Je thought worthy to attend upon the Emperor. ’Itimad
Khan was also sent along with the ambassadors. When
Mubarak Shah rcceived this gracious communication, he
was greatly delighted, and he sent his daughter with a
suitable retinue and paraphernalia to His Majesty,
«csteeming it a great favour to be allowed to do so.
Whilst the Emperor remained at Mandu, Khan Kuli,*!!
a servant ol ’Abdu-lla Khan, who was now in Hindia**?
and Mukarrab Khan one ol the nobles of the Dekhin,
in compliance with the royal command, came in with
their followers, and had an audience. Mukim Khan,
who had exhibited vigour and ability in this expedition,
Teccived the title of Shuja’ Khan.

In Muharram, 972 (August, 1564) the Imperial
camp moved from Mandu, and was pitched in sight of
the town of Nalcha*"* Karra Bahadur Khan was
appointed governor of Mandu, and an order was made
directing a party of the Imperial [ollowers who remain-
.¢d behind in Mandu to stay in that province along with
Karra Bahadur, and zealously serve Hijs Majesty. Two
«days after, the camp moved towards Agra, and upon
xcaching Ujjain, it remained there fouy days, in conse-
.quence of heavy rain. In four days’ march from thence

20y Al —T. Alfi.

200n the borders of Malwa.>—7 4ifi. Iy lies on
ihe left bank of the Nerbadda.

23Five or six miles north of Mandu.



132 AKBAR

it reached Sarangpur, and in a week. afterwards it arriv-
ed at the pargana of Kherar, within sight of the town.
By regular stages it rcached Sipri. Here the scouts.
brought in news of a herd ol elephants, in which there
was onc very large animal.*'*  The royal servants went
in chase of them, and captured the whole of them. Pro-
ceeding by way of Narwar and Gwalior, the LEmperor
rcached Agra on the 3rd Rabi'u-l awwal. In the course:
of this year the Emperor had twins borne to him, onc
of whom was named Hasan, the other Husain; but they
lived only a month.

After His Majesty returned from Manduo, and while:
he was enjoying himsell at Agra, he often rode out to
Kakrani,*'® a village in the vicinity of the capital, which
was remarkable for the purity of its air and the excel-
lence of its water. He deemed this a suitable site for a
palacc, so he ordered one to be built. In a short time
fine houses arosc, and a great town sprung up, which:
was called Nagar-chin.

ACCOUNT OF KilWAJA MU’ AZZAM

Khwaja Muw’azzam was maternal uncle of the Em-
eror. Hc was son of 'Ali Akbar, and a descendant of’
Shaiku-l Islam Ahmad Jam. This person had been
guilty of several disgraceful actions during the reign of
the Emperor Humayun, who had felt constrained to-
speak ZlbOl:lt and censure his offences tc his son and suc-
cessor. His unseemly conduct at length compelled the
Emperor to banish him, whereupon he went to Gujarat.
From thence he procceded to Mecca, and after staying
there some time he returned to the Court of Humayun.

M1“In the present day there are mnol such foresls
near Sipri as to afford shelter for droves of elephanis.”’—
Briggs Firishta, vol. i, p. 216.

215¢Lagrani™ in one MS.; Badauni (vol. ii., p. 80)
has ‘Gahrawali’” Gulrani—T. A4lfi. Kalkarani—dkbar-
nama, vol. i, p. 298
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Wpon the demise of the crown, Bairam Khan Khan-
Xkhanan became the ruling power in the State, and he,
knowing the character of the Khwaja, procured an order
for his cxile. After his banishment, the Khwaja stayed
for a while in Gujarat, but subscquently returned to the
«Court of the Emperor. Bairam Khan then countenanc-
«ed him, and he received soime degree of attention. Upon
ahe disgrace of Bairam Khan, the Empcror took compas-
<ion on the Khwaja and gave him somce districts in jagir.
But the Khwaja's perverse and evil nature got the better
.of him, and he was guilty of some disgracelul deeds. To
tion onc—There was a woman named Fatima attached
to the harem of the late Emperor, and the Khwaja had
taken to himsell a daughter of hers named Zuhra Agha.
Alter some time he formed the design of putting her to
«death. Upon her mother being informed of this fact,
she hastened to make it known to the Fmperor, and to
crave his protection. The Emperor was just about to
start on a hunting excursion, and he assured the poor
mother that he would take measures to rescue her
.daughter from the Khwaja. Accordingly he sent Tahir
Muhammad Khan AMir-i faragha! and Rustam Khan to
give the Khwaja notice that the Emperor was about to
visit him. When Tahir Muhammad yeached his house,
The was so enraged that he killed the poor woman. As
soon as the Emperor amrived, and was informed of the
Khwaja’s cruel actions, which cried for punishment. he
gave orders to his followers to well thragh him, and then
to put him in a boat and souse him scveral times in the
river.216  After this he sent him a prisoner (o the lort of
Gwalior, where he dicd in confinemene,

216 g54-1 Fazl says the Emiperor had him and his vile
associaies bound hand and fool and cast inlg the river
Although immersed several fimes, e would 1ot drow?s
and whenever he came up he abused the Emperor. He
died insarie.—*Akbar-nama,’ wol. ii., p. 276."
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MIRZA SULAIMAN'S T'HIRD VISIT TO KABUL

It has been before narrated how Mirza Sulaimam
came to the rescue of Miiza Muhammad Hakim, and
hiow, after overthrowing Shah Abu-l Ma'ali, he gave
jagirs to his own adherents, and then teturned home.
Mirza Muhammad Hakim and his people, being greatly
annoyed by these Badakhshanis, drove them out of
Kabul. Mirza Sulaiman then came again with a large
army to takc revenge for this expulsion. Mirza Muham-
mad Hakim left Baki Kakshal in command of his fol-
lowers at Kabul, and went oft himself to Jalalabad snd
Parshawar. Upon reaching the river Maran,*'" Mirza
Sulaiman learnt how Mirza Muhammad Hakim had
abandoned Kabul, and gone to Jalalabad.

-Mirza Mubammad Hakim went on from I"arshuwar,
to the shores of the Indus, and from thence forwarded
to the Emperor a letter containing a statetnent of his
grievances. Mirza Sulaiman, on learning that Mirza
Muhammad Hakim had made an appeal to the Lm-
peror, and had left Parshawar, stationed onc of his
adherents named Kambar with three hundred men at
Jalalabad, and went towards Kabul.

When the statement of Mirza Muhammad Hakim
reached the Imperial Court, an order was given direct-
ing all the nobles and jagirdars of the Panjab (such as
Muhammad Kuli Khan Birlas Khan-i Kalan, Kutubu-d
din Muhammad Khan, Kamal Khan Gakhar and cthers)
to assemble their forces and march to the assistance of
Mirza Muhammad Hakim. These nobles, in obedience
to the command, proceeded to the Indus. and joined
Muhammad Hakim. Then they began their march to
recover Kabul. On reaching Jalalabad they sent Mirza
Kasan into the place to summon Kambar, Mirza
Sulaiman’s representative, to surrender; but that deom-
ed onc would not submit, so the Imperial forces attack-
ed the fort. They took it in an hour, and put Kambar

270ne MS. says simply ““the river’.
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and all his three hundred men to the sword. “U'wo men
were allowed to go and carry the intelligence to Mirza
Sulaiman, and the head of Kambar, with the news of the
capture of the city, was sent to Baki Kakshal at Kabul.
Mirza Sulaiman, on hearing of the fall of Jalalabad,
and the approach of the royal forces, fled to Badakhshan.
Mirza Muhammad Hakim, escorted by the Imperial
nobles, returned to Kabul, and again assumed the Gov-
crnment. The nobles, in obedience to the orders which
they had received from the Emperor, then returned to
their jagirs, excepting Khan-i Kalan, who had been ap-
pointed guardian of Mirza Muhammad Hakim. Shortly
afterwards the Mirza, without consulting Khan-i Kalan,
gave his sister, who had formerly been married to Shah
Abu-l Ma’ali, to be the wife of Khwaja Husain Naksha-
bandi, a descendant of Khwaja Bahau-d din. Presuming
upon the importance he had acquired by this marriage,
the Khwaja began to interfere in the affairs of the Mirza,
and to call Khan-i Kalan to account. The Khan was a
hot-tempered man, and would not endure this, so he left
Kabul, and went to Lahore without taking leave. Then
he made a report of what had occurred to the Emperor.
TENTH YEAR OF THI REIGN
The  beginning ol this  yeay corresponded  witlr
Sunday, 9th Sha’ban, 972 H. (11 March, 1565 A.D.). At
the beginning of this year His Majesty wished to go ele-
phant hunting. Scouts were accordingly sent out to seck
for the animals, and to report whepn ihey found them.
On the Ist Rajab, 972, the Emperor himself starred for
Narwar and Garha by way of Dhulpur. Upon reaching
Narwar, he pitched his camp. The scouts then reported
that therc were several herds of clephants in the neigh-
bouring jungles. His Majesty speedily went to the
jungle, and returned after capturing all the elephants.
Another day the scouts brought news to the camp that
tl}erc were many elephants in a desert about eight kos
distant. The royal servants started off, and towards the
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close of the day they found the animals, cvery one ol
which they captured. They drove them towards the fort
-of Panwa, where they arrived in the middle of the night.
Three hundred and fifty elephants were taken that day.
From thence they returned to the royal camp, which was
in the vicinity of Garha.  There it remained nearly
twenty days. The hot season now came on, and the un-
healthy winds blew and many men in the camp became
weak and ill, so His Majesty returned to Agra.

BUILDING OF THE FORT OF AGRA

In this year the command was given [or building a
new lort of hewn stone ac Agra, instcad of the old cita-
.del, which was of brick, and had becomec ruinous. The
foundation was accordingly laid, and in four years, the
fortress was completed.*** In these days it has no equal
in the world. The walls are ten gaz in thickness, and
arc built of stone and mortar. The stones are cut on
both sides and arc joined with the greatest nicety. The
height of the fort is more that forty. gaz. There is a moat
dug all round, and faced on both sides with stone and
mortar. It is twenty gaz wide and ten gaz deep, and
water is conducted into it from the river Jumna. The
cost of this building was nearly three krors of tankas®"
The date of [oundation of its gates is found in the words
*“binai dar-t bihishl” (974 H.).

REBELLION OF “ALL KULI KHAN-ZAMAN, IBRAHIM KHAN, AND
SIKANDAR KIIAN
In consequence of the ccvere proceedings against

28T he work was carried on under the direction of
Kastim Khan M-l bavr o pahr, and was completed in
eight years—‘'Akbar-nama’, vol. ii., p. 311.

219 4 assessmen! in money wmnounting to the value
of three ‘sirs’ of grain per ‘jaril’ of land was imposed,
and collectors and officers (tawachi) were appoinicd 1o
realize il from the ‘jagirdars’ —Badauni, vol. ii., p. 74.
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“Abdu-lla Khan Uzbek, which have been narrated above,
an opinion got abroad that the Emperor had a bad
opinion ol the Uzbeks.  When the Emperor went to
Narwar clephant hunting, Ashral  Khan Mio-munshi
was sent to Sikandar Khan, to conciliate him with graci-
ous promises of the Emperor's favour, and to bring him
1o Court. As Ashral Khan approached Oudh, which was
the jagir ol Sikandar Khan, the latter came out to meet
him, and conducted him to his house with all due cere-
mony. He submitted to the Emperor's command, and
acted as if he meant to go o Court. But after some days
he said to Ashral Khan, **Ibrahim Khan is a much great-
.er man than 1, and he is in this neighbourhood; the
best thing we can do is o go to him, and get him to ac-
quiesce in your demand. We will then go to Court
together.””  Upon this understanding they went to the
town of Sarawar,®" which was the jagir of Ibrahim
Khan.

When Sikandar Khan and Ibrahim Khan met, they
ook counsel together, and resolved 1o consult with *Ali
Xuli Khan, who was one ol their own iribe, and was the
Emperor’s representative in their part of the country. In
pursuance ol this resolution, and with the concurrence
of Ashraf Khan, they proceeded 1o Jaunpur, the jagir of
Khan-zaman.  Aflter consultation their judgment was ad-
verse to the course proposed, and (hev determined to
vebel. They improperly detained Aghyal Khan, and then
broke into open rebellion. Ibrahim Khap and Sikandar
Khan weat to Lucknow, [ull of hegjle designs. Khan-
zaman and his brother went (o Kaypry Manikpur, and
there began their revolt.

Shaham Khan Jalair. Shah RBjdaeh Khan, Amir
Khan, Muhammad Amin Diwana, Sult:?n Kuli Khaldar,
with all the jagirdars of his ncighbourhood, Shah Tahir

"""“"Surhm'[)ur."——B(ulnuni, vol. . p. 75. Akbar-
nama, vol. ii., p. 314. Swrhavpur is iy he ‘sarkar’ of
Jaunpur —Ellio’s Glossary, wol. ii., . jp2.
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Badakhshi, the brother of Shah Khalilu-lla, and other
nobles, being informed of these rebellious proceedings,
marched out against the rebels, and fought against them.
In the course of the fighting Muhammad Amin fell {rom
his horse, and was made prisoner by the rebels. Shahamn
Khan and Bidagh Khan exerted themselves most stre-
nuously, but as the forces of the rebels more than
doubled their own, they were obliged to retreat and shut
themselves up in the fort of Namikha,**' from whence
they sent an account to the Empetor.

Khan-zaman and his brother Bahadur Khan now
showed their dispositions, and began to plunder thc
country in their neighbourhood.  Majnun Khan Kak-
shal,*** the jagirdar of that quarter. shut himsell up in
the fort of Manikpur. He sent to inform Asaf Khan
Khwaja "Abdu-l Majid, governor of Garha, of the state
of affairs, and summoned him to his side. Leaving a dec-
tachment in charge of the country of Garha, Asaf Khan
proceeded with a strong force to Karra, which was his
own jagir. Therc he divided, as a bounty among the
soldiers, the treasures of Chauragarh which had faller
into his hands. He also sent a large sum to Majnun
Khan. Asaf Khan and Majnun Khan took a bold course.
and went forth to confront the rebels, and sent a report
to the Emperor of the position.

When the statements of the amirs reached the Em-
peror at his encampment, he resolved to punish thesc
actempts.  He ordered Mu’'nim Khan Khan-khanan to
march in advance with a strong force, and to cross over
the river at Kanauj, to keep the enemy in check. He
himself remained behind a few days to collect and orga-
nize his forces. In the month of Shawwal he crossed over
the Jumna, and marched to chastise the rebels. Upon

231 7ar. ““Namakha” “Nim-kahar.”—Badcuni. “Nim-
kar.’—'Akbar-nama; vol. ii., p. 315.
252§¢e Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Akbari,) vol. i, p. 369.
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approaching Kanauj, Mu'nim Khan came forth to meet
him, bringing with him Kiva Khan Gung, who had join-
ed the rebels, and begged forgiveness for him. The Em-
peror pardoned his crime, and restored him te his former
position. He remained ten days waiting for an opportu-
nity to cross the river.

When the waters subsided, intelligence was brought
that Sikandar Khan. heedless of what was to happen, was
still in Lucknow. Thereupon His Majesty left Khwaja
Jahan, Muzaffar Khan and Mu’in Khan in charge ol the
camp, while he himsell started off at midnight with @
valiant body of men to march against the rebel with all
speed. That night and the next day he struggled througls
all obstacles without taking rest, and on the following
morning came in sight of Sikandar at Lucknow. As soor
as Sikandar heard of his approach. he hastily abandoned
Lucknow and fled.  The horses of the Emperor’s force
were quite worn out with fatigue. se Sikandar made his
escape, and went off unmolested to Khanzaman and
Bahadur Khan. They also were now alarmed. and re-
treated from before Asaf Khan to Jaunpur. They march-
[rom thence, and sending forward their adherents. they
crossed the river at the ferry of Narhan, and halted om
the other side ol the river.

The Emperor sent on Yusuf Muhammad Khan?* iir
advance from Lucknow, and himself followed close after
him. He encamped in the ncighbourhood of Jaunpur, and
there Asaf Khan and Majnun Khan came to pay their
respects, and were graciously received.  Asal Khan
brought with him some (‘.OStl\" offerings. which were ac-
cepted. Next day his army, which had been got together
by means of the treasures of Garha. and numbered five
lhousgnd horse. was drawn oug in the plain and reviewed
I)y. Fis Majesty. who expressed his royal satisfaction. On
]::r;da}', the 12th Zi1 hijja, the roval forces entered the
citadel of Jaunpur. Ovders weye gi‘\'cn 1o Asal Khan ang

23558on of the lale Atka Khan.
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~other great nobles to .cross over the Ganges at the ferry of
‘Narhan, where ’Ali Kuli Khan and his followers had
passed, and then to go to confront the rebels, and act
according to circumstances. Asaf Khan, in obedience to
-orders, crossed the Ganges with the force under his com-
~mand.

Between “Ali Kuli Khan-zaman and Sulaiman Kirani
Afghan, ruler of Bengal, there was a surong alliance and
identity of interest; it was therclore deemed expedient to
-send an envoy to Sulaiman, in order to forbid i is render-
ing assistance to Khan-zaman. Haji Muhammad Kban
“Sistani, a man remarkable for prudence, was accordingly
sent. When he reached the fort of Rohtas, some Afghan
chiefs, who were in leaguc with *Ali Kuli Khan, arrested
‘him and sent him to ’Ali Kuli. The Haji was on very
friendly terms with the Khan, who was greatly pleased
-to sce him, and did his utmost to treat him with respect
and honour. The Khan thought it advisable to make the
‘Haji the medium of seeking forgiveness for his offences,
and determined to send his mother along with the Haji
-to make intercession at Court. The result of this proceed-
-ing will bg hercafter narrated.

ORISSA

“The Raja of Orissa, one of the divisions of the pro-
vince of Bengal, was a powerful chief, and kept a strong
‘hand over all the surrounding country. The Emperor
sent Husain Khan Khazanchi and Mahapatar, who was
an accomplished master of Hindi music, on an embassy
to the Raja, holding out great promises of favour and dis-
tinction to induce him to prevent Sulaiman Khan Afghan
from rendering any assistance to "Ali Kuli Khan. After
‘honourably entertaining Husain Khan and Mahapatar for
four months, he sent them back to Court with several fine
.clephants and othcx: splendid presents.  This country of
*Qrissa is an cXtensive territory, of which the capital is
]ngannath—_]agannall} being an idol which gives name
and renown to the city.
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FLIGHT OF ASAF KITAN TO GARHA

After Asal Khan had joined the Emperor and.
shown his forces, Muzallar Khan showed hostility to-
wards him, and induced some persons to bring charges
against him in respect of the plunder of Garha.  He
himself also alarmed Asal Khan with some signilicant
observations. This filled the heart ol Asaf Khan with
suspicion and anxiety. When he was made commander
of the forces, and was sent against "Ali Kuli Khan, he
seized the opportunity, and ai midnight went off with
his brother Wazir Khan. and his party, towards Karra.
Next day the chief nobles, without delay, communicated
the fact of his flight to the Emperor, and the Emperor
appointed Mu’nim Khun to succced him ™ the com-
mand. He also sent Shuja’ac Khan with a detachment
in pursuit ol Asal Khan, to chastise him for his conduct.
When Shuja’at Khan reached Manikpur, he found that
Asaf Khan had gone to Karra, and intended to proceed
from thence to Garha-Katanka.?*'  Shuja’ac Khan em-
barked his men in boats, imending 1o cross the river
and Asaf Khan, being informed of this, turned back to
the river-bank, and reached it as 1he boats arrived. A
great struggle cnsued, in which Asaf Khan-succeeded in
preventing  the landing of Shuja'at Khan, who was.
obliged to return 1o his own side at nightfall. In the
course of the night, Asaf Khan resumed his flight, and
next morning Shuja’at Khan crossed the river in pur-
suit; but finding the attempts (o overtake him hopeless,
he fell back and rejoined the Empcror at Jaunpur.

MISSION OF KALI] KHAN TO THE FroRT OF ROHTAS

This fort is situated in Bihar, and in height and
strength excels all the fortresseg of Hindustan. The sur-
face of the hill upon which tht foy js built is more than
fourteen hos in length, and its width is threc kos. and’

*™Near Jabalpur, in Ceniral India. See a nole in
LA ; I R R
Blochmann’s ‘Ain-i Akbari, vol. i, p. 367.
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the height [rom the plain to the battlements is about
half a kos.”** From the time of Sher Khan Afghan it re-
anained in the hands of the Afghans, until the time
when Sulaiman Kirani became ruler ol Bengal. Fath
Khan Battani then seized upon it, and refused to submit
to Sulaiman. In the year 972 H., Sulaiman collected an
army, and in the cexpectation of the help of ’Ali
Kuli Khan marched against Rohtas, and laid siege
to it.

When the Imperial forces marched in that direc-
tion against Khan-zaman, Fath Khan, seizing upon this
favourable chance,**® sent his brother Husain Khan to
the Emperor with rich presents, and with a message in
which he said that the fort belonged to the Emperor,
and that he would send him the keys as soon as the Im-
perial camp was pitched at Jaunpur.  Sulaiman, on
being informed of the approach of the Imperial forces,
raised the siege. ¥Fath Khan being thus relieved of his
adversary, brought into the fort all the provisions he
could collect. Repenting of having sent his brother on
the mission, he now wrotc to him directions to make his
cscape, and come into the fort, which was well stored.
When the Emperor encamped at Juanpur, Husain Khan
1-equcstcd that some one might be sent with him to
reccive the keys of the fort. Kalij Khan was accordingly
sent to receive the keys from Fath Khan, and bring them
to the Emperor. But when Kalij Khan reached Rohtas,
TFath Khan affected to comply, and detained him

idgriculture 1s carvied on within the fortress, and
waler is so abundant that jf g peg is driven into the
ground, or a hole is dug for a fire, waler is everywhere
foun.d.——Badauni, vol. ii., p. 78.

236 Abu-l Fazl says that Fath Khan having professed
.allegiance, the Emperor sent Kalij Khan to arrange mai-
ters. He was so far successful that Fath Khan sent his
brother with Kalij Khan to wait upon Akbar—'Akbar-
nama’, vol. it., p. 236.
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some  days. Kalij Khan ac length discovered the
duplicity of ¥ath Khan, uand returned to Court
unsuccessful.

PROCLEDINGS OF ‘ALl KULL KHAN (KHAN-ZAMAN)
When 'Ali Kuli Khan faced the Imperial forces at
the ferry of Narhan, he sent his brother Bahadur Khan,
in company with Sikandar Khan to the country of
Sarwar,®*? jn order to stir up a rebellion in that coun-
try. When this news reached His Majesty’s ears, he
issued orders for several of the chief nobles, such as
-Shah Bidagh Khan and his son ’'Abdu-l Matlab Khan
Kiya Khan and . . . . to march against Sikandar and
Bahadur Khan, under the command of Mir Mu’izu-l
Mulk, who was a decendant of the Saiyids of Mecshhed.
and was renowned [or his valour.2ss

It has been alrcady mentioned that [Khan-khanan
(Mu'nim Khan).was sent to take the place of Asaf Khan
in command ol the army, which confronted Khan-zaman
at the [lerry of Narhan. Between Khan-khanan and
Khan-zaman there was an old and warm [riendship, and
when they were thus opposed to cach other, a corres-
pondence was opened, and it was agreed that Khan-
zaman should wait upon Khan-khanan to discuss the
terms of peace. The negotiations lingered on for four
or five months, and warlike operations were suspended-

The Emperor then sent Khwuja.jahan and Darbar
Khan to the army, to ascertain and report il this cessa-
tion of hostilities were advisable, anq if not to order an
immediate advance of the Imperial forces over the river

27 So in the MSS., and so wriltey also by Badauni
and Abu-l Fazl. It would therefore seem to be another
name of Surharpur. See note supra.

**% Badauni (vol. it., pp. 79, 80), on the conlrary,
speaks of his incapacily, and is sarcastic qhout the imprac-
lical lemper of the people of Meshhed. See Blochmann’s
Ain-i Akbari, vol. 1., p. 381
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against the rebels. When Khwaja-jahan  and  Darbar
Khan rcached the army, Khan-zaman resolved to profit
by their arrivai, and having offered his congratulations
he brought forward his proposals of pcace. Alter many
communications and much correspondence, it was agreed
that Khan-zaman and Ibrahim Khan on one side, and
Khwaja Jahan and Darbar Khan on the other side,
should have an interview iu boats in the middle of the
river.?®®  After a long discussion it was determined that
Khan-zaman should send his mother, *Ali Khan, and
Ibrahim Khan his uncle, to the Court of the Lmperor,
to ask pardon for his offences. Upon receiving forgive-
ness the Khan and his brother and Sikandar Khan were
to go to Court. Khan-zaman was also to send with his
mother some elephants which he possessed. These
matters being agreed upon, Khan-zaman returned to his.
camp. Khan-khanan and Khwaja-jahan wrote a statc-
ment of the settlement, and sent it by Darbar Khan to.
the Emperor. Next day ’Ali Kuli Khan sent his mother,
and Ibrahim Khan, and the clephants in charge of Mir
Hadi his Sadr, and Nizam Aka, one of his confdants.
Khan-khanan and Khwaja-jahan took them and the
elephants, and proceeded to Court to ask forgiveness for
Khan-zaman.

Just at this time accounts arrived of the operations
which Mir Mu'izu-l Mulk and the other nobles were
carrying on against Bahadur Khan and Sikandar, whom
Khan-zaman had sent to create disturbances and make a
diversion in the sarkar of Sarwar. When intelligence of

*%% Abw-l Fazi condemns Khan-khanaws simplicity,
says that it was he who met Khan-zaman on the river
and setlled the terms of peace, and that at his recom-
mendalion the Emperor seni Khwaja-jahan to reassure
Khan-zaman.—Akbar-wama, vol. ii., p. 326. But Badauni
states (vol. i, p. 79) that Khan-khanan and Khwaja-
jahan wenl together to the meeting, altended by three

or four oihers.
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the approach of the royal forces reached them, they
halted where they were, and sent persons to Mir Mu’izu-1
Mulk to assure him that they had no wish to contend
against him, and entreated him to be the mediator to
obtain their forgiveness [rom the Emperor. They pro-
mised to send the elephant which they had as an offer-
ing, and to return to their duty upon pardon being
vouchsafed to them. Mu'izu-l Mulk sent to say that
their offences could be purified only by the sword.
Bahadur Khan again sent a person to Mu’izul Mulk to
propose that he should wait upon him, and discuss the
matter. Mu’izu-l Mulk agreed to this, and went to the
border of his camp, whither Bahadur Khan came to
mcet him, and to make his propositions of peace. But.
Mu'izu-l Mulk would hear of nothing but war. so Baha-
dur Khan returned disappointed, and resolved to make
recady for battle.

Lashkar Khan Mir Ballhshi and Raja Todar Mal*®°
now arrived with reinforcements for the royal army,*®!
and Bahadur Khan and Sikandar Khan renewed their

%® Raja Todar Mal, the celebrated financier and
administrator, was @ Khatvi and a native of Lahore. His
father died when the son was quite young, and left no
provision for him. The young man entered life as a
writer, but he soon rose from that Lumble position, and
was employed by Sher Shal in Superintending the crec-
tion of New Rohtas. It was under the “able gov-
ernment of Sher Shah thal his ngpyral talents were
trained and developed, so thal he ya¢ afterwards of in-
estimable service to Akbar, and ade q name which still
remains famous. This is the first time the Tabakat
mentions him, bul henceforward he ;s one of the most
prominent and active of all the gple subordinates of
Akbar. He died on the 11th day of the year 998 (10
Nov. 1589). '

261 “They were sent to haslen oy q decision either
for peace or war.”—Badauni, vol. i., p. 80.

10
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proposals of peace, and asked for a delay until it was
ascertained what answer was given by the Emperor to
ithe mother of Khan-jahan and to Ibrahim Khan, who
had been sent to sue for forgiveness. But Mu’izu-l Mulk
was so eager for war®¢® that he would not listen to their
words, and so brought upon himsclf dcfeat.

Mu'izu-l Mulk drew out his forces lor battle, and
sent on his advanced guard under Muhammad Amin
Diwana, Salim Khan, ’Abdul Matab Khan, Beg Murin
"Khan, and other veteran soldiers; he himself took post
with the main body. On the other side Sikandar had
command of the advance, and Bahadur of the centre.
In this order they advanced, and a warm action ensued.
The royal [orces defeated the advanced division under
1he command of Sikandar. Muhammad Yar, his son-in-
law, was Killed, and he himself fell back to the Black
River, which was in his rear. Many ol his soldiers were
drowned in the river, and many others died by the
sword. The victorious forces then broke up in search of
plunder. Mu'izu-l Mulk, with a few men, kept his posi-
tion, and Bahadur until now did not stir from his post.
But now he seized the favourable moment, attacked
Mu’izul Mulk, and drove him from his position.
Muhammad Baki Khan and other of the amirs, under
pretence of securing the baggage, and some others,
treacherously withdrew themselves and stamped them-
selves with disloyalty. Shah Bidagh Khan, observing the
«condition of aftairs, hastened forward, and in the heat of
the fight was unhorsed. His son ’Abdu-l Matlab Khan
tushed forward to rescue his father; but just at that
juncture a party of the enemy made a charge and took
‘Bidagh Khan prisoner, and it was only by dint of great
cxertion  that ’Abdu-l Matlab made his cscape. Mir
Mu'izu-l Mulk was compelled to turn his back and fice.
Raja Todar Mal and Lashkar Khan, who were in

262 “Alw’iz was q]] fire, and Raja Todar Mal poured
on oil and naphtha.’— Badauni, vol. ii., p. 80.
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reserve, struggled valiantly till night, and maintained
their position; but as the centre had been driven away,
their efforts were fruitless.

Next day all the defeated forces assembled in one
place,*™ and made for Kanauj, afier sending a report ol
the engagement o His Majesty. .

It has already been related how Khan-khanan con-
ducted the mother of Khan-zaman and Ibrahim Kban,
with Mir Hadi Sadr and Nizam Aka, to the Court of the
Emperor. Ibrahim Khan, with uncovered head and with
.a sword and shroud upon his neck, stepped forward, and
Khan-khanan cntreated forgiveness. MHe urged that the
services of Khan-zaman and his brother to the Imperial
throne were manifest to all men, and the services they
had rendered were invaluable. By the influence of
their destiny they had now been guilty of an offence; but
Jie wusted that the boundless mercy and kindness of
His Majesty would look with an cye of tenderness upon
1he faults of such useful servants.

When this old servant thus besought forgiveness for
past offences with a face full of hope, the Emperor, out
of the kindness that he [elt for Khan-khanan, said, ‘*For
your sake, I forgive their offences, but 1 am not satisfied
that they will yemain faithful.”” Khan-khanan then in-
quired what the order was as regarded their jagirs, and
His Majesty replicd, ‘‘As I have pardoned their offences,
what question can there be abouy (hejr jagirs? But so
Tong as I remain in this neighbourhood they must not
«come over the river. When I return (o the capital, they
must send their pakils there, gnq farmans for thcir
jagirs shall then be issucd, under which they may take
possession.””  Khan-khanan cast a logk of joy to heaven.
and sent the good news of the pardon to the mother of
Khanzaman. By command of the Emperor, the sword
.a'nd shroud ,werc taken.off the neck of Ibrahim Khan.
Khan-zaman’s mother mmlediately sent messengers  to

263 A1 Shergarh.””—Badauni, yo, i, p. 72
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Sikandar and Bahadur Khan, to carry the glad tidings of
the pardon, and to inspire them with hope. She also
advised them to send directly to Court the elephants
which they possessed.  Sikandar and  Bahadur werce
greatly delighted at this information, and. sent the ele-
phants called Koh-para and Safshikan, along with other
gifts, to His Majesty.

At the same time the report
Todar Ma! and Lashkar Khan upon the action
had been fought, and upon the misconduct of some of
the amirs, as above rclated. His Majesty had pardoned
the offences (of Sikandar and Babadur Khan), so he said,
“their faults have been forgiven;”” and to carry out his
decision he sent orders to his amiérs to return to Court.
Mir Mw’izu-l Mulk, Raja Todar Mal, and Lashkar Khan,.
accordingly returned; but those who had acted disgrace-
fully were forbidden to make their appearance for a
time.
The Empcror then went to visit the fort of Chunar,
cclebrated for its height and strength. He made threce
days’ march from Jaunpur to Benares, and there rested
several days. Irom thence he went to the fortress, and
having surveyed it, he ordered it to be repaired and
strengthened. Hcre he was informed that there were
many elephants in the jungles of Chunar, so he sct off
with a party of his attendants on a hunting expedition.
At ten kos distance they found a herd, and having cap-
tured ten, they returned to the fort of Chunar, and from

thence to thc Imperial camp.

arrived  from Raja
which.

MARCII AGAINST ’ALI KULI KHAN-ZAMAN

It bhas been above related how Khan-zaman was par-
doned, and his jagirs restored, upon condition that he
did not pass over the river without permission.  But
when the Emperor had gone to Chunar, he crossed the
river, and went to Muhammadabad, one of the depend-
encics of Jaunpur, and from thence sent parties of troops.
to occupy Ghazipur and Jaunpur. As soon as the-
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Emperor returned to his camp, he was informed ol this
evil procceding of *Ali Kuli Khan's and he said reproach-
fully to Khan-khanan, “No sooner had I quitted this
ncighbourhood than ’Ali Kuli Khan Dbroke the condi-
tions of his pardon.”” Khan-khanan looked mortified,
and endeavoured to make excuse.

Orders were given for Ashraf Khan Air-Dakhshi to
go to Jaunpur, and make prisoner the mother of ‘Al
Kuli Khan, who was in that city, and to confine her in
the fort of Jaunpur. He was also to sccure every rebel
he could lay hold of. Khwaja Jahan and Muzaffar Khan
were to remain with the camp, and lead it by regular
marches. The Emperor himself, with a considerable
force, started off upon a rapid march against "Ali Kuli
Khan. Ja’far Khan, son of Karak Khan Turkoman, who
had come from ’Irak, went to the fort of Ghazipur, in-
tending to make a dash at it; but ‘Ali Kuli Khan’s
people, who were in the fort, hearing of his intention, let
themselves down from the walls on (o the river Ganges,
and went to Mubammadabad.

Khan-zaman, who was in (hat town, on being in-
formed of what had occurred, hactened to make his
escape by the water. When he veached the river Sarwar
(Saru), some boats, laden with his property and cffects,
fell into the hands o'f the royal forces. A body of troops
was scnt across the river with orders (o take no rest until
they had secured Khan-zaman. The [orces under the
‘Emperor oc.cupicd the banks of (he Sarwar (Saru), and
after searching all (he jungles, they found that Khan-
zaman had gone off to the Siwalik 7l[s.2¢* News now
arrived that Bahadur Khan had gone (o Jaunpur,?® and
Tiberated his mother. He made Ashraf Khan prisoner,
and formed the design of making an attack upon the

*4 He proceeded f[ivst 1o the fort of Jalupara—
Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 335. -
83200 He took ihe fort by escalade —_Badaquni, vol. ii.,
p. 83.
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royal camp.?®® Upon lecarning this, the Empcror gave
up the chase of Khan-zaman, and turned towards Jaun-
pur. The detachment also, which had been sent on in
pursuit of him, rcturned and joined the Empcror.
Sikandar and Bahadur Khan, being informed of this
movement, made a retreat, and crossed the Ganges at the
ferry of Narhan.

In the month of Rajab, when the royal camp was.
ncar the pargana of Nizamabad, the annual Majlis-i
wazn was held. Twice cvery year, on the Emperor’s’
birthday, both according to the solar and lunar reckon-
ing, the inisters and nobles weighed the Emperor
against gold, silver and other things, which things were
alterwards distributed among the poor and ncedy.?5”

The Emperor marched from Nizamabad to Jaunpur,
where he ordered a pleasant site to De selected, and a
splendid palace to be built; and the nobles also were to
build houses and palaces suitable to their rank. For it
was determined that so long as ’Ali Kuli Khan and his.
brother should remain in the world, Jaunpur should be
the capital of the State. The royal forces were sent in
pursuit of the fugitives, with instructions to take no resu
until they had inflicted the punishment due to them:
‘When ’Ali Kuli Khan heard of this, he left the Siwalik
hills, whither he had fled, and came to the side of the
Ganges. Then he sent a faithful follower named Mirza
Mubarak Rizwi**® to Court with a message. This man
went along with the mother of Khanzaman to Khan-
khanan, and delivered his message. Khan-khanan, with:

36 He levied conlributions at Jaunpur, and afler-
wards at Benares.—Akbar-nama, vol. ii., p. 336.

**This is a Hindu practice, and Badouni says (vol.
ii., p- 84) the gold and other things werve given lo the
brahmians and others. ’

’-"”‘T/lfs was the lille he afterwards acquived. He
was at this time called Mirza Mirak.—Badauni, vol. ii.,

p. 84.
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the assistance of Mir ’Abdu-l Latil, Mulla ’Abdu-lla
Makhdumu-l Mulk, who was Shaikhbu-l Ieslam of Hind,
and Shaikh ‘Abdu-l Nabi the Sadr, again made inter-
cession for Khan-zaman; and the Emperor in his great
kindness, once more pardoned his offences.

Khwaja-jahan, Mir Murtaza Sharifi, and Makhdu-
mu-l Mulk were commanded to go to Khan-zaman, to re-
prove him, and to convey to him the glad tidings of his
forgiveness. When the party reached the camp of Khan-
zaman, he came forth to mcect them, and conducted them
with great honour to his dwelling. He detained them
some time, and trcated them most respectfully. Then
as required, he cxpressed contrition for his faults, took
an oath of fidelity, and bade his visitors farewell. The
Emperor’s opponents having repented of their unrighte-
ous deeds, and made their submission, he returned to
the capital in the beginning of the eleventh year of the
reign, corresponding with 973 H,

ELEVENTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this year corresponded  with
Monday, 20th Sha’ban, 978 H. (12th March, 1566). The
Court reached the capital Agra at the beginning of this
year, on Friday, the 8th Ramazan., Afier a few aays’ rest
and pleasure, the Emperor visited Nagar-chin, a fine
building which he had founded. (His pleasure in the
game of chaugan; game played at night with fire-balls.
Death of Muhammad Yusuf Khgpn /;lka Kokaltash of
the Emperor, from excessive d-rinkz'ng).. ,

MARCH OF MAHDI KASIM KHAN T0O CGARHA, AND FLIGHT oOP
ASAF KHAN TO KHAN‘ZAM:\:\'

The Emperor's mind being now relieved [rom alt
anxiety in respect of 'Ali Kuli Khay and other rebels,
Mahdi Kasim Khan, one of the olq nobles of the Im-
perial house, was sent with 3,000 oy 4000 men to Garha
to scttle the affairs of that country, and to capture Asat
Khan. Beforc Mahdi Kasim Khan arrived, Asaf Khan
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quitted the fort of Chauragarh, and went ofl into the
jungles. He wrote a letter, [ull of humility and repent-
ance, to the Emperor, asking permission to go on the
pilgrimage. Mahdi Kasim Khan, on arriving in Garha,
secured all the country, and went in pursuit of Asaf
Khan, who then wrote letters to Khan-zaman, proposing
to go and join him. Khan-zaman, wrote in reply, invit-
ing him to come to him. Asaf Khan, deceived by this,
went to Jaunpur, along with his brother Wazir Khan;
but at the very first audience he beheld the arrogance of
Khan-zaman, and was sorry that he had come. Mahdi
Kasim Khan, being in despair of capluring the fugitive,
returned to Garha, and he sent back to Court the men
who had been despatched to reinforce him.
Khan-zaman sent Asaf Khan along with Bahadur
Khan to seize upon some territories which were in the
hands of the Afghans; but he kecpt Wazir Khan near
himsclf, and appointed men to watch him. Wazir Khan
sent a person to Asaf Khan to say, ‘I intend to fly from
this place at such and such a time: do you also in some
way or other get away from Bahadur Khan.”  Asaf
Khan accordingly, leaving all his baggage and property
behind, went off in the night, and took the road to
Karra-Manikpur. In the course of the night he travelled
thirty kos, but Bahadur Khan pursued him, and over-
took him between Jaunpur and Manikpur. A fight en-
sued, in which Asaf Khan was defeated and taken pri-
soner. Bahadur Khan threw him into a howda on an
clephant, and went on his way, when Wazir Khan, who
had got away from Khan-zaman, camec up.  Bahadur
Khan, feeling that he was unable to cope with Wazir
Khan, gave orders for putting Asal Khan to death at
once In the howda. Sword-cuts were aimed at Asaf
Khan, three of his fingers were cut off, and he received
a wound also in (he nose; but Wazir Khan fought his
way through, and rescued his brother. The two brothers
then went to Karra, and Bahadur Khan returned with-
out accomplishing his object. Wazir Khan proceeded to
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Court, and, through the intcrvention of Muzaffar Khan,
he was admitted to an audience, and reccived pardon
for his own and his brother’s offences, while His Majes-
ty was near Lahore, engaged in the puwrsuit of Mirza
Muhammad Hakim and in hunting as will Le related in
their appropriate place. A farman ol favour and concili-
ation was sent to Asal Khan.

MIRZA SULAIMAN'S FOURTH ATTEMPT UPON KARBUL

It has been related in a former page how Mira
Sulaiman led his army against Kabul, and how the Im-
perial  forces were sent (o the assistance of Mirza
Muhammad Hakim. Mirza  Sulaiman, wunable to
resist, retreated to  Badaukhshan, and the Imperial
nobles, having twken leave of Mirza Muhammad
Hakim, vreturned to Hindustan.,  Sulaiman being
now informed of the return of the Emperor’s
forces, assembled his army in Badakhshan, and marched
with his wile Khurram Begam to effect the conquest of
Kabul. Mirza Muhammad Hakim Jeft Kabul in charge
of Ma’§um Koka, who was in his confidence, and had a
reputation for courage. He himself went with Khwaja
Hasan Nakshabandi and the army into the valley of the
Ghorband. Mirza Sulaiman advanced to Kabul, and in-
vested the fortress.  When hLe found lllllt‘ hc’\\'as not
likely to capture it, he took coupgel and sent his wile
Khurrnlq Begam into Ghorband tO,Mirz'l Muhammad
Hakim, 1n order to delude him with SllO‘W of kindness
and f)'icqclsl)ip, and to prevail oyey him by plausible re-
presentations.  Khurram Begam accordingly left Mirza
Sulaiman before Kabul, and weng to\\"lras Ghorband
She sent forward some persons tq assurct Mirza Muhnm:
mad Hakim ol her great affection for him, that having
N0 son of her own, she looked upon him as her son. and
that the great ol?]cct of her journcy was to bring about
concord and unity. =
Mirza Muhammad Hakim, jj consequence of this
mcessage, determined to have a nceting with Khurram
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Begam at Karabagh. which is about ten kos [rom Kabul;:
and he sent messengers to her to inform her of his inten-
tion, and to receive from her satisfactory assurances.
Khurram Begam showed great joy at the prospect of a
mceting, and aflirmed with strong oaths that she had no
deccitful or treacherous designs, and that her sole object
was unanimity. The messengers listencd to these words.
and returned. They had not gonc [lar, when that
stupid®®® woman sent oft messengers in hot haste to
Mirza Sulaiman, informing him of the intended mect-
ing at Karabagh, and advising him to come there secret-
ly with all speed and await his opportunity. Mirza
Sulaiman left Muhammad Kuli Shaghali, a man of
courage and onc of his confidential nobles, with 1,000
men in charge of his daughters, who were with him in
his camp at Kabul. With the rest of the army he made
a forced ‘march to the neighbourhood of K'u'lbqrrh, and
there took post in ambush

The messengers sent by Mirza Muhammad Hakim
to Khurram Begam returncd to him, and reported all
her assurances and pledges. They strongly urged him to
mcet her, and Khwaja Hasan Nakshabandi cxerted his
influence to the same end. Buc Baki Kakshal was oppo-
sed to the Mirza’s going, and said th¢ woman was in-
tent upon some stratagem and deception.  Mirza:
Mubammad Hakim, however, having promised to meet
Khurram Begam, would not listen to Baki Kakshal's
objections, and proceeded with a few trusty followers
towards Karabagh. When they rcached the appointed
place, somc of Mirza Sulaiman’s soldiers, who had got
separated in the night, came in and made known the
fact of Mirza Sulaiman having come, and of his lying
in concealment. As soon as he was informed of this.
Mirza Muhammad Hakim returned, and Sulaiman.
being informed of his departure, set off in pursuic. In
the pass of Sanjad-darra they overtook some of Mirza

269akis-akl, hardly an appropriate epilhet.
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Muhammad Hakim's men and made them prisoners.
They also plundered the Mirza’s baggage, etc., which
was in the rear, and they stopped in the pass. The Mirza
himsell, along with Muhhamad Hakim, reached Ghor-
band. From thence they went to Jalalabad, and after-
wards to the banks of the Indus.

As soon as he crossed the river, the Mirza wrote a
letter to the Emperor, and sent it by his envoys. They
reached the Court at the time it was at Nagar-chin, and
were honoured with an interview.  They presented the
Mirza's letter, in which he set forth the unfortunate state
of affairs. Intelligence of the distractions at Kabul had
reached the Court before their arrival, and the Emperor
had appointed Faridun Khan, maternal uncle of the
Mirza, and a noblc of the Imperial Court, to go to his
assistance. He now sent Khus-khabr Khan, onc of the
royal heralds, with moncey, goods of Hindustan, and a
horse and saddle, to the Mirza; and he wrote a farman,
in which he said that if the Mirza required assistance, he
would send the amirs of the Panjab to support him.

When Khus-khabr Khan approached the camp, the
Mirza hastened out with due ceremony and respect Lo
receive the farman. Aflter the arrival of Khush-khabr
Khan, Faridun laboured to instigate the Mirza to hostile
attempts, representing that it would be easy [or him tor
cffect the conquest of Lahore. Hostilitics having be.cn'
resolved upon, he tricd to persuade the Mirza to seize
Khush-khabr Khan. But although the Mirza had Dbeen
led away by his foolish persuations, he was too hopour-
able to consent to the detention of Khush-khabr Khan;
so he invited the Khan to his presence secretly, and sent
him away. Sultan 'Ali. a derk who had fled from tl'w'
Court ;{nd Hasan Khan, brother of Shahabu-d din
Ahma’d Khan, who was in l%abul,. helped to exite the
hostile spirit, and added their voices to .I‘arldun’s.. o

Won over by their persuasions, the Mirza broke in g
open revolt, and marched against Lahore. Upon coming
into the neighbourhood of the city, he began to plunder.
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Some of the nobles of the Panjab, such as Mir Muham-
mad Khani Kalan,*° Kutbu-d din Muhammad Khan,
and Sharif Muhammad, hearing of these proceedings,
asscmbled in Lahore. They looked to the safety of the
fort, and wrote an account of the Miiza’s rebellion and
hostile acts to thc Emperor. On arriving near Lahore,
the Mirza encamped in the garden of Mahdi Kasim
Khan, which is in sight of the city. Several times he
-marshalled his forces, and advanced to the foot of the
fortifications; but the amirs of the Panjab rcpulsed him
with the fire of their guns and muskets. At length, when
‘intelligence came of the advance of the royal forces, the
Mirza feeling unable to offer resistance, took to flight.

MARCIH OF THF ARMY TO LAHORE

When  the hostile proccedings of Mirza Muhammad
Hakim became known to the Emperor, his countenance
showed the anger which he felt and he gave orders for
the preparation of the army. Leaving Mun’im Khan
Khan-Khanan, in charge of Agra, the capital, and Muza-
flar Khan in direction of the diwani, on the 3rd
Jumada-l awwal, 974 H. he began his march. In ten
«ays he reached Dehli, and went to visit the shrines of
the saints who there repose, and bestowed his royal
bounty on the poor and ncedy. From thence he pro-
.cceded by regular marches to Sirhind, e was greatly
pleased with the bazars of this town, and commended
Hafiz Rakhna, who was the shikkdar, and placed the
sarkardari of that place in his charge. After crossing the
Jumna, he received intelligence of the flight of Mirza
Muhammad Hakim, but he went on joyfully to Lahore.
U.p(-m approaching the city, the great amairs, who had ex-
hibited their loyalty and devotion, came forth (o meet

A all the Atha amirs,’ ie.. all the relations
ef Shamsu-d din Muhammad Atha—Badauni, vol, i., p.
91 The Khan-i Ralan was elder brother of Shamsu-d
din.
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him, and received distinguished marks of royal favour.
In the month of Rajab he arrived at Lahore, the daru-s-
saltanat, and took up his abode in the house of Mahdi
Kasim Khan, in the citadel. By command of His Majes-
ty, Kutbu-d din Muhammuad Kban, and Kamal Khan
Gakhar went in pursuit of Mirza Muhammad Hakim,
and advanced beyond the pargana of Bahra. There
they learnt that the Mirza had crossed the Indus, so they
returned.

When Mirza Muhammad Hakim heard that Mirza
Sulaiman had gonc back to Badakhshan, he made haste
to Kabul. It has been rclated in a former page how.
Mirza Sulaiman left his datghters in his camp at Kabul,
and went off in hastc to scize upon Mirza Muhammad.
Hakim at Karabagh. Next day Muhammad Ma’sum
Koka, whom Mirza Muhammad Hakim had left in com-
mand at Kabul, sent out a force to attack the besicgers’
camp, and defeated them. Muhammad Kuli Shaghali,
who was in command, gave up his baggage to plunder.
and went off with the daughters of Mirza Sulaiman to
Chahar-diwar Bagh, a place in the vicinity, and therc
entrenched himself. The Kabul forces surrounded the:
placc, and sought to make him zpnd Mirza Sulaiman’s.
daughters their prisoners; but Ma'sum Koka, consider-
ing it unseemly to make prisoners of the ladies, recalled
his men. Mirza Sulaiman returned unsuccessful from:
Kambagh, and zlgain laid Siege to Kabul, but Ma'sum
Koka had grown bold and daring, Every day he sent
out partics of men, and sorely (youpled the besiegers.
The weather grew very cold, so Mirza Sulaiman became
desirous of peace. Ma’sum Koka was aware of his dis-
tress, and was anxious to fight, so ;¢ would not make
peace. Finally, Mirza Sulaiman gep¢ in Kazi Khan
Badakhshi, who had been tutor of WNa'sum Koka, and:
prevailed upon him to send the Mirza’s small present.
Peace was thus made. The Mirza fiyst sen¢ on his wife,
and then followed her to Badakhshan.

When the Imperial Court arrjived at Lucknow,.
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many of the zamindars of the couniry came in to pay
their allegiance, and were graciously received.  Those
who were unable to come themselves sent their repre-
sentatives with presents and . offerings, and their assur-
ances  of loyalty. Among them, Muhammad Baki
Tarkhan, son of Mirza ’Isa, ruler of Sindh, sent his am-
bassadors to Court, to say that his [ather, who had bcen
one of the dependents of the Imperial throne, was dead,
and that he, the successor, considered himself among the
vassals of the Emperor. Sultan Mahmud, the governor
(wali) of the fort, supported by the Kazilbashis of Kanda-
har, was making attacks upon his taritorics, and he
therefore besought the Emperor to prevent these molest-
ations.  In compliancc with this application, the
Emperor sent a farman to Sultan Mahmud, directing
him to keep within his own boundaries, and not to at-
tack the territories of Mahammad Baki.

During the stay at Lahore, a letter arrivtd from
Agra, from Mu'nim Khan Khan-khanan, with the intel.
Jdigence that the sons of Muhammad Sultan Mirza and
Ulugh Mirza, by name Ibrahim Husain Mirza, Muham-
mad Husain Mirza, and Shah Mirza who held jagirs in
.the sarkar of Sambal, had broken out in rebellion. And
when he, Khan-khanan, had marched as far as Dehli to
punish them, they had heard of his approach and had
gone off towards Mandu. This Muhammad Sultan
Mirza was son of Wis Mirza, son of Mankara Mirza, son
of Mansur, son of Mankara, son of ‘Umar Shaikh, son
of Amir Timur Gurgan Sahib-kiran. His mother was a
daughter of Sultan Husain Mirza.  After the death of
Sultan Husain Mirza, he came to the Court of the Em-
peror Babar, and was honourably reccived. The
Emperor Humayun also treated him with consideration
during the days of his rcign. His sons, Ulugh Mirza and
Shah Mirza, were also in the service of Humayun. These
men had several times been guilty of rebellious actions,
and their offences had been forgiven. Ulugh Beg was
‘killed in -an-aitack upon the Hazara country, and Shah
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Mirza was killed by the arrows of robbers in the pass of
Ma’mura, about ten parasangs [rom Kabul. Ulugh Beg
lelt two sons, Sultan Muhammad Mirza and Sikandar
Mirza. His Majesty (Humayun) treated them kindly,
and to Sikandar Mirza he gave the title of Ulugh Mirza,
and to Sultan Mubhammad Mirza the title of Shah Mirza.
When the Empcror Akbar succeeded to the throne,
Muhammad Sultan Mirza had grown old, so he was ex-
cused service, and the pargane of 'Azampur, in Sambal,
was settled upon him for his maintenance. Scveral sons
were borne to him in his old age-—Ibrahim Husain
Mirza, Muhammad Husain Mirza, and °’Akil Husain
Mirza. To cvery one of these the Emperor gave suitable
jagirs, and advanced them to the dignity of amirs. They
were constantly in attendance upon His Majesty, ren-
dering their services. When the Empceror returned from
his Jaunpur campaign, they repaired to their jagirs, and
remained in Sambal.  But when His Majesty went to
Lahore, to rcpress the attempt of Mirza Muhammad
Hakim, Ulugh Mirza and Shah Mirza, in concert with
their uncles Ibrahim Husain and Mirza Mubammad
Husain, broke out into rebellion, and attacked several
parganas. But the jagirdars of the neighbourhood
gathered together and attacked them, so that they had
to Hy to Malwa, as will be related in the scquel.
TWELFTH YEAR OF THE REIGN

The beginning of this  ycar c01-1~espox1dc{d with
Monday, 2nd  Ramazan, 974 I‘I.. (12th Teb., 1567). At
the beginning of this year, which was near t_he Naurcn)_z;
His Majesty determined to go out for a I\’am.m:gha-‘
hunt, An order was issucd to all the great amurs for
forty miles round Lahore to drive the animals together

into a large plain, situated about five kos from Lahore.
Accordingly the amirs, under the direction of Mir
2 Kamurgha, @ anki‘ word for a great ‘b.a’v“‘:_. o
which the game is driven inlo a centre by a Ig;g" cre
of beaters— Akbar-nama,’ vol. ii., pp. 554, #21.

)

n
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Muhammad Atka, drove together about fifteen thousand
animals, deer, nil gaos, jackals, foxcs, ctc., into (hat
plain. The extent of this hunting ground was five kos
on cvery side, and the Emperor’s tent (kasar), which he
used in his campaigns, was brought here and set up. The
Emperor then mounted, and went out to hunt. The
amirs and the khans daily drew their lines closer, and
narrowed the circle. 'When several days had passed in
this sport, His Majesty graciously gave his attendants
permissi‘on to shoot, and afterwards made the permission
gencral, so that there was no soldier or any person who
did not get several kinds of game. After the sport was
over, the Emperor returncd towards the city, and on
reaching the river of Lahore, he plunged into the water
on horseback and swam over. Of the attendants
who followed His Majesty, Khush-khabr Khan, Yasawal,
and Mir Muhammad, son of Sher Muhammad Kurdar,
were drowned. While the hunt was going on, Hamid
Bakri, one of the most [avoured equerries (yasawal),
having drunk too much, had wounded one of the Em-
peror’s attendants with an arrow. This person found
an opportunity in the course of the hunting to complain
to the Emperor, who ordered Kalij Khan to strike off the
offender’s head. Kalij Khan used a sword, which broke
with the blow, without doing the culprit any harm.
When the Emperor saw this, he respited him, but had
him exposed to public derision.

About this time Muzaffar Khan, who had been left
in charge of the diwani at Agra, proceeded to the camp
of the Emperor, along with Wazir Khan, brother of Asaf
Khan, and joined it while he was out on the hunting
excursion. The author’s father, who had remained be-
hind at Agra on government business, accompanied
Muzaflar Khan on this journey, and I, the author of this
work, went along with my father. In fine, the Empcrdf
forgave the offences of Asaf Khan and Wazir Khan and
admitted the latter to an audience. A command was
given that Asal Khan, along with Majnun Khan Kak-
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shal, should go o Karra-Maunikpur, and provide for the
safety of the dependent territories.

intelligence  now arrived that Ali Kuli  Khan,
Bahadur Khan, and Sikandar Khan had again broken
their engagements, and risen in rebellion.*** Hereupon
the Emperor placed their wakil Mirza Mirak Rizwi in
custody of Khan Baki Khan, and leaving the direction
of the affairs ol the Panjab in the charge of Mir Muham-
mad Khan and all the Atkas, on the 12th Ramazan,
974 H. (22nd March, 1567), he started on his return to
Agra.

When the Emperor arrived at Thanesar, there was
an assemblage of Jogis and Sannyasis on the banks of a
lake called Kurkhet. This is a sacred place of the brah-
mans, and on occasion of eclipses the people of Hindus-
tan flock thither from all parts to bathe. There was a
great assemblage there on this occasion, and the people
were bestowing their gilts of gold and silver, and jewels
and stuffs, upon the bralimans. Many of then threw
themselves into the water, and the Jogis and Sannyasis*™
were gathering a rich harvest from their charity. In con-
scquence of a feud which existed begween these two sects,
they came to the Emperor, seeking permission to settle it
by fighting. The Sannyasis were between two and three
hundred in number, and the Jogis, who wear only rags,
were over five hundred.  When the adversaries stood
ready to begin the fray, by the Emperor’s order, some
soldiers smeared their persons with ashes, and went to
support the Sannyasis, who were the weaker party. A
fierce fight ensucd, and many were killed. The Emperor

22T hey had caused the ‘khuipg lo be read in the
name of Mirza Muhammad Hakin, <4},
i., p. 359.
~ *"Abu-l Fazl says the iwo sects were called “‘Gurs
and Puris’’ (‘Akbar-nama,’ vol. ij,, p. 361y; and he also
speaks of the pleasure that Akbar derived from wilness-
ing the fight. ‘

bar-nama’, vol.

11
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greatly enjoyed the sight. At length the Jogies were de-
teated, and the Sannyasis were the victors.

When ihe Imperial camp reached Dehli, Mirza Mirak
Rizwi, who had been left in the charge of Khan Baki
Khan, made his escape, and although thc Khan pursued
him, he did not succeed in recapturing him, and so,
being apprehensive of the Emperor’s displcasure, he him-
self fled. Tatar Khan, the governor of Dehli, reported
that Muhammad Amin Diwana,?’* who had fled from
Lahore, had gone to the house of Shahab Khan Turko-
man, where he stayed some days, and alter obtaining
_from him pecuniary assistance and a horse, had gone off
to join the insurgents. This greatly incensed the Em-
peror, and he directed Shah Fakhru-d din Meshhedi to
apprehended Shahab Khan. When the Emperor was cn-
camped at the village of Palwal,?>™® Shahab Khan was
brought in for punishment, and was there executed.

Upon arriving at Agra, the Emperor was informed
that Khanzaman was besu.gmg ‘the fort of Shergarh,
four kos distant from Kanauj, in which fort Mirza Yusuf
Khan was shut up. Nineteen days alter his arrival at
Agra, the Emperor left Kban-khanan in charge of the
city, and on Monday, the 23rd Shawwal, 974 H., march-
ed towards Jaunpur. When he’reached the pargana of
Saket, ’Ali Kuli Khan decamped from before Shergarh,
and fled to his brother Bahadur Khan, who was in
Manikpur. The royal camp was next pitched near the
town of Bhojpur and the Emperor detached Muhammad
Kuli Khan Birlas, Muzaffar Khan, Raja Todar Mal,
Shah Bidagh Khan and his son 'Abdu-] Matlab Hasan
Khan, 'Adil Muhammad, Khwaja Ghiyasud din 'Ali

*"'He had made an atlempl upon the life of one of
ihe Imperial generals and was condemned to death; but
his punishment was commuled for the bastinado and im-
prisonment. He received the cor;bmal punishment, and
.escaped next day.—‘Akbar-nama,’ vol. ii., p. 358,

275Half way between Dehli and Mutlra.
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Bakhshi, and  other oflicers, with ncarly 6,000 horse,
against Sikandar, who was in Oudh. He himself con-
tinued his march towards Manikpur.

When he reached the pargana of Rai Bareilly, he
Icarnt that 'Ali Kuli Khan and Bahadur Khan had cros-
sed the Ganges with the object of proceeding towards
Kalpi.*™¢ He then directed his camp to proceed under
the command of Khwaja Jahan to the fort of Karra, and
then marched with all possible speed to the ferry of
Manikpur.®”’ There he crossed the river upon the back
of an clephant, and {rom 1,000 to 1,500 men swam thc
river along with him. Majnun Khan and Asaf Khan,
who were in advance, constantly sent back intelligence
of the enemy. It so happened that “Ali Kuli Khan and
Bahadur Khan had occupicd themselves all that night
in wine-drinking and licentiousness and were heedless of
cverything else. The warlike demonstrations against them
they attributed to the daring of Majnun Khan, and
would not believe that the Emperor was near at hand.

On Sunday, the 1st Zil hijja, the Emperor made his
«lispositions for action.  He himsclf took command of
the centre. Asaf Khan and all the Atkas®™ were on the
right; Majnun Khan and other amirs were on the left.
This day His Majesty rode an elephant called Balsundar
and Mirza Koka, who bore the title of Azam Khan, was
scated in the howda with him. The encmy, being now
fully aware of the Emperor’s advance, prepared them-
selves for death. They drew out iheir forces, and sent a
body of men to opposc the advanced guard of the

. .s - (¥
216The ‘Akbarnama’ (Fol. ii., p. 366) says “Guwa-
2
217 There had been heavy vrains; the counlry was
flooded, and the river much swollen.—‘Akbar-nama,

vol. ii., p. 366.° ) . L
218 he word ‘‘Atkas’ is taken from Badauni (vol.

ii., p. 96). The name used in the MSS. of the *Tabakat’
is doubiful.

lior.
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Empcror.*™ Baba Khan Kakshal, who commanded the
advance, repulsed them and drove them back upon the
lines of *Ali Kuli Khan. In the confusion, the horse of
onc of the fugitives ran against the horse of *Ali Kuli
Khan, and the Khan's turban fell ofl. Bahadur Khan
saw this, and his spirit being roused, he made a bold
charge upon the advanced guard under Baba Khan, and
drove it back upon the ranks of Majnun Khan. Bahadur
Khan in the pursuit came between these two forces. He
fought manfully, but his horse, being wounded by an
arrow, became unmanagecable, and he was thrown to the.
ground and made prisoner.

At the battle grew hot, the Emperor alighted [rom
his elephant and mounted a horse. Then he gave orders.
for the elcphants to be driven against the lines of "Ali
Kuli Khan. There was among them an elephant named
Hiranand, and when he approached the ranks of the
cnemy, they let loose against him an clephant called
Diyana; but Hiranand gave himn such a butt, that he
fell upon the spot. ‘Ali Kuli Khan received a wound
from an arrow, and while he was engaged in drawing it
out, another arrow struck his horse. The animal became-
restive, and ’Ali Kuli Khan also was thrown. An elc-
phant named Narsing now came up, and was about to
crush him, when *Ali Kuli Khan cried out to the driver,
“I am a great man; if you.take mc alive to the Emperor,
he will reward you.” The driver paid no heed to his
words, but drove the animal over him and crushed hinr
under foot. When the field was cleared of the encmy,
Nazar Bahadur placed Bahadur Khan behind him on a
horse, and conducted him to the presence of the Em-
peror. By the efforts of the amirs he was put to death.
After a little while, the head of ’Ali Kuli Kban-zaman

20niy 500 men and 590 elephants had managed to
keep wp with the Emperor. The rest followed and took
part in the fight as they arrived.—‘Akbar-nama,’ vol. ii.,
P. 368.
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avas also brought.?s® The Emperor then alighted [rom
his horse, and returned thanks for this victory.  This
bhattle was fought at the village of Mankarwal, one of
the dependencies of  Josi and Payag, now Kknown as
1llahabas, on Monday, the st Zi-l hijja, 974 H. -

While the Emperor was on his campaign against
Khan-zaman, the author’s father remained at Agra, in
ithe performance of his duty to the Emperor, and the
author himself was at Agra with him. Every day turbu-
lent and designing men spread disastrous news. One day
I said to onc of my companions, ‘*Suppose we set some
favourable reports afloat?” and he asked what we should
say, and 1 replied, “Let us say that news has come that
they are bringing in the heads of Khan-zaman and
Bahadur Khan.”” I told this story to several persons.
Three days afterwards ’Abdu-lla, son of Murad Beg,
brought in the heads of Khan-zaman and Bahadur Khan.
The rumour was started in Agra on the very day they
averc slain.2st

When the Emperor’s mind was relieved [rom all ap-
prehensions about his adversaries, he procecded to Josi
and Pavag, and there rested two days.  Somc persons,
-who had deserted the royal army (o join "Ali Kuli Khan,
werc here brought in, and were handed over to keepers.
He then proceeded to Benares.2s2 Every follower of ’Ali

*M0Hus deatlh being doubled, q yeward was offered
for cvery head. IHis head was thep brought in and vre-
cognized.—'Akbar-nama,’ vol. ii., p. 371

3SUAbu-l Fazl tells a similay story of lis faiher. He
says that wlile the Emperor was oy (his canpaign, the
ftopes of the disaffecied rose to () highest pitch, and
Muw nim Khan, who was in charge of the capilal, was
sorely troubled. In his perplexity, he consulted Shaikh
Mubarak, who predicted that the heads of the rebels
would be brought in.—‘Akbar-nama, wol. ii. p. 373.

*2The people of Benares had closed their gates, sa
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Kuli Khan who came forward and was submissive to the
Emperor’s power was pardoned. Irom Benarcs he went
to Jaunpur, and remained three days in sight ol that
city. Some of ’Ali Kuli Khan’s men, who had escaped
from the battle-dfield and fled to Jaunpur, were all for-
given and kindly treated. From thence he went, attended
by four or five persons, and, by rapid travelling, in the
course of three days, he rcached the Ganges, at the ferry
of Karra and Manikpur, where there was a camp. Cross-
ing the river in a boat, he went and rested in the fort-
ress. Then he wrote to Munim Khan Khan-khanan.
summoning him from Agra.

Several jagirdars of the Eastern province paid their
respects, and were dismissed with honour. Some men of
’Ali Kuli’s army, who were prisoners and always intent
upon creating a disturbance, such as Khan Kuli Uzbek,
Yar 'Ali and Mirza Beg Kakshal, pecople of Majnun ’Ali
Khan, Khushhal Beg one of the guards of the late Em-
peror Humayun, Mir Shah Badakhshi, and other mal-
contents, met with a terrible fate.?®® Mirza Mirak Rizwi
Meshhedi, the wvakil of *Ali Kuli Khan, who had fled
from Court to join the latter, was taken prisoner on the
day of Dbattle, and was ordered to be cast under the fecet
of an clephant. But the elephant merely rubbed him
with his trunk, and finally, in virtue of his being a
saiyid, his crime was forgiven. ’

Khan-khanan, who had been summoned from Agra,
now waited upon His Majesty, and was invested with

orders were given for plundering the city.—"Akbar-
nama,’ vol. ii., p. 373,

2”'1_“1'(_17711)1(:(1 to deatli by eiephants. ‘T. Alfi;
Badaun: informs us (vol. ii., . 100) that Kazi Tawaisi,
the Kazt of the Imperial camp, gave it as his opinion
that the execution of these prisoners and the seizure of
their property was unlawful. For this independent judg-
ment he was dismissed.
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the care and government of the jagirs of *Ali Kuli Khan
and Bahadur Khan in Jaunpur, Benares, Ghazipur, the
fort of Chunar and Zamaniya, as far as the ferry of
Chaunsa. He also reccived a present of a splendid robe,
and of a horse. In the midst of the rainy season, in Zi-
hijja, 974, the Emperor began his homeward march, and
in Muharram, 975, arrived at Agra.

It has been previously mentioned that Mubammad
Kuli Khan Birlas and Muzaffar Khan were sent with a
force against Sikandar, and went towards OQudh. On
hearing of their approach, Sikandar took refuge in a
fort.?** The royal forces came up and laid siegc to the
fort. Sikandar was already hard pressed, when the news
arrived of the destruction of 'Ali Kuli Khan and Baha-
dur Khan. This greatly disprited the Uzbeks, and they
sent men to Muhammad Kuli and Muzaffar Khan, o
treat for peacc. Having thus engaged the commanders in
negotiations, Sikandar. evacuated the fort by the gate to-
wards the river, and embarked in bLoats. As he had all
the boats, the Imperial generals were unable to cross the
river. Sikandar again sent a message to them, declaring
that he was quite ready to keep the engagement he had
made, but his men were suspicious. He therefore re-
quested that they would come out in a boat to the mid-
dle of the river, and he would meet them with two or
three persons and settle the terms. This would satisfy
his men, and they would procced together to Court.
Muhammad Kuli Khan Birlas, Muyzaffar Khan, and Raja
Todar Mal agreed to this proposition, and went out to
the middle of the strcam. Sikandar Khan, on thc other
side, came out with two or three persons, and had the
interview.?®> The amirs promised ¢ sue for the pardon

*1The fort of Oudh.—Badauni, vol. ii., p. 101.

2834bu-l Fazl places this conjerence after Sikandar’s
escape, and says that he demanded ()¢ restoration of his
‘jagir’ and offices, and acled in a vm-.v_ false and unworlhy
manner.—‘Akbarnama,” vol. ii., p. 377,
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of Sikandar, and swore that they would make no attack
on the lives or property of him or his men. Upon this
agreement, they separated, and cach party went to his
own side.

Sikandar then made two days’ march, and wrote to
the amirs, stating that the risc of the waters had prevent-
cd his staying on the banks of the river. On hearing of
his departure, the amirs went after him.  When they
rcached Gorakhpur, they discovered that he had crossed
the river and gone off. The country before them belong-
.ed to the Afghans, into which they could not enter with-
out the order of the Emperor. They wrote a statement
of the position to Court, and received an answer to the
.cffect, that as Sikandar had left the Imperial territory,
it was unnecessary to pursuc him. His cstates and jagirs
were given to Muhammad Kuli Khan Birlas. The amirs
on being acquainted with the contents of the letter, left
Muhammad Kuli Khan, and returned to Court.

CONQUEST OF THE FORT OF CHITORS®
Many :zamindars and rajas of Hindustan had De-
.come subjects of the Imperial throne. But Rana Udi
Singh, Raja of Marwar, confident in the strength of his
fortresses, and the number of his men and elephants, had
thrown off his allegiance. Now that the Emperor had
returned to the capital, with his mind at rest in respect
of ’Ali Kuli Khan and other rebels, he turned his atten-
tion towards the capture of Chitor. He accordingly
began to make preparations for the campaign. The
pargana of Bayana was taken from Haji Muhammad
Khan Sistani, and given in jagir to Asaf Khan, who was
ordered to proceed thither, and collect provisions and
materials for the army. The Emperor f{ollowed to the
town of Bari, with the avowed intention of hunting, and
there killed a thousand animals in sport. Then he order-
ed his army to be brought up, and proceceded onwards

2865ee ‘supra’
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to Mu-maidana. When he recached the fort of Supar,**7 he
found that, Licaring of his approach, the men who gar-
risoned that fort for Rai Surjan of Rantambhor, and
abandoned it and fled to Rantambhor. The fort was
placed in charge of Nazar Bahadur, one of the Tmperial
adherents. From thence he went on to Kota, one of the
parganas of that country, of which he made Shah
Muhammad Khan Kandahari the governor.  Next he
marched to Gagrun,*®® on the borders of Malwa.

Mirza Ulugh and Mirza Shah, sons of Muhammad
Sultan Mirza, had fled from Sambal, and had come into
these parts, where they had begun a revolt, which the
Emperor deemed it necessary to suppress. He therefore
appointed Shahabu-d din Abhmad Khan, Shah Bidagh
Khan, Muhammad Murad Khan, and Haji Muhammad
Sistani to jagirs in Mandu, and charged them -with that
«duty. When the amirs reached Ujjain, which is one of
the chief places in that country, they found that the Mir-
zas, on hcaring of the Emperor's approach, had assem-
bled together and fled to Gujarat, 1o Changiz Khan, the
ruler of that country, who had been one of the adherents
of Sultan Mahmud Gujarati. So the amirs obtained pos-
session of Mandu without opposition.

When the Emperor marched from Gaerun, Rara
Udi Singh left seven or eight tlousand melal to hold
‘Chitor, under the command of a Rajput named Jai Mal,
a valiant chief, who had fought against Mirza Sharafu-d
din Husain, in the fort of Mirtha, 35 before related., The
Rana himself, with all his relatives and dependents, took
vefuge in the hills and jungles.

The fort of Chitor is seated on 5 hill, which is about
one kos in height, and has no connexion with any other
hill.  The length of the fortress i three kos, and the

10y “Swi-Supar” —"Akbar-nama, wvol. ii, p. 381
“‘Sheopoor,”’ 120 miles S.W. of Agra.

'2%8Near the junction of the Ahy and Kali Sind in
Kola.
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width half a %os. It contains plenty of running water.
Under His Majesty’s orders, the ground round the fort
was portioned out among the different amirs.

The royal forces were ordered to plunder and lay
waste the country, and Asaf Khan was sent to Rampur,?**
a prosperous town of thec province. He attacked and
caprured the fort, and ravaged ail the neighbourhond.
Husain Kuli Khan was scnt with a detachment towards
Udipur and Kombalmir,**® which is onc of the chicf
fortresses in that country, and is the residence of the
Rana. He ravaged several towns and villages, but find-
;g no trace of the Rana, he returned to the Imperial
camp.

When the sieze of Chitor had been carried on some
time, the Emperor ordered the construction of sabals,
and the digging of mines. About 5,000 builders and car-
penters and stonemasons were collected, and began their
work of constructing sabals on two sides of the forts. A
sabat is a kind of wall which is begun at musket-shot
distance (from the fort), and under the shelter of its
planks strongly fastened together and covered with raw
hides, a kind of way (kucha) is conducted to thc fortress.
The walls are then battered from it with guns, and a
breach being made, the brave assailants rush into the
fort.  The sabat which was conducted from the royal
battery (morchal-i badshalhi) was so extensive that ten
horsemen abreast could ride along it, and it was so high
that pan clephant-rider with his spear in his hand could
pass under it.

While the sabat was in course of construction, the
garrison kept up such a fire of guns and muskets, that
more than 100 of the workmen and labourers employed

™ About fifty miles S.E. {rom Chilor. Asaf Khan .
had previously reduced the fort of Mandal (the “Mun-
dalowr”’ of Malcom’s map, ten miles S.E. of Gagrun?)—
‘Akbar-nama,” vol. ii., pp. 395, 396.

2007 Niirty-four miles N.W. of Udipur.
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in it were killed daily, although they covered themselves.
with shields of bull-hide. Corpses were used in the walls.
like bricks. In 2 short time, the sabat was completed,.
and carried close to the fort.

The miners also carried their mines to the foot of
the walls, and having constructed mines under two bas-
tions which were near together they filled them with
gunpowder. A party ol men of well-known bravery, fully
armed and accoutred, approached the bastions, ready to
rush incto the fort as soon as a breach was made by the
explosion of the mines. Fire was applied to both mines
at the same time, but the match of one was shorter than
the other. and that made the explosion firsc.  The bas-
tion was blown into the air, and a large breach was effec-
ted. The storming party ac once rushed to the breach,
and were about to cnter. when the second mine explod-
ed, and the bastion was blown up. Friends and foes,
who were contending in the breach. were hurled into
the air together, and thosc also on whom the stones fell
perished. It is notorious that stones of 200 mans were
carried to a distance of three or four kos from the walls,
and bodies of men who had been burnt were found.
Saiyid Jamalu-d din and . . . . and a great number of
the Emperor’s attendents, were slain, and ncarly 500
picked soldicrs were killed by blows from the stones. A
large number also of the infidels perished.

After this disaster, the pride and solicitude of !hc
Emperor became still more intene upon the reduction
of the fortress. A sabal which had been laid down 1n
the battery of Shuja’at Khan was now completed. Qn-
the night of Tuesday, 9hth Sha'ban, 975 H., the Impc%-ml
asscmbled from all sides, and the wall bcm;..r
breached, a grand struggle began.  Jai Mal, comman?f:‘l
of the [orlress. camc into the breach to cncom:agcl 13
men. The Emperor was seated in a gallery, which Lﬂt
been erected for him on the sabat, and he had a mus le
in his hand. The face of Jai Mal was dlSCCrnlb.]e bg tllc-
light which was cast upon the spot by the fire ol the

forces
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guns and muskets. The FEmperor took aim at hiny, and
so wounded him that he died upon the spot. The gar-
rison was dishcartened by the lall of their leader, ’1“_‘1
-cach man hurried to his own home. They collected their
wives and children, property and cffects, in one place, and
‘burnt them. This proceeding in the language of the
infidels of Hind, is called jauhor. The royal forces
were now massed, and they assaulted the Lreaches in
-several places. Many of the infidels rushed forward (o
defend them, and fought most valiandy. His Majesty,
~seated on the sabat, beheld the exertions of his men with
an approving cye. ’Adil  Muhammad Kandabari...and
-others cxhibited great valour and daring, and received
areat praise. All that night the fighting went on, but in
the morning, which was a glorious morning, the place
was subdued. 'The Emperor mounted on an clephant,
and, attended by his devoted followers on [loot, entered
the fortress. An order for a general massacre was issued,
and more than 8,000 Rajputs who were in the place re-
-ceived the reward of their deeds.®'  After noon the
slaughter was stayed, and the Emperor rcturned to his
camp. where he remained three days. Asal Khan was ap-
pointed to rule this country, and His Majesty started [or
the capital on Tuesday, the 25th Sha’ban.

A curious incident in this siege was this: A person
was sitting near the battery of the author of this book.
nnder the shelter of a ree, with his right hand placed
upon his knee.  As an opportunity presented itself, he
raised bis thumb, covered with the stall usually worn by
archers, and just at that moment a gun was fired [rom
the fortress, and the ball passed within the length of a
‘barley corn from his thuml, and did him no harm.

When the Emperor started to effect the conquest of

AUl Fazl states that the number of the slain
amounted 10 near si hazar (30.000);  bui perhaps ‘sin
hazar, 3000, is meant.—*Akbar-nama,’ vol. ii, p. 407,
See ‘supra’.
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Chitor, he vowed that if he were successful, he would.
make a pilgrimage to the tomb of Khwaja Mu'inu-d din
Chishti, which is ar Ajmir. In performance of this.
vow, he set off for Ajmir, and walked all the way on foot.
On Sunday, the 7th Ramazan, he reached Ajmir. He per-
formed all the observances of the pilgrimage, and made
the poor and needy glad with his alms and offerings.
He remained there ten davs, and then departed [or the
capital.

END OF PART ONE
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Additions And Correclions

Page 15, line 2. For “"Babakra” read “Baikra’’.

Page 25, last line. “Chinese House.”” Add note “*One
built of cnamelled ciles.”

Page 78. To note at foot of table add: ‘“The 14th
year began on the 24th Ramazan. The 15th on the 3rd
Shawwal. TFor date of Akbar’s death, scc Blockmann’s
Ain-t Akbari, vol. i, p. 212.7

Page 78. Notc 126. For Khalifa Hahi, rcad “Khali-
fatu-llah.”

Page 94, end of paragraph 2. For ‘‘Ghazals in mystic
Janguage,”” read  “‘Ghazals of Haliz, who is called
Lisanu-l Ghaib.

Page 111, note 199. Sistan, or Sijistan, makes its ad-

jective Sijizi, and although the text has Sanjari, there is
no doubt Sijizi is the right word.
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